JOBS WORKING PAPER Issue No. 47

Jobs Interventions for Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons

Kirsten Schuettler and Laura Caron



Jobs Interventions for Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons

Authors: Kirsten Schuettler and Laura Caron

The analysis was made possible through the financial support of the World Bank's Jobs Umbrella Multidonor Trust Fund (MDTF), which is supported by the Department for International Development/UK AID, the Governments of Norway, Germany, Austria, the Austrian Development Agency, Italy, and the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency.

FEDERAL MINISTRY OF FINANCE	UKAIC	Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development	NORWEGIAN MINISTRY OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS	🗼 Sida
Confédérat	zione Svizzera	R		
		wo Job	RLD BAN S	KGROUP

© 2020 International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank. 1818 H Street NW, Washington, DC 20433, USA. Telephone: 202-473-1000; Internet: www.worldbank.org.

Some rights reserved

This work is a product of the staff of The World Bank with external contributions. The findings, interpretations, and conclusions expressed in this work do not necessarily reflect the views of The World Bank, its Board of Executive Directors, or the governments they represent. The World Bank does not guarantee the accuracy of the data included in this work. The boundaries, colors, denominations, and other information shown on any map in this work do not imply any judgment on the part of The World Bank concerning the legal status of any territory or the endorsement or acceptance of such boundaries.

Nothing herein shall constitute or be considered to be a limitation upon or waiver of the privileges and immunities of The World Bank, all of which are specifically reserved.

Rights and Permissions



This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 IGO license (CC BY 3.0 IGO) http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/igo. Under the Creative Commons Attribution license, you are free to copy, distribute, transmit, and adapt this work, including for commercial purposes, under the following conditions:

Attribution—Please cite the work as follows: Kirsten Schuettler and Laura Caron. 2020. "Jobs Interventions for Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons." World Bank, Washington, DC. License: Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 3.0 IGO.

Translations—If you create a translation of this work, please add the following disclaimer along with the attribution: This translation was not created by The World Bank and should not be considered an official World Bank translation. The World Bank shall not be liable for any content or error in this translation.

Adaptations—If you create an adaptation of this work, please add the following disclaimer along with the attribution: This is an adaptation of an original work by The World Bank. Views and opinions expressed in the adaptation are the sole responsibility of the author or authors of the adaptation and are not endorsed by The World Bank.

Third-party content—The World Bank does not necessarily own each component of the content contained within the work. The World Bank therefore does not warrant that the use of any third-party-owned individual component or part contained in the work will not infringe on the rights of those third parties. The risk of claims resulting from such infringement rests solely with you. If you wish to re-use a component of the work, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that re-use and to obtain permission from the copyright owner. Examples of components can include, but are not limited to, tables, figures, or images.

All queries on rights and licenses should be addressed to World Bank Publications, The World Bank Group,1818 H Street NW, Washington, DC 20433, USA; fax: 202-522-2625; e-mail: pubrights@worldbank.org.

Images: © World Bank. Further permission required for reuse

Jobs Interventions for Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons

Kirsten Schuettler¹ and Laura Caron²

Abstract³

Refugees and internally displaced persons (IDPs) often struggle to integrate the labor market. Even where they have the unrestricted right to work their labor market outcomes lack behind those of other groups, at least in the short- to medium-term. This literature review brings together two strands of research to inform the design of successful job interventions in this context: the evidence on how forced displacement impacts those forcibly displaced in their economic lives and the existing knowledge on jobs interventions for refugees and IDPs. The specific challenges that those forcibly displaced face on the labor market are linked to the loss of assets and separation from family members; the lack of skills required on the host labor market; the impacts of forced displacement on their physical and mental health and their economic behavior (in terms of prospects and aspirations, risk-aversion and time horizon); their legal situation; a lack of social networks and discrimination as well as a high likelihood of excess supply on the labor market at destination. Rigorous quasi-experimental or experimental evidence on jobs interventions for this target group is scarce and mainly focused on high-income countries. A review of the existing literature points to the importance of conducting thorough assessments of the demand and supply side of the labor market, including the legal situation of those forcibly displaced and their perceptions and aspirations, before designing interventions. Making up for lost assets through cash injections seems particularly important, together with other interventions that tackle specific challenges that refugees and IDPs face. Changing when and how the right to work, residency status and freedom of movement are granted has important impacts on labor market outcomes. Intensive coaching and individualized assistance seem to help with matching. Even more so than other groups, those forcibly displaced face several constraints to access the labor market that call for combined interventions. More rigorous research is needed in the future, notably on low- and middle-income host countries. IDPs, demand side interventions and longer-term impacts.

JEL: D01; D19; E24; F22; F66; J08; J1; J2; J3; J4; J6; J7; J8; N3; O15; P46; R2

Keywords: Refugees, Internally Displaced Persons (IDPs), Forced Migration, Forced Displacement, Host Communities, Labor Markets, Wages, Employment, Unemployment, Livelihoods, Jobs, Jobs Interventions, Active Labor Market Policies.

¹ World Bank, <u>kschuettler@worldbank.org</u>.

² Georgetown University.

³ The paper is part of the World Bank's Knowledge Program for Jobs: From Jobs Analytics to Support for Jobs Operations and was made possible through the financial support of the World Bank's Jobs Umbrella Multidonor Trust Fund (MDTF), which is supported by the Department for International Development/UK AID, the Governments of Norway, Germany, Austria, the Austrian Development Agency, Italy, and the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency. It benefitted from the School of Foreign Service (SFS) Scholars Program at Georgetown University of which Laura Caron was a member from 2017-2019. The authors would like to thank Jo de Berry, Stephanie Deubler, Jan von der Goltz, Abla Safir, Abhishek Saurav, Domenico Tabasso, and Erwin Tiongson for helpful comments. All remaining errors are responsibility of the authors.

Table of Contents

1.	Introduction	. 1
2.	Specific challenges for the labor market integration of refugees and IDPs	. 3
	2.1. Financial capital: Loss of assets	. 6
	2.2 Human capital: Lack of skills and language proficiency	. 7
	2.3 Human capital: Psychological health and economic behavior	. 8
	2.4 Legal situation and discrimination	.10
	2.5 Lack of social networks, information on labor markets, and labor demand	.12
3.	Overview of literature on jobs interventions for refugees and IDPs	.14
	3.1 Methodology	.14
	3.2 Description of the literature	.15
4.	Results of evaluations of jobs interventions for refugees and IDPs	.22
	4.1. Financial capital interventions	.22
	4.1.1. Repeated cash transfers, vouchers, and in-kind transfers	.22
	4.1.2 One-off transfers and complementary interventions	.24
	4.2. Human capital investments	.26
	4.2.1 Vocational, business and other skills training and recognition of skills	.26
	4.2.2 Language training	.29
	4.2.3 Mental healthcare and psychosocial support	.30
	4.3 Changing the legal framework for refugees and informing about their rights	.31
	4.4 Job search assistance or matching programs and coaching	.33
	4.5 Subsidized employment	.35
	4.5.1 Wage subsidies in the private sector	.35
	4.5.2 Cash for work, labor-intensive public works and other subsidized public sector employment.	.36
	4.6 Assuring access to markets: Value chains, making markets work for the poor, and market-based livelihood interventions	38
5	Conclusions, gaps and ways forward	
	eferences	
	nnex: List of papers on evaluations of employment interventions in the context of forced displacemen	

1. Introduction

Having a job allows individuals to obtain an income and meet their needs and the needs of their dependents, offering a pathway out of poverty. Even more than that, it also gives a sense of purpose and allows one to feel part of the community and contribute to it. This is also true for those forcibly displaced by conflict, violence, persecution and human rights violations. Currently, there are 70.8 million forcibly displaced people worldwide, of which 41.3 million are internally displaced, 25.9 million are refugees (including 5.5. million Palestinian refugees), and 3.5 million asylum seekers (UNHCR 2019). Many are in protracted displacement situations, which have lasted more than five years. Accessing the labor market allows them to become self-reliant, re-build their lives, integrate into the host communities and contribute to the economy.

Evidence, however, shows that refugees and internally displaced persons (IDPs) face specific challenges to integrate into the labor market. Even where they have the unrestricted right to work, their labor market outcomes lag behind those of other groups. Given the long-term nature of many displacement situations and a policy shift from humanitarian to development interventions in situations of forced displacement, the number of jobs interventions, notably for refugees, has recently increased. It is important that new interventions be designed considering the existing evidence and lessons learnt from previous interventions. Moreover, to understand how impacts of interventions might differ in the context of forced displacement as opposed to other contexts and which specific challenges these interventions must tackle, we need to understand how refugees and IDPs might differ from the host population and other migrants.

Against this background, this literature review aims to bring together the evidence on how forced displacement impacts the economic lives of those forcibly displaced with the existing knowledge on jobs interventions for refugees and IDPs. The key questions we seek to answer are:

- What are specific challenges that refugees and IDPs face on the labor market compared to the host population and other migrants? In how far do these challenges differ between refugees and IDPs?
- What impacts do different types of interventions have in the context of forced displacement? What do we know about what works and what doesn't?
- How are these impacts different in non-forced displacement settings? How are refugees and IDPs different as a target group?
- How can interventions be tweaked to increase the positive impacts?
- What are knowledge gaps that need to be filled?

We aim to present an overview of the specific jobs-related challenges faced by those forcibly displaced and then systematically review the existing studies of interventions which aim to address these challenges. We focus on quantitative experimental and quasi-experimental studies and triangulate them with existing qualitative studies to build a richer understanding of impact. Gray literature was included to broaden the evidence base.

The literature on the impacts of jobs interventions in the context of forced displacement is scarce, notably in terms of high-quality quantitative evidence. The majority of the literature is qualitative. The quantitative literature is often limited to descriptive post or pre-post evaluations. Few studies use counterfactuals. Randomized control trials (RCTs) exist but are rare. The quality of the existing evidence also varies between the different types of jobs interventions. As we do not have enough rigorous evidence for many types of interventions to credibly demonstrate impacts, we present first emerging lessons, factors that need to be taken into account as well as ideas, hypotheses and interventions that might be useful to test in the future.

The literature review aims to focus on low- and middle income countries (LMIC), where 85 percent of refugees and 72 percent of IDPs live (UNHCR 2019).⁴ However, even if most refugees and IDPs live in low- and middle-income countries, much of the existing literature, notably the more rigorous evaluations, is on high-income countries. We include this research on high-income countries but supplement the findings with descriptive and qualitative work from low- and middle-income countries that suggests if and how the results might translate to a context with a different economic situation and labor market structures. We also frame the results with what we know about the impacts of each type of intervention in LMICs in general and in fragility, conflict and violence situations more particularly.

This review focuses on those forcibly displaced due to conflict, violence, persecution and human rights violations.⁵ The literature on labor market interventions for migrants in general is richer (see reviews by Bilgili 2015; Butschek and Walter 2014). Sometimes, refugees are part of the target group looked at in these studies, but often they are not clearly acknowledged as a separate group. We include these studies in particular if they look at groups of migrants that might have comparable challenges to integrate the labor market. The focus of the literature clearly is on those moving internationally; studies on jobs interventions for those internally displaced make up less than a fifth of the studies included in this review.

We use a broad definition of jobs as any income source, formal or informal, including employment and self-employment (World Bank 2012). Notably in low-income countries but also in middle-income countries self-employment is an important source of income. In low-income settings it is useful to think about jobs as a "portfolio of work" as people obtain income from several activities simultaneously or over time (Blattman and Ralston 2015). We classify jobs interventions by type of support provided. We focus on direct jobs interventions which aim at immediate job outcomes as well as policy interventions specific to refugees and IDPs, but do not include other macro-economic and private sector development interventions on the demand side which aim to create jobs in general (like improvements in the business and investment climate).

Although reviews on similar topics exist, they have not adequately addressed the issues of interventions focusing on labor market integration of those forcibly displaced in low- and middle-income contexts. Some reviews look at migrants in general and focus only on OECD countries, without considering how the findings might translate to low- and middle income settings (Ö. Bilgili 2015; Butschek and Walter 2014). The reviews that focus on refugees look broader beyond labor market integration at many types of integration measures (Shaw and Funk 2019), focus on only one type of intervention, like microfinance (Easton-Calabria and Omata 2016), or are limited to interventions by humanitarians (Fratzke and Jacobsen 2016). Other reviews focus on resettled refugees only (Ott 2013; Ott and Montgomery 2013) but none also includes IDPs. The reviews also do not link the results to the literature on specific obstacles for refugees and IDPs that these interventions need to tackle.

The literature on the impacts of forced displacement on those forcibly displaced is nascent but growing. While the reviews by Kondylis and Mueller (2014) and Ruiz and Vargas-Silva (2013) were only able to cover few papers, the more recent review by Becker and Ferrara (2019) builds on a larger number of papers. They do, however, not link the results to labor market integration and jobs interventions. As with the literature on jobs interventions, the literature on the impacts of forced displacement on those forcibly displaced has mainly focused on refugees. With the exception of Colombia, there is a lack of research on IDPs. The literature is limited by data availability, as even in high income contexts data allowing to

⁴ The definition of developing countries is based on the United Nations Statistics Division Classification.

⁵ We use the terms forcibly displaced persons and forced migrants interchangeably.

differentiate between immigrants by entry category are scarce and it is usually impossible to obtain data on individuals before displacement (Bevelander 2016).⁶

The paper is organized as follows. The next section provides background on the impacts of forced displacement on those forcibly displaced and the specific challenges they face integrating into the labor market. This is followed by an overview of the literature on jobs interventions in the context of forced displacement in section 3. Sections 4 summarize the results for the different types of interventions. Section 5 concludes by summarizing results, pointing to gaps in the literature that need to be closed, and distilling first policy recommendations.

2. Specific challenges for the labor market integration of refugees and IDPs

Rigorous studies on high-income host countries consistently show that labor market outcomes of refugees lag behind locals and economic migrants. Even if results vary between different host countries and groups of forced migrants, studies using survey, census or register data consistently show that refugees have lower employment rates than locals and take longer to integrate into the labor market than economic migrants. Their income also lags behind. The gap remains, even if different individual characteristics between refugees, locals and economic migrants (like mental and physical health, lower level of education and language skills, gender and age) are accounted for. Female refugees have particularly low employment rates. Refugee employment rates and wages also vary by country of origin and destination. Over time, however, refugees can manage to close the employment gap and might even perform better than economic migrants after six to ten years, as found by a multitude of studies for host countries in Europe and the US.⁷ Norway and Denmark are the only countries where results based on longitudinal registry data point in the opposite direction, as they find that after five to ten years social insurance dependency begins rising and employment rates declining again (Bratsberg et al. 2014; 2017 and Schultz-Nielsen 2017).8 Studies show that historic examples of forced displacement in Europe also led to consistent differences between those forcibly displaced and the local population over time. The only exception are those who left the agricultural sector after their displacement for whom studies have found more favorable labor market outcomes compared to those non-displaced (Bauer, Braun, and Kvasnicka 2013; Sarvimäki, Uusitalo, and Jäntti 2009).

Descriptive statistics from representative cross-sectional surveys among refugees in low- and middle-income countries appear to support the patterns found in high-income settings. In Uganda, 54 percent of refugees report aid as their main source of income. In Kampala, 74 percent depend on remittances as their main source of income. Even if the legal and policy framework is very conducive in Uganda, 3 out of 4 refugees are unemployed, twice the rate of hosts. The unemployment rate for those who have been in the country for over 5 years, however, is over 20 percent lower than for those who

⁶ A promising approach to overcome this gap has been to link social security records with migration registry data (e.g. Spadarotto et al. 2014 for Switzerland).

⁷ Dustmann et al. 2017 for EU with 2008 European Labour Force Survey (EULFS) data; Fasani, Frattini, and Minale 2018 for EU with 2008 and 2014 EULFS data; Baum, Lööf, and Stephan 2018 and Åslund, Forslund, and Liljeberg 2017 for Sweden; Bakker, Dagevos, and Engbersen 2017 for the Netherlands; Lens, Marx, and Vujić 2019 for Belgium; Sarvimäki 2017 for Finland; Spadarotto et al. 2014 for Switzerland; Connor 2010; Cortes 2004; Evans and Fitzgerald 2017 for the US; Aydemir 2011 for Canada; Ruiz and Vargas-Silva 2018 for the UK; Anders, Burgess, and Portes 2018 for East African Asians in the UK.

⁸ Until we have further studies based on longitudinal registry data it is unclear if this difference in results is due to the higher quality of the data available for Norway and Denmark or due to imminent differences between the host countries in terms of refugee characteristics and labor market structure.

arrived more recently (Mejia-Mantilla et al. 2019).⁹ In Ethiopia, aid is the major source of livelihood for over 80 percent of refugees after displacement, compared to less than 10 percent before their displacement, and only 22 percent of working-age refugees are employed (Pape, Petrini, and Iqbal 2018). Refugee women have even lower labor force participation and employment rates than refugee men in Kalobei refugee camp in Kenya (World Bank and UNHCR 2020). In Jordan, Lebanon and Turkey, large employment and wage gaps exist as well between refugees and hosts, which are even larger for refugee women (Kabir and Klugman 2019). The refugees that work are more likely to be active in the informal labor market than their host counterparts in countries like Jordan and Lebanon (Fallah, Krafft, and Wahba 2019; Srour and Chaaban 2017).

Evidence on IDPs also shows a negative association between forced displacement, employment rates and wages. Using propensity score matching, Gimenez-Nadal, Molina, and Silva-Quintero (2019) find that internally displaced persons in Colombia are faced with a significant decrease in wages, compared to those who moved due to reasons other than violence (10-29 percent for male, and 18-37 percent for female workers, depending on the matching method used). Ibáñez and Moya (2007) provide descriptive statistics showing that the rate of unemployment of those internally displaced in Colombia increases from 1.7 percent in the places of origin to 53 percent in the first three months in the places of destination and is still around 16 percent a year after displacement, greater than for the extreme poor urban population. The labor income per adult declines to less than half of the previous income. In Georgia, compared to local residents IDPs are less likely to be in the labor force and more likely to be unemployed and receive lower wages, many years after their displacement (Torosyan, Pignatti, and Obrizan 2018). A survey covering nine countries of the former Soviet Union and Yugoslavia and including a small number of IDP households in the sample, suggests worse labor market outcomes for IDPs compared to the rest of the population (Ivlevs and Veliziotis 2018; Torosyan, Pignatti, and Obrizan 2018).

The worse labor market outcomes reflect specific obstacles that refugees and IDPs face compared to local workers but also economic migrants. Overall, the existing evidence for high-income as well as low- and middle-income countries clearly shows that refugees and IDPs struggle more than other groups to integrate into the labor market and are faced with worse labor market outcomes, at least in the short- to medium- term.¹⁰ These outcomes reflect specific challenges that refugees and IDPs face compared to hosts and economic migrants (see Table 1 for a summary). Like economic migrants, forced migrants need to adjust to a different labor market, for example, if they moved internally from rural to urban areas and even more so if they crossed borders, which makes them face additional challenges compared to hosts. However, even if the lines between economic migration and forced displacement can be blurred at times, forced migrants typically do face additional challenges compared to economic migrants. These challenges are linked to selection effects, impacts of the displacement experience itself and the conditions at destination (Ibáñez 2014). As violence is the major determinant of the decision to leave, forced migrants

⁹ More analysis is needed to understand if the lower unemployment rate is the result of a better integration into the labor market over time or stems from different characteristics of the newly arrived refugees from South Sudan compared to earlier refugee cohorts mainly from the Democratic Republic of Congo. Refugees might also become discouraged workers over time.

¹⁰ A handful of studies look at the situation of those forcibly displaced after they return to their origin communities. Given the scarcity of literature on low- and middle-income host countries, these studies could help shed some light on the situation of the displaced in such countries during displacement. They do, however, add another layer of selection and issues of reintegration, lack of recovery of assets, and loss of home country specific human and social capital. While a study on Rwanda finds that returnees have higher returns to on-farm labor, likely due to higher motivation (Kondylis 2008), studies on displacement in Burundi, Sudan, Uganda and Bosnia show that returnees are worse off compared to those who stayed (Verwimp and Muñoz-Mora 2018; Fransen, Ruiz, and Vargas-Silva 2017; Abdel-Rahim, Jaimovich, and Ylönen 2018; Fiala 2015; Kondylis 2010). Some studies do show, however, that those forcibly displaced might have gained human capital and adopted beneficial new habits while abroad (Fransen, Vargas-Silva, and Siegel 2018; Abdel-Rahim, Jaimovich, and Ylönen 2018).

	Constraint	Why it binds more for those forcibly displaced
Affects hosts as well, albeit less strongly	Lack of skills Lack of labor demand	 Do not choose destination primarily based on need for their skills and are less economically selected than economic migrants Disruption of education and work experience and long periods of inactivity through conflict and displacement Qualifications often not recognized at destination, often cannot take certificates with them Do not choose destination primarily based on available labor market opportunities Are often not allowed to move to and settle where economic opportunities are Tend to move together in large groups, suddenly increasing labor cumply.
Affects economic	Lack of language proficiency	 labor supply Have less time to prepare and start learning the language before departure
migrants as well, albeit less strongly	Lack of social networks and information on labor markets	 Decision on where to go is more driven by violence as a push factor than by networks as a pull factor Lack of freedom to choose where to move and settle might isolate them from social networks Lack information on labor markets at destination
	Uncertain or short time horizon	 Often stay in intermediate destinations before secondary movement or resettlement Uncertainty about recognition of status and duration of residence permit Might expect unexpected changes to happen again anytime
	Legal challenges and discrimination	 Often do not have the right to work or move freely Restrictions on ability to own property, open a business, and access financial services
Affects mainly those forcibly displaced	Lack of assets	 Have to leave assets behind and usually cannot access them anymore; have to deplete assets to make up for income loss and to finance movements Higher dependency ratios due to separation from or loss of family income earners; higher likelihood of female-headed households
	Lower levels of health; Higher prevalence of depression and PTSD	 Refugees tend to have lower levels of health than hosts and economic migrants due to selection effects and experiences before and during displacement Experience of violence, traumatic experiences during displacement and post-migration stressors
	Risk aversion	 Negative effects of violence and forced displacement experience on risk appetite

Table 1: Summary table of constraints for the labor market integration of refugees and IDPs

are less economically selected than economic migrants. Their first move is less likely to be the result of an economic cost-benefit analysis and might aim to minimize losses rather than to maximize income. They are thus more likely to face skills mismatches and lack of labor demand at destination. On average, forced migrants had less time to prepare for their move, learn skills needed at destination, and take certificates with them. They often face the loss of physical assets and human capital. The forced displacement experience is likely to have impacts on their physical and mental health and economic behavior. The legal situation of forced migrants at destination differs from economic migrants. The choice of their destination is more likely to be based on safety than economic reasoning. They usually move in groups of people, often arriving at destination together with many others, but they are still less likely to have an established social network at arrival.

The importance of different types of obstacles depends on the context and needs to be understood and addressed by job interventions. The obstacles for labor market integration vary between different groups of forced migrants. They depend on the context in the host country as well as the situation in the origin country and the causes of the displacement. They might also change with length of displacement and differ between groups of forced migrants in the same host country, varying by age, gender, skill-level, and country of origin. The remainder of this chapter will look closer at the specific challenges that have an impact on the labor market integration of forced migrants and that need to be understood and addressed when designing jobs interventions in the context of forced displacement: the loss of assets, the lack of skills and language proficiency, psychological health and economic behavior, the legal situation and discrimination, as well as lack of social networks, information on the labor market and labor demand.

2.1. Financial capital: Loss of assets

Due to conflict and violence or the displacement itself, those forcibly displaced are often confronted with the loss of assets, which may hamper their economic activities. A number of studies for low- and middle-income countries show a negative association between forced displacement and the level of household assets. Running different regressions, Ibanez and Moya (2007) show that even if the extent of asset loss varies, IDP households in Colombia are mostly left with an insufficient asset base to escape poverty and stay on a low-level economic trajectory through time. Using cross-sectional data from northern Uganda, Fiala (2009) finds an association between internal displacement and a decrease in the value of assets, with the exception of those households that had little or no assets before being forced to move. A representative survey among refugees living in camps in Ethiopia finds that, while over 60% of refugees had agricultural land, productive assets, and livestock before displacement, after displacement only around 20 percent had productive assets and livestock, the quantity held declined, and even fewer had access to land (Pape, Petrini, and Iqbal 2018). In Uganda only 15 percent of refugee households own agricultural land (compared to 73 percent of hosts) and 11 percent of refugee households own livestock (compared to 38 percent of the hosts) (Mejia-Mantilla et al. 2019). Due to Uganda's policy, however, over half of the refugees have access to agricultural land (compared to around 80 percent of the hosts), mostly through use rights. Interventions need to consider that households are likely to need transfers of assets or capital to allow them to successfully develop productive activities and re-accumulate assets. This includes access to land for farmers, which (besides the financial capital to buy or lease land) requires the availability of land that can be purchased or used.

Negative effects of physical asset loss are reinforced if households are separated from family members during displacement or face the death of a breadwinner. In Ethiopia, more than a quarter of refugees report having been separated from their household members due to displacement, mostly because they stayed behind in the country of origin (Pape, Petrini, and Iqbal 2018). Dependency ratios are higher on average among refugees in Kalobeyei camp in Kenya (1.9), compared to Kenya as a whole (0.8), Turkana county, where the camp is located (1.18), and the dependency rates in the refugees'

countries of origin, suggesting a larger economic burden for refugee working age adults (World Bank and UNHCR 2020).¹¹ A much higher percentage of households are female-headed (66 percent), differing substantially from the 42 percent of households nationally in Kenya, and 52 percent in Turkana County, notably due to refugee households from South Sudan. In Uganda over half of the refugee households are female-headed, compared to less than a third of host community households (Meija-Mantilla et al. 2019).¹² Women might also participate in the labor market for the first time after displacement, because of the loss of assets or the inability of the male breadwinner to assure sufficient income for the household. For example, the probability of entering the labor force rose significantly from 8 percent to 54 percent and from 12 percent to 47 percent for female Syrian refugees aged between 15-24 years and 24-34 years, respectively, after arriving in Lebanon (World Bank 2013).¹³ Besides taking general gender-relevant aspects into account, like gender-barriers to access certain jobs or social norms that make it difficult for women to leave the house, jobs interventions need to adapt to a potentially increased number of femaleheaded households and higher dependency ratios (e.g. through including childcare in the interventions). The loss of assets and the inability of adults in the household to gain sufficient income can also lead to negative coping strategies like child labor (Habib 2019; DRC 2016; UNHCR 2018b; UNICEF and IDMC 2019).

2.2 Human capital: Lack of skills and language proficiency

Forced migrants often lack the skills or qualifications required on the new labor market. Compared to economic migrants, forced migrants usually have less choice over their destination, which means that they more often face a mismatch between the skills they have and those that are needed in the labor market. One example are agricultural workers being internally displaced to urban areas. Pape et al. (2019) show that IDP households whose primary source of livelihood was own-account agriculture before displacement face greater challenges finding livelihoods in the largely urban camps in Somalia, South Sudan and Sudan. Refugees and IDPs are also often forced to change occupation after their displacement. More than two-thirds of IDPs surveyed in Iraq reported working in a different sector after their displacement (Al-Shami et al. 2019). Half of refugees that are economically active reported changing occupations since they arrived in Uganda (Mejia-Mantilla et al. 2019). This is corroborated by qualitative research, for example among refugees from Central African Republic in Cameroon (Barbelet 2017). Obtaining the new skills needed is likely to be easier for younger than for older refugees and IDPs. Acquisition of education and skills as well as work experience are likely to have been disrupted through conflict and forced displacement. In Colombia, for example, Wharton and Uwaifo Oyelere (2011) find significant education accumulation and enrollment gaps for IDP children and youth compared to other migrants and non-migrants. The formal or informal qualifications of those displaced are often not recognized at their destination, especially if they cross borders. Refugees surveyed in Uganda, for example, mentioned the lack of evidence of education and experience as the second most important obstacle for finding a job (18 percent) (Vemuru et al. 2016). In general, the returns to education obtained in the host country might be different from those obtained abroad.

¹¹ Dependency ratios are lowest for Sudanese refugees which arrived over a decade ago and highest for South Sudanese refugees, which arrived in the last five years. Panel data would be needed to understand if and how dependency ratios change over time.

¹² The numbers are, however, very similar to those of the host community for households that arrived more than 5 years ago (Mejia-Mantilla et al. 2019). Due to the cross-sectional nature of the data, it is unclear if this means that family members reunite over time or earlier cohorts were less separated during displacement. As for the dependency ratios panel data would be needed.

¹³ Before the conflict in Syria, female labor participation rates in Syria were among the lowest in the region and worldwide.

Long periods of forced inactivity have a toll on human capital. In many settings, those forcibly displaced have low labor force participation rates and have to mainly rely on aid, social welfare or remittances, often for a long period of time. Over 95% of the working-age refugees in Ethiopia who did not participate in the labor force in the last 7 days did not undertake any economic activity for over a year (Pape et al. 2019). Longer periods of economic inactivity or unemployment diminish human capital, discourage workers, and make it more difficult to find employment due to negative signaling to employers and limited information about available jobs. Jobs interventions need to address the consequences of these scarring effects of unemployment and beneficiaries not being used to work anymore.

Forced migrants may also not speak the language of the host community and may thus have difficulties finding employment or earning high wages. A lack of language skills may decrease the types of jobs those forcibly displaced can do and also be a barrier to the formation of social networks in the host country that would aid with finding employment (discussed further below). The importance of language as a constraint will likely depend on the skills-level and sector. The existing literature on the linkages between language proficiency and labor market outcomes is mainly focused on high-income countries. An exception is Kayaoglu and Erdogan (2019), who find that Syrian refugees with better Turkish language proficiency have a higher likelihood of being employed. Refugees surveyed in Uganda, identified language as the main obstacle to access employment (19 percent) (Vemuru et al. 2016). In the UK, Cebulla et al. find that refugees with stronger host-country language skills were more likely to be employed or to gain employment over the course of the study (Cebulla et al. 2010). Similarly, in an econometric evaluation of a random-assignment refugee placement program in Switzerland, Auer finds that, controlling for other observable characteristics, refugees placed in areas (cantons) with languages most similar to their own were more likely to find employment (Auer 2018). Also for Switzerland, Slotwinski and Uhlig (2019) show that the greater the language distance between the country of origin and the canton asylum seekers were assigned to, the lower the positive impact of an open labor market access policy on asylum seekers' employment rate. Ruiz and Vargas-Silva (2018) also find that language proficiency, along with mental health, explains part of the differences in employment rates between natives/non-refugee migrants and refugees in the UK. The findings of a positive relationship between language proficiency and labor market outcomes are corroborated by the literature on migrants in OECD countries in general (Chiswick and Miller 2007; Chiswick 2009; Dustmann and Fabbri 2003).

2.3 Human capital: Psychological health and economic behavior

A nascent literature shows how violence and forced displacement have an impact on psychological health and economic behavior, which in turn impacts labor market outcomes. Data on refugees in high-income countries shows, that they are more likely to have lower levels of health than economic migrants (Giuntella et al. 2018; Chin and Cortes 2015). The experience of forced displacement is likely to also impact the psychological health and change the economic behavior of forced migrants. The existing research on this issue is still nascent but suggests that these factors may play an important role in shaping the labor market outcomes of those forcibly displaced. Before jobs interventions are designed which target forced migrants, these changes in mental health and economic behavior need to be analyzed and intervention designs be adapted accordingly.

Refugees and IDPs are more likely than the host population to suffer from poor mental health.

Refugees and IDPs who experienced violence, lost relatives and friends or had to leave them behind, or otherwise went through traumatic experiences during their flight to safety, are likely to suffer from the psychological effects, including depression, anxiety, and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). Post-migration stressors like encampment, stay in asylum group accommodations, insecurity about legal status

and income, forced idleness due to the inability to integrate the labor market as well as social isolation also have an impact on their mental health. Studies vary greatly in the levels of incidence and prevalence of symptoms they report, due likely to context as well as different measures and methods used (see the literature reviews and meta-analyses by Hollifield et al. 2002; Porter and Haslam 2005; Steel et al. 2009; Bogic, Njoku, and Priebe 2015). A study on Malian refugees in a camp in Burkina Faso, for example, found that 60 percent met the criteria for PTSD (Carta et al. 2013). Similarly for IDPs, a household survey in El Salvador oversampling those internally displaced due to violence found that 70 percent were suffering from emotional and psychological consequences, due to direct family members being victims of violence, the loss of assets and separation from family members (Ministerio de Justicia y Seguridad Pública 2018). Analyzing 20 surveys from seven Western countries, Fazel, Wheeler, and Danesh (2005) find that resettled refugees could be about ten times more likely to have PTSD compared to the local population.

Poor mental health might prevent refugees and IDPs from working and successfully participating in jobs interventions. Stress and trauma have negative impacts on cognitive and socio-emotional functioning (McEwen and Sapolsky 1995). Mental health issues might add to potential physical health issues incurred through forced displacement and have a negative impact on the labor force participation of forced migrants.¹⁴ There might also be a vicious circle, with mental health issues preventing refugees and IDPs from participating in the labor market, which then exacerbates their mental health issues. Mental health issues might also make it difficult for them to successfully participate in jobs interventions, but we did not find any literature exploring this link. An exception is ongoing work by Moya, Duryea, and González-Velosa (2018) who find strong patterns of association between the symptoms of trauma, skill deficiencies, labor market outcomes and performance in a job-training program among young IDPs in Colombia.

The experience of violence and forced displacement might also lead to a negative outlook on life and lower hope and aspirations, which can have a negative impact on the economic activities undertaken and create a vicious cycle. Controlling for current level of wellbeing and the loss of assets, Moya and Carter (2019) find that internally displaced households in Colombia who had been exposed to more severe forms of violence have lower perceived prospects of upward mobility relative to the mean of sampled IDPs. In addition, discrimination and stereotypes in the host country can lead to expectancy effects and self-fulfilling prophecies (Bertrand and Duflo 2016). Qualitative work with young refugees in Kampala, Uganda, for example, suggested linkages between discrimination, low self-worth and low educational attainment and labor market participation (Stark et al. 2015).

In line with creating more negative expectations about the future, the experience of conflict has an impact on risk-aversion, which in turn impacts the level of economic risks that people are ready to take (Moya 2018; Jakiela and Ozier 2018; Voors et al. 2012; Callen et al. 2014). The impacts seem to be different if someone was directly exposed to violence or not, and if they were forced to leave or not, and might change over time (Ibáñez and Moya 2016). Moya (2018) finds that internally displaced persons in Colombia who had been exposed to more severe forms of violence are more risk-averse. Forced migrants might also be selected based on their risk-attitude. Using panel data from Nigeria, Ceriani and Verme (2018) show that those risk averse have a higher preference for fleeing while those that are more risk-tolerant have a preference for staying. On the other hand, an experimental study with asylum seekers in Luxembourg finds that they are significantly less risk-averse compared to non-migrant groups in other countries (Bocquého et al. 2018). They seem to have characteristics closer to economic migrants, which tend to be less risk-averse. This can be explained with selection effects given the high risks of a flight

¹⁴ For refugees in the UK and the Netherlands: Ruiz and Vargas-Silva 2018; De Vroome and Van Tubergen 2010; for mental health impacts on labor force participation generally: S. Banerjee, Chatterji, and Lahiri 2017; Savoca and Rosenheck 2000; Ettner, Frank, and Kessler 2016; Frijters, Johnston, and Shields 2014.

from Syria or Iraq to Europe. Lower hopes and aspirations as well as higher risk aversion can have particularly negative impacts on entrepreneurship, as entrepreneurs should ideally be self-confident, have higher risk appetite, and rebound quickly after failures (Levine and Rubinstein 2017).

On the other hand, those forcibly displaced might also have a high determination to rebuild their lives, but evidence is missing. People who have lost everything can also be even more determined to rebuild their lives with determination and resilience. Parents may put a lot of pressure on their children to succeed in order to make up for what has been lost. We have not found any literature on this aspect but the increase of education among youth might point in this direction (see last paragraph of this section).

The time horizon of forced migrants will influence their willingness to make host-country specific investments. Compared to economic migrants, the time horizon of forced migrants can be (i) longer if they do not think that they will be able to return or be resettled elsewhere; (ii) uncertain if they are waiting for resettlement, preparing another form of secondary movement, or waiting for the processing of their asylum application, if they plan on returning, or their residence permit is temporary and will be withdrawn once the conflict is over; or (iii) shorter because based on their experiences they expect unexpected changes to happen again in the future. Depending on the situation and their time horizon, they might be less willing or more willing to make investments in terms of language, other skills and assets that are specific to their new location. Qualitative evidence from Colombia, for example, shows that a group of internally displaced persons who received new plots of land did not invest in the land and only grew subsistence crops, out of fear of being displaced again (Matijasevic et al. 2007 via Ibáñez and Moya 2007). In Burundi, the experience of violence also seems to lead to a higher discount rate of future earnings (Voors et al. 2012). In Uganda, refugees planning to go back to their country of origin seem less interested in looking for jobs in Uganda (Loiacono and Vargas 2019). For refugees who are resettled in the US, Cortes (2004) finds that they are more willing to make country-specific skills investments, because they have a longer time horizon compared to economic migrants, who plan to return to their country of origin. Dustmann et al. (2017) note that the pay-off period for these investments plays a role, and if permanent status is only granted after a long period of uncertainty, these specific investments may not be optimal anymore.

Forced migrants might also take the portability of an asset into consideration when thinking about an investment (Brenner and Kiefer 1981 via Becker and Ferrara 2019). They might, for example, prefer investments in human capital to investments in physical capital, and make sure that their human capital is transferrable (e.g. studying engineering instead of law). Supporting this, Becker et al. (2018) found that three generations later, Polish people whose family had been forcibly displaced after World War II, had on average one more year of schooling. Survey results confirm a shift in their investment preferences from material assets to mobile human capital. Similarly, results from a survey in nine countries of the former Soviet Union and Yugoslavia suggest that those aged 18-34 who have been affected by conflict (displaced and non-displaced) are more willing to obtain further education and training (Ivlevs and Veliziotis 2018).

2.4 Legal situation and discrimination

A complex set of laws and regulations influences labor market access of refugees. As citizens, IDPs are usually not confronted with these legal challenges, but there are exceptions.¹⁵ A growing number of studies study the effects of these laws and regulations in high-income countries by exploiting changes in these laws and regulations and finds that they have sizable impacts on labor market outcomes (see section

¹⁵ One example is Azerbaijan, where legal restrictions to the employment, accommodation and schooling of IDPs continue to exist (World Bank 2017).

4.3). The existing literature for low- and middle-income countries is mainly descriptive. Two new indices are currently being developed to codify existing obstacles in low- and middle income countries.¹⁶ The causal impact of these legal limitations on the actual labor market access of refugees in low- and middle-income countries and their importance compared to other factors mentioned in the sections above still needs to be studied. Future research will be able to exploit changes in legislation in Jordan, Ethiopia, and Colombia to broaden our understanding.

Even if the 1951 Refugee Convention grants refugees the right to work, be it as employees, selfemployed or in liberal professions, the right to work of refugees is often limited, with obstacles not only existing de jure but also de facto. Of the 145 countries that have signed the 1951 Refugee Convention, nearly half declare reservations, often in full, to these Articles. Only 75 signatory countries formally grant the right through accession to Articles 17-19 or through domestic employment laws but may impose conditions or reservations to this right (Zetter and Ruaudel 2016). The same limitations apply to many of the 48 states that are not parties to the Convention, including many major refugee host countries. Some countries completely legally ban refugees from working, be it as an employee or starting a business. Many countries that in principle allow refugees to work place restrictions on their right to work.¹⁷ They, for example, limit the sectors and geographical areas in which refugees can work, or the number of refugees who can be employed by a certain firm, and require them to have a local partner when setting up a business. Refugees also often must first apply for a work permit. Even if refugees are de jure allowed to work, de facto processes to obtain work permits and register a business are often confusing and costs can be exorbitantly high. If work permits are only temporary, procedures to obtain the work permits are cumbersome for employers and employers need to prove there is no local, equally qualified person for the job they might be less inclined to hire refugees.

Besides the right to work per se, access to protection is a key factor. How, when, and if refugees can access protection and how temporary or permanent their refugee status is, is a key determinant of their ability to obtain the right to work and integrate into the labor market (Zetter, Ruaudel, and Schuettler 2017). In some countries, the number of undocumented refugees is much higher than the number of registered refugees, and these nonregistered refugees do not have the right to work. In other countries, asylum seekers may have to wait for certain periods before they can work, if at all, while their asylum claim is being processed. In OECD countries, the wait time before asylum seekers can enter the labor market varies between zero and twelve months (OECD 2016a, 22). In some cases, their legal status is not stable, even after they have obtained protection, which might deter employers from hiring them.

Restrictions on the freedom of movement limits refugee access to employment in another way, by preventing them from moving to where the economic opportunities are. Refugees are often not allowed to choose freely where to settle in the host country, and placed in geographically remote areas with few economic opportunities, which adds to their difficulties to integrate the labor market. A study collecting data on IDPs in camps and outside of camps in Nigeria and Somalia also found that IDP camps are further away from markets and services (Pape et al. 2019). Worldwide, over a third of refugees still live in camps (UNHCR 2019), even if there is a trend towards liberalization of movement in low- and middle-income countries (Blair, Grossman, and Weinstein 2020). A number of OECD countries, notably in Europe, have implemented settlement policies for refugees based on criteria like housing availability

¹⁶ The dataset by Blair, Grossman and Weinstein (2020) covers de jure asylum and refugee policies in over 90 developing countries and includes the ability to work and own property as well as the ease of entrance and security of status, and encampment policies. A so-called <u>Refugee Opportunity Index</u> is currently being developed by the Refugee Investment Network and the Economist Intelligence Unit. It will built on 45 sub-indices targeting three broad policy and market segments: (1) Refugee admissions, integration, and resettlement policy; (2) Basic rights and access to services, and (3) Employment conditions.

¹⁷ For examples see 20 country case studies in Zetter and Ruaudel 2016, Part II.

and geographical dispersal instead of labor market opportunities (OECD 2016a, Tables 3a and 3b). In Turkey, for example, non-Syrian refugees are assigned to live in one of 62 cities, a list which excludes the first-tier cities Istanbul, Ankara and Izmir (Leghtas and Hollingsworth 2017). Even if not formally de jure in place, encampment policies or other geographical restrictions on the place of residence are de facto in place if access to services and assistance is restricted to a certain place of residence. Where economic opportunities exist, if there are restrictions on travel or if police and military checks deter refugees from moving around, they might also not be able to commute to work. Movement restrictions also limit self-employment and entrepreneurship, making it for example difficult and more expensive to access inputs and goods, as a market assessment in Dadaab refugee camp in Kenya showed (UNHCR and ILO 2019). Refugees are often unable to leave the country on work-related travel and return. Restrictions on the place of residence and travel also limit contacts with networks that could facilitate access to employment.

In many countries, refugees are also faced with restrictions on their ability to own property, open a business or a bank account, and access other financial services like insurance and loans. These restrictions affect their ability to work or start their own business. If their legal status is uncertain, or their rights are curtailed, this will also determine what kind of investments they will make.

Forced migrants also struggle with lack of information on their rights and are faced with

discrimination. Employers are not always aware that they can hire refugees. When asked if refugees in Uganda were allowed to move freely or to work, Loiacono and Silva Vargas (2019), for example, find that only 21 and 23 percent of employers surveyed gave the right answer. In focus group discussions with Congolese refugees in Rwanda they named employers' lack of knowledge of refugees' right to work as a major obstacle to their labor market integration (Bilgili and Loschmann 2018). Employers might also discriminate against refugees due to other reasons, including prejudices and stereotypes. In Uganda, refugees earn around 40 percent less than hosts, even after controlling for observable characteristics (Mejia-Mantilla et al. 2019). Conducting lab in the field experiments with a small sample of refugee jobs seekers and local firms in Uganda, Loiacono and Silva Vargas (2019) find evidence of discrimination. Discrimination against Colombian refugees in Ecuador hinders their ability to find employment, housing, and education (White 2011). Quantitative and qualitative work in Australia has pointed out that, for refugees from the former Yugoslavia, Africa, and the Middle East, there appears to be significant discrimination experienced by individuals in labor markets (Colic-Peisker and Tilbury 2007). If refugees are legally not allowed to work, they are even more prone to discrimination, harassment and exploitation in the workplace (Zetter and Ruaudel 2016). As evidence for Colombia shows, discrimination against internally displaced persons might also exist (Ibáñez and Moya 2007).

2.5 Lack of social networks, information on labor markets, and labor demand

Social networks within the host community are important to integrate the labor market and can help forced migrants overcome information asymmetries. Refugees and IDPs often lack social networks in their place of destination. Social networks are, however, important to find jobs, including for those forcibly displaced. Studies focused on refugees in OECD countries show that social networks are positively correlated with the odds of employment and occupational status (for the Netherlands De Vroome and Van Tubergen 2010; for the UK Cheung and Phillimore 2014). This is corroborated by qualitative and descriptive evidence from low- and middle-income countries (Nichols and Jacobsen 2012a; 2012b; Loiacono and Vargas 2019; Barbelet 2017). There is a broader literature on the effects of social networks for international migrants in general (Patel and Vella 2013; Colussi 2015; Munshi 2003), but the limited access to networks is likely to be more constraining for forced migrants, as their decision on where to go is more driven by violence as a push factor than by networks as a pull factor. Social networks can inform about job openings or directly refer forced migrants to their employers. They can also provide important information about what is required by employers. Like other migrants, forced

migrants often lack information of how labor markets work at destination. When asking firms in Uganda what they usually ask job seekers to bring along when they apply for jobs, Loiacono, and Silva Vargas (2019) find that 67 percent of the firms sampled request an introductory letter produced by the local council (which they use to assess a job-seeker's trustworthiness when they are not connected to them), but only 4 percent of refugees bring such a letter with them when applying for jobs. The lack of social networks not only makes it more difficult to overcome information asymmetries on the labor market, but also leads to a lack of informal risk-sharing mechanisms in the host country. Networks are also crucial for setting up a business, obtain market information, capital and clients.

Social networks with host communities can, however, be difficult to establish for forced migrants.

Social networks with the host community may be particularly hard to form for forced migrants who do not speak the language of the host community. Cheung and Phillimore (2014) suggest both that lack of social networks hinders refugees' employment prospects, and that language ability significantly increases refugees' social networks in the UK. Besides a lack of language skills, living in remote areas, in camps, or in group accommodations combined with restrictions on freedom of movement increases social isolation and makes it difficult to build networks with hosts.

Contacts with certain groups of co-nationals or other refugees can be helpful for better labor

market outcomes. A strand of research in high-income countries looks at the impacts of networks with people from the same country of origin or reason for migration and several studies focus specifically on refugees. Networks are usually defined as the number of refugees or co-nationals in the area of settlement. If there is sorting, i.e. people go to where economic opportunities are - it is difficult to assign the impacts to networks. This is why the literature studies cases where refugees are randomly placed based on dispersal policies. Exploiting a government settlement policy, Edin, Fredriksson, and Aslund (2003) find a positive impact of living in ethnic enclaves on earnings for low-skilled refugees in Sweden. Damm (2009) corroborates these results for Denmark, finding a positive impact of existing ethnic enclaves on annual earnings of refugees, which she attributes to the fact that the job information obtained through ethnic networks leads to a better matching on the labor market. In a second article (2014) she also shows that the labor market outcomes of refugee men are not affected by the overall employment rate in their neighborhood, while an increase in the employment rate of men from the same country of origin raises their annual earnings. Similarly, refugees in Denmark who were resettled near other immigrants from their country of origin found their first job faster than those settled in areas with few others from their country, perhaps because of lower language barriers and better social networks (Damm and Rosholm 2010). Martén, Hainmueller and Hangartner (2019) show that refugees assigned to live in locations in Switzerland where many co-nationals reside are more likely to find employment, notably in the first years after arrival, and to have full-year employment.

However, others have suggested mixed or negative employment effects of contacts with co-nationals or other refugees, which might suggest that relying too exclusively on these networks might hamper long-term integration with hosts. In Germany, Battisti, Peri, and Romiti (2016) find that refugees in locations with more coethnics are more likely to be employed quickly, but also have a lower probability of investing in human capital and a higher probability of earning a lower wage. In the US, the impact of those with whom you arrive is negative, compared to those already established (Beaman 2011). Dagnelie, Mayda and Maystadt (2019) find a negative impact on the employment outcomes of refugees resettled in the US if other refugees in the network are employees and a positive impact if they are entrepreneurs and thus employers. These findings for Germany and the US show that the impacts of ethnic networks are not clear-cut. Some have argued that ethnic enclaves may also be detrimental by hindering language acquisition as well as social integration and networks with the host community (Edin, Fredriksson, and Aslund 2003). The relationship between ethnic networks and labor market outcomes may be inverse U-shaped. Even if they facilitate economic integration at the beginning through overcoming information

asymmetries and discrimination on the labor market, relying too exclusively on networks of co-ethnics might hamper long-term economic assimilation with natives.

Forced migrants often face a lack of demand on the labor market at destination, as they usually do not choose their first destination based on available labor market opportunities, and tend to move together in large groups, suddenly increasing labor supply. This excess supply adds additional challenges to their labor market integration and might influence labor market outcomes not only in the short-term but also in the long-term. Evidence from OECD countries shows, that refugees who arrived during times of recession, have worse labor market outcomes which can persist over time (Aslund and Rooth 2007; Fasani, Frattini, and Minale 2018; Barth, Bratsberg, and Raaum 2004). The historical example of forced displacement flows to Germany after World War II shows that high inflows of those forcibly displaced and agrarian areas (which had lower labor demand compared to industrial areas) where highly negatively correlated with labor force participation rates of those forcibly displaced (Braun and Dwenger 2020). Together with other barriers to their labor market integration, this lack of demand might lead to higher rates of self-employment among those forcibly displaced in their host countries. For example, in Uganda, self-employment is preferred by refugees to avoid language barriers and exploitation, and they are less likely to lose their jobs when self-employed (Vemuru et al. 2016). In the UK, those who migrated for asylum (who face a much higher hourly earning gap compared to the UKborn population) are more likely to be self-employed than those who migrated for other reasons such as work (and face a lower payment gap) (Kone, Ruiz, and Vargas-Silva 2020). Such higher rates of selfemployment likely reflect necessity and not opportunity entrepreneurship.

3. Overview of literature on jobs interventions for refugees and IDPs

3.1 Methodology

Search Methods. To form an initial stocktaking of the literature, searches were conducted in large databases (EconLit, Google Scholar, EconPapers, IDEAS/RePEc, and SSRN), the website of large international organizations (World Bank, UNHCR), repositories of recent impact evaluations (3ie, IPA, and JPAL) and other topic-specific research centers and repositories (Cash Learning Partnership, Center for Global Development, Overseas Development Institute, Center for Research and Analysis of Migration, Tufts Feinstein International Center, FinDev Gateway), and the websites of NGOs and programs that have published assessments of their programs. These sites were searched using keywords specific to forced displacement and employment or intervention type. Gray literature was included to broaden the evidence base, as much of the literature on these topics is very recent. Including gray literature also helps us reduce publication bias.

Since much of the literature is gray literature, simply ending the search after consulting these largely academic sources would have not given us a complete picture. In the next round of searching, we used snowball sampling from the papers found as well as discussions with other researchers and experts to broaden the search along the paths of the first search.

Inclusion criteria. This review focuses on literature that is quantitative, especially econometric, in nature, and puts less emphasis on papers that are based on qualitative or descriptive findings alone. We will attempt to use the literature to draw conclusions on jobs interventions for those forcibly displaced in middle- and low-income countries, using what has been found in high-income countries as support. Papers were included if they met one of the following criteria, in order of importance:

Main findings.

- Based on an econometric impact evaluation (notably those using experimental or quasiexperimental methods) evaluating programs or program effects on employment-related outcomes specifically for those forcibly displaced.
- Literature reviews compiling rigorous evidence regarding program effects on employment-related outcomes specifically for those forcibly displaced. **Supporting literature.**
- Based on descriptive or qualitative evidence and focused on program impacts on employmentrelated outcomes specifically for those forcibly displaced in low- or middle-income countries.
- Based on descriptive quantitative evidence and focused on program impacts on employmentrelated outcomes specifically for forcibly displaced in high-income countries if there is no econometric literature available for this type of program.
- Review studies of qualitative results based on multiple countries including high-income countries.

We triangulated the results with evidence for other groups of migrants and the impacts of such types of interventions in low- and middle-income countries more broadly, including in situations of fragility, conflict or violence. The focus was on papers in English. Our inclusion criteria led us to include 115 papers on evaluations of jobs interventions for refugees and IDPs. The following section outlines the characteristics of this literature and points to gaps that may be considered in future research.

3.2 Description of the literature

Gray literature. Approximately 64% of the papers examined are not published in journals (yet) and exist either as working papers or as part of gray literature, such as an NGO's internal evaluation. Including these papers that are not published gives us a richer picture of the evidence base and diminishes the risk of publication bias.

Region of study. Most papers considered in this review come from high-income host countries, especially from Europe and Central Asia (ECA) (Figure 1). Even so, 27 papers look at Sub-Saharan African host countries and 25 papers cover the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region (most of which focus on Syrian refugees in the region). Where the econometric literature on low- and middle-income host countries is thin, we present findings from Europe and the United States and supplement them with descriptive and qualitative findings from LMICs that suggest how these interventions might translate to other contexts. The main countries of origin for refugees are Syria, Sudan and South Sudan, Somalia, Afghanistan, and Iraq. The studies on IDPs largely focus on Uganda, Colombia, Somalia, and Democratic Republic of Congo.

Methodologies and research designs. The methodologies used in these papers vary across regions. For the purposes of this overview, "econometric" refers to papers that included any type of significance testing, including t-tests and multivariate regressions along with more rigorous quasi-experimental research designs such as matching, instrumental variables, regression discontinuity designs or differencein-differences, as well as experimental methods/randomized controlled trials. "Descriptive" papers, on the other hand, are based on quantitative data but do not attempt to analyze statistical significance and are often post- or pre-post evaluations. "Qualitative" papers include papers without a quantitative element, which usually use key informant interviews, focus group discussions and/or semi-structured interviews to collect data. Finally, "review" papers are literature reviews or papers based heavily on previous literature rather than original data. Since we are especially interested in quantitative assessments in this review, papers with mixed methods are included as econometric or descriptive (as appropriate), rather than qualitative, although they include qualitative components.



Figure 1: Region of study and methodology (multiple responses allowed)

The econometric work is concentrated in the Europe and Central Asia region (Figure 1). Among the econometric papers, 15 cover randomized controlled trials (RCTs) (3 in Europe and Central Asia, 1 in East Asia and the Pacific, 1 in the Middle East and North Africa, 3 in Latin America and the Caribbean, and 8 in Sub-Saharan Africa) (Figure 2). Several of these papers are medical trials studying mental health outcomes. However, the most common type of econometric analysis was multivariate regression, sometimes exploiting some form of quasi-natural experiment.

Figure 2: Econometric methodologies and designs (multiple responses allowed)



Types of outcomes studied. Although this review focuses on employment-related outcomes, studies consider several types of outcome variables. These include variables that are directly related to employment (such as employment rates, earnings, or sources of income) as well as variables that are indirectly related (ability to pay for basic needs, expenditure, health, education). Many studies considered multiple types of outcomes. Studies with only indirectly related outcome variables were included only if they examined a relevant job intervention type. The most common outcome that was studied is employment rates, followed by earnings, basic needs, and self-employment (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Type of outcomes studied (multiple responses allowed)

Types of programs. The majority of the studies considered focus on interventions aiming to increase forced migrants' financial capital through transfers and their human capital through trainings and psychosocial support (Table 2). These have also been the most widely implemented types of interventions in the past. Many programs, especially those in high-income countries such as Denmark or Sweden and graduation-type of approaches in lower- and middle-income countries, include several of these types of interventions. A number of studies also look at the impacts of changes in the legal framework, but they are focused on HICs for now. Meanwhile, the evidence is thinner on other types of interventions, like subsidized employment in the private or public sector and interventions assuring access to markets. We build on indirect evidence, such as evaluations for migrants in general rather than forced migrants, in discussing these types of interventions. As these measures are increasingly becoming popular in the context of forced displacement it seems important to fill this gap in the future. In general, evaluations seem to be missing where the number of interventions is still very limited (like for tackling constraints linked to labor demand and lack of social networks). Interventions generating labor demand for refugees and IDPs are more difficult to implement in terms of the political economy in the host country than improving the quality of labor supply and supporting matching mechanisms in the market. Even where interventions have been more widely implemented, a prioritization of fast implementation in the forced displacement context might have limited the possibility of implementing experimental designs in program delivery.

Income-level of the host country and interventions studied. The studies on the different intervention types are not evenly dispersed by income level of the host country. The evidence on repeated and one-off transfer programs contains many studies on middle- and low-income contexts, while studies on language

training, matching, legal frameworks, and wage subsidies are more concentrated in high income countries (Figure 4). The only intervention type with exclusively high-income evidence is wage subsidies. Studies in upper middle contexts include many studies on Syrian refugees in Jordan, Turkey, and Lebanon.

Figure 5 provides a detailed heatmap summarize the evidence and gaps by intervention type, outcome studied, and host country region.





Refugees and IDPs. Approximately 14 percent of the papers studied focus on the situation of IDPs. Another 4 percent cover both refugees and IDPs, which are mostly review studies. However, this still leaves the majority of the papers that cover only refugees. This points out a substantial gap in the literature, as most papers focus on those who have been forcibly displaced across borders and not internally.

Intervention Type	Specific challenges addressed (in order of importance)	Rationale	Number of papers; evidence of impact*
Repeated transfers	Loss of assets and incomeLack of social networks	 allow households to cover their basic needs → improve their mental health, allow households to search for higher quality jobs and take more risks indirectly increase social cohesion → decrease discrimination on the labor market increase investments in education and health → improve labor market outcomes in the future / of the next generation 	27 papers***; Positive
One-off transfers (grant or credit)	Loss of assetsLack of labor demand	• Increase productive assets → increase income from self- employment or entrepreneurship	25 papers*; Promising when combined with other interventions
Vocational, business and other skills training, and recognition of skills	• Lack of skills	 Diminish skills mismatch → increase income from employment and self- employment Provide evidence for skills for employers 	24 papers*; Mixed; more promising when combined with other interventions
Language training	 Lack of skills Lack of social networks and information on labor market 	 Better match employers' needs ; increase income through self-employment and entrepreneurship Allow to build up social networks → improve mental health, increase information on job opportunities 	20 papers**; Promising, if well designed and combined with other interventions
Healthcare and psychosocial support	• Physical and psychological health	 Improve health → increase ability to participate in labor market and productivity 	17 papers***; Positive
Improve legal framework and information about rights	Legal challenges	 Grant right to work → increase employment and job quality, prevent exploitation Reduce wait time for right to work → avoid delaying obtention of host-country specific work experience and demotivation → increase speed of employment, job quality and income trajectories 	25 papers**; Promising

 Table 2: Types of interventions, challenges they address and existing evidence

Job search assistance, matching and coaching	• Lack of social networks and information	 Increase certainty about prospects of stay → increase time horizon → increase incentive for host-country specific investments Grant freedom of movement and settlement → can move to where economic opportunities and their social networks are Remove other legal obstacles like access to financial services and ability to own property → increase self-employment / entrepreneurship Anti-discrimination laws and information about rights → increase employment and job quality, prevent exploitation Overcome search and matching frictions including information asymmetries regarding the qualifications of those forcibly displaced Allow them to move to where economic opportunities and their social networks are Increase employability by earning host-country work experience 	16 papers**; Mixed 8 papers**;
Wage subsidies	Lack of skillsLack of social networksLack of labor demand	 Compensate for employers' lack of information on qualification Compensate for lower productivity of those forcibly displaced due to language or other barriers → Increase probability of future employment 	Promising but evidence limited to high-income settings
Subsidized public sector employment	 Loss of assets Lack of skills Lack of social networks Lack of labor demand 	 Allow to save, build up social networks, increase skills on the job or through accompanying trainings, prevent idleness, allow them to take risks through providing a form of insurance → increase probability of future (self-) employment Indirectly: Have multiplier effects through cash injections in the local economy and public infrastructure built; If massive: lead to (temporary) increase in wages 	3 papers; Less promising
Access to markets / value chain interventions	 Lack of social networks and information Lack of labor demand 	 Develop or strengthen links along the value chain, increase information → increase income from self-employment and micro-enterprises 	9 papers; Promising

*** = rigorous quantitative evidence for LMIC; ** = rigorous quantitative evidence focused on HIC; * = qualitative and less rigorous quantitative evidence for LMIC; no star = lack of evidence



Figure 5: Detailed heatmap of evidence and gaps by intervention, outcome, and region of study

4. Results of evaluations of jobs interventions for refugees and IDPs

4.1. Financial capital interventions

Providing forcibly displaced people with financial capital may help account for the loss of assets due to their displacement. Notably in low-income countries but also in middle-income countries selfemployment is an important source of income which usually requires certain assets. It might also help them overcome liquidity constraints and offer a form of insurance, making up for the lack of networks in the host community that would provide informal risk-sharing, savings, and credit. These transfer programs may have two types: repeated conditional or unconditional transfers, which may occur weekly or monthly; or one-time grants or credits, which are more directly tied to asset-building and often combined with business training and coaching.

4.1.1. Repeated cash transfers, vouchers, and in-kind transfers

Regular transfer programs are frequently used in the forced displacement context but the fact that they might have (indirect) employment effects is often overlooked. Repeated-type programs may impact employment outcomes by (i) covering basic needs, improving mental health and sometimes allowing households to save, and, through this channel, (ii) giving them more freedom of choice, allowing them to search for higher-quality work and take more risks; (iii) allowing them to invest in education and health and avoid negative coping strategies like child labor which affect future labor market outcomes; and (iv) indirectly increasing social networks and decreasing discrimination, improving employment outcomes through lowering social barriers to labor market entry.

Transfer programs reduce poverty and help cover basic needs, improving mental health and sometimes allowing households to save. The emerging literature on refugees and IDPs suggests that, in line with previous literature on low- and middle-income countries (Bastagli et al. 2019), both unconditional and conditional cash transfer programs reduce poverty and increase spending on goods for basic needs. Several rigorous quasi-experimental and experimental studies have considered the effect of cash transfers in forced displacement contexts. Studying Syrian refugees preparing for winter conditions in Lebanon in 2014 using a regression discontinuity design, the International Rescue Committee found that unconditional cash transfers over five months lead to increased spending on food, clothing, and heating fuel (Lehmann and Masterson 2014). A second impact evaluation with a large sample using a fuzzy regression discontinuity design to study cash transfers by the World Food Program and UNHCR also found increases in household expenditures notably in terms of food quality and quantity and a significant decrease in food insecurity (Chaaban et al. 2020).¹⁸ Evaluations of the impact of UNHCR cash transfers for Syrian refugees in Jordan also support this finding, suggesting increased expenditures for basic needs, especially paying rent (Abu Hamad et al. 2017; Giordano et al. 2017). Qualitative and descriptive work in this context suggests that the cash transfer especially helped refugees to access housing (Hagen-Zanker, Ulrichs, and Holmes 2018; UNHCR 2017b). An RCT among Colombian refugees in Ecuador finds that cash transfers significantly increased food security outcomes, including expenditures, caloric intake, and diet diversity (Hidrobo et al. 2014). Beneficiaries of cash transfers and food vouchers during the 2010 famine in Somalia, which included a high number of IDPs due to drought and conflict, also had improved food security outcomes, as monitoring data shows (Dunn, Brewin, and Seck 2013). An RCT in the Democratic Republic of Congo looking at the impacts of vouchers or fairs for

¹⁸ Another impact evaluation using a regression discontinuity design (while having to correct for the fact that the two groups were not fully similar) also found that the Lebanon Cash Consortium (LCC) cash assistance significantly increased the sum of total expenditure for food, water, health, hygiene and housing of Syrian refugees in Lebanon (Battistin 2016).

essential household items for IDPs found significant positive treatment effects not only on food security, but also on investment in assets and on adult mental health (life satisfaction and wellbeing) (Quattrochi et al. 2019). Cash transfers for Syrian refugees in Lebanon also significantly and strongly increased mental health by almost three-fold from 18.5 percent in the control group to 54.5 percent in the treatment group (Chaaban et al. 2020).

The findings on impacts on basic needs seem to be very similar for cash, voucher or in-kind food transfer programs but cash might have additional benefits. Cash transfers do give the beneficiaries more flexibility and allow them to spend the cash also on non-food items and save a proportion, as the RCT in Ecuador and another RCT comparing vouchers to cash for IDPs in the Democratic Republic of Congo found (Hidrobo et al. 2014; Aker 2013). Cash transfers might also increase overall consumption if refugees are only able to resell part of their in kind assistance for a much lower price, as a study using a regression discontinuity design in Kenya shows (MacPherson and Sterck 2019). Alloush et al. (2017) find that Congolese refugees in Rwanda receiving cash transfers are happier than those receiving in kind transfers, but are not able to demonstrate a causal relationship, as camps were not randomly selected to receive cash or in kind support and they lack baseline data. The studies do not find evidence of beneficiaries spending cash on temptation goods (Lehmann and Masterson 2014; Aker 2013). Availability of goods and access to markets is, however, a precondition for cash transfers to work.

Repeated transfers do not seem to have a positive impact on adult employment rates and might allow refugees and IDPs to search for higher-quality jobs, but existing evidence is focused on Syrian refugees. Previous reviews of the literature on cash transfers to alleviate poverty have suggested that they tend to result in very little or no change in adult employment (Bastagli et al. 2019; Baird, Mckenzie, and Ozler 2018). The elderly and those caring for dependents or only working casually seem to be most likely to reduce their labor force participation in response to the transfer. Although many of the evaluations of the impacts of transfers on refugees do not consider employment or labor market outcomes, the ones on Syrian refugees in Lebanon and Jordan that do tend to find that the transfers (slightly) reduce labor supply (Lehmann and Masterson 2014; Giordano et al. 2017; Chaaban et al. 2020) or do not have a positive impact on labor supply (Hagen-Zanker, Ulrichs, and Holmes 2018). This may be because of differences in the quality of jobs taken by refugees – if they secure some level of income from cash transfers, they may have more ability to choose jobs that are higher-paying, less hazardous, or otherwise higher quality. Syrian refugees in Lebanon and Jordan who received unconditional cash transfers were not only less likely to be employed than those who did but were also much less likely to undertake risky or dangerous activities (Chaaban et al. 2020; Lehmann and Masterson 2014; Giordano et al. 2017). While Chaaban et al. (2020) find the highest decrease in male employment among Syrian refugees in Lebanon (17 percentage points), they also observe an increase of 10.6 percentage points in the rate of unemployed men who are not working but are actively looking for a better job, a result that was confirmed qualitatively. The same does not hold for refugee women, which seem to prioritize household chores and childcare when able to avoid low-paying and often hazardous jobs. Others find that Syrian refugees receiving cash transfers are much less likely than their counterparts to report independent income, which might represent reductions in child labor or fear of losing access to the benefits (Abu Hamad et al. 2017). The fear to lose assistance might also diminish incentives to apply for a work permit, as qualitative research among Syrian refugees in Jordan shows (Bellamy et al. 2017). The findings for adult labor force participation also seem to hold in high-income countries: cash transfers and other benefits appear to encourage refugees in the United States and Poland, to seek higher quality or higher-paying work (LoPalo 2019; Lukasiewicz 2017). Evidence on South Korea also shows that transfers are negatively associated with the probability of employment, likely through increasing reservation wages (Yu et al. 2012). A study exploiting a reduction in unemployment benefits provided to refugees in Denmark also supports this reservation wage interpretation, as the policy change increased refugees' adult labor market participation, but their total income was lower than the cash transfer they had previously received (Jakobsen, Kaarsen, and Vasiljeva

2017). Those with the poorest labor market prospects, low-skilled workers and women, were the least responsive to the reduction in the cash transfer amount (Rosholm and Vejlin 2010).

Cash transfers may help low-income forcibly displaced people to afford education, which improves future labor market outcomes. Cash transfers may also increase the ability of individuals and households to invest in human capital. The randomized controlled trial in the Democratic Republic of Congo found that those IDPs who received cash instead of vouchers used it, in part, to pay school fees (Aker 2013). Even if the cash transfers in Lebanon were intended to help Syrian refugees prepare for winter, children in the treatment group had higher school enrollment rates than those in the control group (Lehmann and Masterson 2014). Similar results were found in the second study on cash transfers in Lebanon (Chaaban et al. 2020). In Uganda, results from a non-representative survey show that the vast majority (85%) of refugees surveyed struggled to afford school fees, and that this lack of educational opportunity hindered their future employment prospects, as for refugees a higher level of education is associated with a higher likelihood of participating in the labor market in Uganda (Vemuru et al. 2016). Descriptive and qualitative research on Syrian refugees in Jordan found that high school fees were a major barrier to education for refugees, and increased cash or voucher transfer value was associated with an increase in school spending, although many barriers remain (Abu Hamad et al. 2017).

Cash transfers might decrease negative coping strategies like child labor. Several econometric papers find that cash transfers reduce child work done by Syrian children in Lebanon and Jordan outside the home or inside the home (Lehmann and Masterson 2014; De Hoop et al. 2019; Giordano et al. 2017). Qualitative findings also support that the transfer helps reduce child labor (Hagen-Zanker, Ulrichs, and Holmes 2018; UNHCR 2017b; Bellamy et al. 2017). These results are in line with general reductions in child labor found in studies looking at cash transfer programs in low- and middle-income countries beyond the forced displacement context (de Hoop and Rosati 2014). Meanwhile, in Denmark, using a regression discontinuity design, Jakobsen, Kaarsen, and Vasilijeva find no evidence of changes in youth's labor supply caused by reduced cash benefit to parents (Jakobsen, Kaarsen, and Vasiljeva 2017). This might represent the differences in labor markets between low- or middle- and high-income economies.

Transfers may indirectly increase social networks and decrease discrimination, which could help refugees and IDPs find jobs. Although cash transfers are generally thought of in terms of increasing financial capital, there is potential for another mechanism: cash transfers may affect social cohesion and social networks within and between the host community and forced migrants. To the extent that lower discrimination and more positive relationships with the host community may affect employment, cash transfers may indirectly affect job outcomes through this mechanism as well. For example, cash, food, and voucher transfers have been found in an RCT for Colombia refugees in Ecuador to significantly increase social cohesion and social participation for refugees, probably because of joint targeting of refugees and poor host community members, or because of interaction at required training events (Valli et al. 2018). An RCT in the Democratic Republic of Congo found an increase in social cohesion as a result of vouchers or fairs for essential household items for IDPs (Quattrochi et al. 2019). Lehmann and Masterson (2014) found that cash transfers to Syrian refugees in Lebanon made them more likely to develop social ties, and less likely to be insulted by members of the host community. A difference-indifferences evaluation of a shelter assistance program by UNHCR serving IDPs and returnees in Afghanistan found that the program reduced social tensions because it reduced pressures on the local community's resources and was perceived as transparent and fair (Siegel et al. 2012). However, faults in program design for cash transfers, such as poor targeting, may increase community tensions (Simon 2018).

4.1.2 One-off transfers and complementary interventions

One-off grants or credits aim more directly at helping those forcibly displaced overcome the loss of assets to become self-employed or start a business. Repeated transfer programs are often focused on

addressing poverty, food security, and basic needs rather than jobs outcomes. Only some regular transfer programs explicitly aim to support job search assistance, income-generating activities or business start-up, sometimes combined with one or two larger injections of capital. How such programs are framed might have an impact on how the cash is used. One-time grants or credits usually aim more particularly toward building productive assets, assuming that access to credit is a binding constraint. This is important with respect to the prospects of those forcibly displaced for self-employment and entrepreneurship if they faced the loss of assets, especially where labor markets are not able or willing to absorb the labor supply shock through the arrival of forced migrants.

One-off cash grants or asset transfers can increase income from self-employment, but uncertainty about length of stay and restrictive legal frameworks for refugees might lower impacts. Existing research shows positive results for cash-transfers on self-employment, with the exception of very insecure environments (Blattman and Ralston 2015). In the forced displacement context we would expect even more positive impacts due to the previous loss of assets. On the other hand, however, we would expect short time horizons or uncertainty about length of stay as well as very restrictive legal frameworks for refugees to limit the impacts of such cash injections, as discussed in section 2. More evaluations are needed to increase our understanding of the respective importance of these factors. The few existing evaluations often include other types of programming as well as one-off cash grants, and do not tease out the effect of the cash grant alone (see evidence on graduation approaches below). Compared to regular unconditional cash transfers, Hassan et al. (2018), for example, find positive impacts of business grants combined with business trainings on business ownership, income, and assets among Somali IDPs five months after the intervention. Using matching techniques, start-up subsidies in Germany, paid out monthly but tied to a business plan, were found to be particularly effective for disadvantaged groups on the labor market, but less effective for non-German compared to German citizens (Caliendo, Künn, and Wießner 2010). We have not found any evaluations of interventions granting access to or ownership of land, which is an important obstacle for agricultural activities.

Using micro-finance or other form of loans instead of grants faces additional challenges in the context of forced displacement. Refugees face additional difficulties to access credit due to the perceived temporariness of their stay (and the associated perceived higher risk of non-repayment) and lower (perceived) group solidarity and pressure for loan repayment. Lack of collateral and credit histories, laws and regulations that restrict refugees' access to financial services, and lack of required identification also play a role (Easton-Calabria and Omata 2016). The fact that refugees are often used to receiving services for free might decrease the likelihood of repayment (Jacobsen 2004). Nevertheless, the financial inclusion of refugees can have positive impacts on resilience and the ability to restart economic activities (El-Zoghbi et al. 2017). Lessons learnt from a project providing loans to displaced populations in African countries show different ways how programs can be adapted to the forcibly displaced target population (Jacobsen 2004). Several microfinance and access to finance initiatives exist for refugees and IDPs in low- and middle-income countries and there is some evidence that refugees do repay their loans and lending to them might be sustainable under certain conditions (IFC and Bridgespan Group 2019; Nourse 2003). There is, however, a lack of robust evidence on the impacts for those forcibly displaced and the existing literature is limited to qualitative and descriptive results. Beneficiaries of UNHCR-financed microcredit projects in Costa Rica, Serbia, and Kenya have indicated that their income increased after the loan (Azorbo 2011; UNHCR 2018a). Qualitative evidence from IDPs in Azerbaijan suggests that microfinance has helped them obtain agricultural land for farming and other economic opportunities (Flowers 2003). A microfinance pilot targeted to women IDPs in Uganda was associated with IDPs better able to purchase productive assets like bicycles and clocks and helped them to build business skills (Jacobsen et al. 2006). However, there are also challenges. For example, Germany's InvestitionsBank Berlin piloted micro-loans for refugees, but had very low uptake because of product design and the shorter term of loan, which was designed to match the refugees' visa length of three years (Dhawan 2018). Beyond the forced displacement context, most micro-finance in low- and middle-income countries has proven to be

expensive and the short, inflexible repayment periods are not conducive to increasing profits (Blattman and Ralston 2015; J-PAL and IPA 2015; A. Banerjee, Karlan, and Zinman 2015).

Compared to grants or microfinance alone, combined approaches like graduation-type programs hold a larger promise for vulnerable populations like refugees and IDPs. Graduation-type programs include both cash grants geared to building up assets and business or entrepreneurship training, along with intensive coaching and financial inclusion for the extreme poor and vulnerable populations to graduate into sustainable livelihoods. Their objective is to address multiple constraints simultaneously to reduce extreme poverty. Most of these programs are implemented in low- or middle-income contexts. In 2017, the Partnership for Economic Inclusion documented 99 active graduation-type programs around the world, with 16 percent of them targeting refugees, compared to 9 percent in 2016 (Arévalo, Kaffenberger, and de Montesquiou 2018). There is increasingly strong evidence that such integrated programs can have significant and large impacts on poor and vulnerable populations in general (A. Banerjee et al. 2015; Bandiera et al. 2017; Blattman, Fiala, and Martinez 2013; Blattman et al. 2016), including in fragile contexts (Bedova et al. 2019). The existing evidence for forcibly displaced populations, however, is mostly qualitative or descriptive so far and focuses on short-term impacts. There are some RCTs currently under preparation or already in the field, which will help improve the evidence base on economic inclusion programs for refugees in the future.¹⁹ Pre-post evaluations of the UNHCR graduation programs for refugees in Costa Rica and Ecuador showed that program participation was associated with increased employment, income and access to financial institutions and savings, as well as stronger self-confidence and support networks (UNHCR and Trickle Up 2016b; 2016a). Results in Ecuador were more modest, as the evaluation was conducted mid-term during an economic crisis. Similarly, participants of UNHCR's graduation program for refugees in Egypt increased their employment, business ownership, and income (UNHCR 2017a). This was confirmed by a mid-term difference-in-differences evaluation, which found significantly larger increases and smaller decreases in income for program participants than nonparticipants; however, 79 to 95 percent still report that their income cannot meet their basic needs and little effect on savings (UNHCR and Beit Al Karma Consulting Egypt 2016).²⁰ A guide for graduation in urban refugee contexts points to some design features and implementation modalities that might positively influence results (Trickle Up 2017). Meanwhile, these findings are also supported by qualitative work, such as an analysis of an asset-focused cash grant in Niger which (combined with food vouchers and non-food/shelter cash transfers as well as some training) helped create productive opportunities for Malian refugees and allowed for greater investment in businesses owned by refugees (Grootenhuis and Calo 2016). For IDPs in Colombia, Ibanez and Moya (2010) show that incomegenerating programs including labor training and wage subsidies, courses for small enterprises' management, and seed capital as well as psychological support had large and significant impacts on asset accumulation, but these impacts decrease when additional household characteristic controls are included and lose significance in the IV estimates.

4.2. Human capital investments

4.2.1 Vocational, business and other skills training and recognition of skills

Training programs could help address the lack of skills that those forcibly displaced might face in destination labor markets, but the track record of "skills only" interventions is not promising. In the

¹⁹ This includes an RCT with refugees and host communities in Uganda conducted by IPA, comparing the costeffectiveness of different variations of the graduation approach. The final survey is planned for 2021 <u>https://www.poverty-action.org/printpdf/36101</u>. Under the DfID program "Building the Evidence on Protracted Forced Displacement: A Multi-Stakeholder Partnership" the World Bank is funding RCTs on graduation-type of approaches for example in Afghanistan and Niger.

 $^{^{20}}$ The confidence level is only 85%.

forced displacement context, vocational, business and other skills programs could help overcome the mismatch between the skills of those forcibly displaced and the needs of the host labor market. In highincome countries, many vocational or skills training programs are evaluated alongside other programs such as language training. The mostly descriptive and qualitative literature that exists for low- and middle-income countries shows that many training programs have not been successful. Using qualitative methods, Zetter proposes that skill development programs in Mozambique were not effective in helping refugees become less dependent on social assistance, with refugees noting that the skills they learned were not appropriate for finding jobs (Zetter 1996). Similar findings emerged from qualitative work on refugees in Egypt (Nichols and Jacobsen 2012b), and Jordan (Leghtas 2018). These findings corroborate the results for skills training notably in poor and fragile settings, where many skills programs do not have positive impacts or have costs that are much larger than the benefits (Blattman and Ralston 2015; McKenzie 2017). Few evaluations, however, study long-term impacts of the trainings, which tend to be larger (Card, Kluve, and Weber 2018). While there is some evidence that soft skills training seems to be more important than business skills training (McKenzie and Woodruff 2013; McKenzie 2017; Acevedo et al. 2017), we did not find any studies that compared these interventions with refugees and IDPs as beneficiaries.

Training programs in forced displacement context have the additional challenge of tailoring trainings to skills that are appropriate and marketable in view of the legal framework and location of forced migrants. In the forced displacement context, training programs do not only need to be preceded by an assessment of whether the lack of skills is the binding constraint to employment and which skills those forcibly displaced wish to acquire. It is also important to look at what the legal framework in terms of right to work and freedom of movement is and whether there is a market for the skills where those forcibly displaced are located. The returns to new skills will be low if refugees are legally not allowed to enter the segment of the labor market where there is demand for these skills or to move to where such demand might exist.

Training programs need to take constraints to participation into account and focus on those that need to change occupation after displacement. Another weakness of training programs is that many refugees report struggling to find time to attend training programs even if they believe they would benefit from them (Nichols and Jacobsen 2012a; Legthas and Hollingsworth 2017) or may be hindered from attending by social or cultural norms, such as norms that discourage women from appearing in public spaces (Pavanello 2018; Leghtas 2018). A higher number of female-headed households and higher dependency ratios among those forcibly displaced might also make attendance of women in training programs more difficult due to lack of availability of childcare (Leghtas 2018). More flexible organization of the trainings could help. In terms of needs, it also seems important that trainings focus on those who are forced to change occupation after displacement. Survey data from Uganda shows that more than half of refugees changed occupation after displacement, but they were less likely to benefit from training programs (4 percent compared to 8 percent overall) (Mejia-Mantilla et al. 2019).

Positive results have been found for skills like coding and IT skills but the potential for scaling up needs to be proven. IT and coding skills tend to be in high demand in countries of all income levels, are attractive for refugees and IDPs because they are portable skills, offer a higher salary than many of the other jobs available, and allow individuals to work remotely. Rigorous evaluations are, however, still lacking, and the existing descriptive and qualitative evaluations do not include cost-effectiveness or costbenefit analysis. As numbers of existing initiatives tend to be small, the potential for scale-up still needs to be proven. A review of qualitative and descriptive evaluations of training programs focused on coding and IT skills for refugees as well as connection to online work opportunities suggests that they have high job placement rates and substantially increased earnings of refugees (Hatayama 2018).²¹ Two qualitative

²¹ Results of a multi-year RCT on long-term outcomes of one of the interventions will be available in 2019-2020. https://cdn2.hubspot.net/hubfs/4379491/Impact%20Scorecard%20Q1%202019.pdf

and descriptive reviews, one of over 20 coding boot camps for refugees in Europe and the Middle East, and the other of coding schools in Germany with varying design features including length of training also reported promising job placement records for the case studies included (Francis 2019; Mason 2018). Other ICT programs, such as in Jordan, have not yet been evaluated but are regarded as promising for increasing work opportunities (Huang 2017; UNCTAD 2018; Benton and Glennie 2016). Even if these programs try to circumvent the fact that refugees are often not allowed to work and are located in remote areas, they are, however, not always able to overcome these difficulties (UNESCO 2018). As coding requires a certain level of education and language skills, programs might be limited to a lucky few in certain contexts.

Combining skills training with other interventions could lead to better results but must

demonstrate cost-effectiveness. There seems to be consensus that skills training in general should be linked to job opportunities and not delay labor market entry. Some have proposed, for example in Sweden, that obtaining work experience in the host country is more valuable than training, especially immediately after arrival (Lemaître 2007). Training programs can have negative impacts through lock-in effects, at least in the short-term (Clausen et al. 2009). As the positive results from more integrated approaches show, for example for youth, the combination of training with other interventions yields higher promises for populations facing multiple obstacles (Kluve et al. 2019). If work permits are required, skill training interventions should also help refugees to obtain them. For business trainings a combination with access to capital seems important, as in general business skills trainings alone have had limited impacts (Blattman and Ralston 2015; Cho and Honorati 2013). Difficulties in accessing capital, for example, limited impacts of business trainings on self-employment in a randomized pilot with urban refugees in Rwanda, South Africa, and Tanzania (CWS 2018). It is still unclear, however, how much the skills training adds to the impacts that the capital injection would have anyway and if it justifies the increase in costs. Another variation on these types of multi-faceted skills programs are business incubators, which offer specific training or legal advice, as well as access to social networks, space and in some cases access to finance, to encourage enterprise development. Business incubators exist for refugees in several high-income countries including Germany, the Netherlands, the UK, and Australia, along with a few in middle-income countries, but they have not yet been rigorously evaluated. Anecdotal evidence from Finland suggests that refugees who have no certainty about their length of stay find it challenging to develop and commit to a business plan (UNCTAD 2018).

Assessment and recognition of skills and qualifications could be helpful, notably in more formalized labor markets and for those middle- or high-skilled, but more evidence is needed. An assessment of skills at all levels, including those acquired through informal learning and previous work experience, seems important in host countries of all income levels to be able to convey the competencies of those forcibly displaced to employers and develop training programs aimed at skills gaps. The formal recognition of skills and qualifications as a signaling effect is likely to be more important in countries with more formalized labor markets and affect refugees more than IDPs and those middle- or high-skilled more than those low-skilled. OECD countries have increasingly started to assess the skills of asylum seekers and refugees and, where possible, formally recognize their degrees (OECD 2016b). There is, however, little causal evidence on the recognition of skills and qualifications even in high-income countries and for migrants in general (Ö. Bilgili 2015). The existing evidence indicates that the recognition of skills and qualifications may delay labor market entry at least in the short-term, as it is more difficult for refugees to find jobs that correspond to their skill level (Correa-Velez, Barnett, and Gifford 2015). Employers might be more skeptical towards foreign credentials even if they have been fully recognized, notably if they are not involved in the validation and recognition procedures. Procedures are often not transparent and can take a long time, even in OECD countries (OECD 2014, chapter 2). Refugees might need additional courses to fully meet the requirements for recognition. Overall, however, the recognition of foreign skills and qualification is associated with higher employment and wages, at least in high-income countries (OECD 2014, chapter 2).

4.2.2 Language training

Language training not only addresses a lack of skills but can also help build social networks. Programs that focus on developing language skills may help forced migrants find employment by allowing them to match more closely employer preferences in the host community, but also through allowing them to build up social networks in the host community and improving their mental health through reducing the feeling of social isolation. The evidence on these interventions mainly focuses on refugees, who are more likely than IDPs to face a substantial language mismatch in the host community and is concentrated in high-income countries.

Language training, combined with other measures, may be helpful for employment, as evidence from high-income countries shows. Most of the literature on language in the context of labor market integration focuses on international migrants in general (without differentiating between different groups like refugees, family migrants and labor migrants) and analyses the role of language skills for labor market outcomes (and not language training itself) (Chiswick and Miller 2007; Chiswick 2009; Dustmann and Fabbri 2003). Even if the studies struggle with the endogeneity of labor market outcomes and language proficiency, results from different OECD countries clearly show a positive relationship (Chiswick and Miller 2014). The more limited number of studies on the effectiveness of language trainings often evaluate such training as part of a larger package of interventions without separating the effects of each element. The literature is also largely focused on refugees in the United States and Western Europe. Language training is offered to or required for refugees in many European countries, often as part of a pre-arrival training program and extending several years into the refugees' stay (Papadopoulou et al. 2013). Evidence on refugees in the United States suggests that, controlling for observable characteristics, those who use language training services may be more likely to be employed and have higher wages (Capps et al. 2008). Cebulla et al., in addition to showing a positive correlation between language ability and employment of refugees in the UK, also confirm that participation in language training did increase self-reported language ability (Cebulla et al. 2010). After participating in language courses in the UK, 75 percent of refugees reported that these courses were useful (Peckham et al. 2004). Looking at the random placement of refugees in Switzerland, Auer finds that language training can offset a language mismatch in resettlement (Auer 2018). Clausen et al. (2009) find that improvement in language skills significantly increases the likelihood of employment among refugee and family migrant participants in language courses in Denmark. Using a regression discontinuity design, Lochmann et al. (2019) find that the number of language training hours significantly increases labor force participation of refugees in France (more than for other types of migrants) but without increasing the probability of employment. This might be due to the basic level of the classes and the limitation of the study to shortterm effects. Positive impacts of language training might be stronger in the mid- to long-term (Clausen et al. 2009). It might also be important that the trainings be adapted to the different education levels and needs of those forcibly displaced. Impacts of basic language skills might be stronger for those low-skilled while those high-skilled might benefit more from higher proficiency. Even while the quantitative literature is largely focused on high-income countries, qualitative research shows that similar patterns may hold in other contexts, when language programs are well-designed and combined with other measures. Qualitative research on refugees in Egypt suggests that they find language and other training programs useful, but require even more support if they are to be successful, perhaps especially in Egypt where social networks are important because refugees must have an Egyptian partner in order to start a business (Nichols and Jacobsen 2012b). Employers in Turkey perceive vocational and language training as necessary, but these programs have not yet been evaluated with respect to their impact on refugees' labor market outcomes (Bellamy et al. 2017).

Language classes should be linked to work opportunities and not delay labor market entry.

Qualitative research on refugees in Egypt also affirmed the importance of linking language and skills training to concrete work opportunities (Nichols and Jacobsen 2012b), a proposal which has been noted in reviews of these programs in high-income contexts as well (Ott 2013; Martin et al. 2016). Based on

results from studies on migrants in general, it seems important that language classes do not delay labor market entry and are adapted to the needs of the labor market (Ö. Bilgili 2015; Martin et al. 2016). Rigorous evaluations of the combination of language classes with work training are unfortunately scarce. An exception is the evaluation of a pilot program for migrants in Sweden using propensity score matching. The program combined work-oriented language training and practical workplace training which showed very positive results (Delander et al. 2005).

4.2.3 Mental healthcare and psychosocial support

Mental health services or other forms of psychosocial support for refugees and IDPs aim to address mental health issues due to displacement. As discussed in section 2, mental health issues might prevent forced migrants from working and hamper their productivity. Some interventions explicitly offer these services with the objective to improve their ability to integrate the labor market. Graduation programs targeting refugees, for example, more often include psychosocial support compared to programs with other target groups (Arévalo, Kaffenberger, and de Montesquiou 2018).

Mental healthcare and other psychosocial support have important positive impacts on the mental health of refugees and IDPs. A number of RCTs show that different forms of therapy have had significant positive effects on the mental wellbeing of refugees and IDPs in different low- and middle income countries.²² Positive results have been found for example for narrative exposure therapy, which is based on the principles of cognitive-behavioral exposure therapy. Evidence from a randomized control trial with PTSD diagnosed Sudanese refugees in Uganda showed that that the group exposed to four sessions of narrative exposure therapy presented significantly better results on measures of PTSD than the control groups which received a session of psychoeducation alone or combined with four sessions of supportive counseling (Neuner et al. 2004). A meta-analysis of seven studies using narrative exposure therapy mostly for refugee children showed positive and significant effects as well (Gwozdziewycz and Mehl-Madrona 2013). Effects seem to be particularly positive among refugee and IDP children and youth.

More evidence is needed to understand which type of psycho-social support works best in which context and how to best implement it in low-resource settings in a cost-efficient way and in environments with a lack of professional counselors and psychotherapists. Confirming results from high-income countries, an RCT with war-traumatized patients in Iraq showed that web-based cognitive behavioral therapy can have significant positive effects (Knaevelsrud et al. 2015). An RCT with Rwandan and Somalian refugees in Uganda showed that short-term psychotherapy carried out by lay counselors with limited training was effective in reducing PTSD (Neuner et al. 2008). The meta-analysis of studies using narrative exposure therapy also provided some evidence that after receiving training, lay refugee counselors can be even more effective than trained counselors when treating other refugees (Gwozdziewycz and Mehl-Madrona 2013). These results were corroborated by an RCT among Burmese refugees in Thailand which showed that a transdiagnostic psychotherapy provided by lay counselors was highly effective in reducing depression and PTSD (Bolton et al. 2014). Schulz et al. (2006) find that Cognitive Processing Therapy was highly effective in reducing symptoms of PTSD among resettled refugees in the US, both if the therapist spoke their language or used an interpreter. Using an interpreter might, however, create challenges in other settings (Searight and Armock 2013).

²² See amongst others results from RCTs for Syrian refugees in Turkey Acarturk et al. 2016; adolescent and child IDPs in Uganda Bolton et al. 2007 and Ager et al. 2011; adolescent war bereaved Afghani refugees Kalantari et al. 2012; and adolescent refugees in Gaza Lange-Nielsen et al. 2012. A pilot evaluation with a convenient sample also found positive effects of cognitive-behavioral therapy on IDPs in Uganda (Sonderegger et al. 2011). Other pre-post studies with small non-random samples of refugees in high-income countries found positive results as well (Weine et al. 1998; Kananian et al. 2017), and refugees report that they found mental health services as part of integration programs useful (Peckham et al. 2004).

Evidence on which type of support can facilitate labor force participation in particular and how it can be best integrated into broader jobs interventions is scant. The studies for refugees and IDPs cited above do not measure the impacts on economic behavior and one can only assume that a decrease in PTSD would increase economic activity and earnings. Evidence on the use of cognitive behavioral therapy and other shorter forms of psycho-social support with other target groups confirms the positive impacts on economic outcomes, but there is also evidence that this does not necessarily have to be the case (Lund et al. 2011; Kumar and Willman 2016; Campos et al. 2017; Blattman, Jamison, and Sheridan 2016). We also need more knowledge on how the psycho-social support needs to be combined with job interventions in order to have economic impacts. An RCT for refugee girls in Ethiopia that focused on building empowerment through mentorship, discussion groups for caregivers and safe spaces, for example, did not seem to have any employment effects. The authors explained the lack of effects with the lack of accompanying injections of financial capital (Stark et al. 2018). Another RCT currently in the field will explore how imagery techniques which encourage individuals to visualize future scenarios as part of entrepreneurship trainings may be effective in increasing personal initiative and future-oriented thinking among vulnerable groups including IDPs in Colombia.²³

4.3 Changing the legal framework for refugees and informing about their rights

The legal framework limits the ability notably of refugees to integrate the labor market, As described in chapter 2. As the existing literature mainly for OECD countries shows, if, when and how the right to work, residency status, and freedom of movement are granted has impacts on refugees' labor market outcomes. Anti-discrimination laws and information about rights could help address discrimination but existing evidence is scant.

Whether or not laws and regulations give refugees the right to work is an important factor that determines their labor market outcomes. Exploiting variance in labor market access restrictions between cantons in Switzerland, to which the asylum seekers are randomly allocated, Slotwinski and Uhlig (2019) find a sizable significant positive effect of inclusive labor market access regulations of around 10 percent, which is higher for those with a lower language distance. Where refugees do not have the legal right to work, this is associated with higher employment in the informal sector notably in lowand middle-income countries, which may also lead to lower job quality and greater risk of exploitation (Zetter and Ruaudel 2016). How lowering the regulatory barriers for formal labor market participation of refugees or helping them overcome the administrative hurdles will impact their labor market outcomes will depend on the context (Clemens, Huang, and Graham 2018). In Jordan the introduction of work permits had limited uptake and impacts, likely due to the limitation of work permits to a small number of sectors that did not match the skills and aspirations of the refugees and the fact that work permits were tied to employers (Gordon 2019). Even if refugees mostly continue to work in the informal sector, because of their skill levels and the size of the informal sector in the respective country, they will do so on a more equal footing with natives in terms of bargaining power if they have the right to work. Easing restrictions around ownership and registration of businesses should facilitate entrepreneurship by refugees. Being allowed to register home-based businesses would be particularly important for refugee women, as the example of Jordan shows (Leghtas 2018). Ongoing studies of policy changes in Colombia and Ethiopia will help shed more light on the causal links between the right to work and labor market outcomes.

The time at which they obtain the right to work and can earn host-country specific work experience matters for speed of employment and income trajectories in high-income countries. Studying different policies in European countries, researchers have shown that longer waiting periods delay the earning of country-specific work experience and lead to the depreciation of human capital as well as

²³ https://www.poverty-action.org/study/impact-entrepreneurship-training-using-imagery-techniques-colombia
scarring effects on the labor market. De Vroome and van Tubergen (2010) find that the time spent in a reception center is negatively related to employment and occupation status, mostly channeled through the negative effects on the acquirement of country-specific human capital. Using individual-level register data and the same exogeneous variation in wait time like Hainmueller et al. (2016), Hvidtfeldt et al. (2019) corroborate these results, finding that an additional year of waiting for the asylum claim to be processed in Denmark is associated with a decrease in employment of over 3 percentage points afterwards. This is mostly due to the additional delay in entering the labor market, as access to the labor market is restricted for asylum seekers. Independent of when the right to work was granted, evidence for OECD countries shows that migrants employed quicker and relatively continuously after arrival in the host country are on higher income trajectories which persist over time, compared to those who took longer to take up their first job (Fuller 2015). This is in line with research on labor market outcomes of women, which also shows the importance of continuous and full-time employment for human capital accumulation and in terms of signaling (see for example Olivetti and Petrongolo 2017; Rossin-Slater 2017; Evertsson and Duvander 2011). Impacts of granting the right to work earlier might, however, be less strong in settings with sizable informal labor markets and lack of social welfare, aid, or remittances, where refugees might already be working in the informal sector and continue to do so after obtaining the legal right to work.

Some have argued that granting asylum seekers and refugees the right to work immediately upon arrival also results in better outcomes by allowing them to have higher expectations or motivation for the future and avoiding additional traumatic experiences post-displacement. Exploiting a new limitation to the employment ban for asylum seekers in Germany, Marbach, Hainmueller, and Hangartner (2018) find that five years later employment rates of those who had to wait longer (around 7 months on average) were 20 percent lower and it took up to ten years to close this gap. Based on additional analysis, the main channel seems to be that the longer wait time and the uncertainty discourages refugees and reduces their motivation to search for jobs. Hainmueller, Hangartner, and Lawrence (2016) confirm the role of motivation, using registry panel data and an exogeneous variation in the wait time of refugees for their asylum claim in Switzerland. Even if asylum seekers are allowed to work after a number of months (with restrictions depending on the canton), each additional year of waiting reduces the employment rate in the year after receiving refugee status by 4-5 percent. Using cross-sectional data on refugees in the Netherlands, Bakker, Dagevos, and Engbersen (2014) show that those asylum seekers who stayed in temporary accommodation for more than 5 years, well beyond the average of 21 months, had worse mental health outcomes and lower levels of socio-economic integration.

Along the same lines, faster certainty about prospects of stay and permanent residency status can have a positive impact on labor market outcomes. As shown by studies cited above, how long asylum seekers have to wait for their asylum claim to be processed and under which conditions they wait has an impact on their labor market outcomes afterwards, be it through delaying labor market entry or additional negative impacts on mental conditions and motivation. Beyond the uncertainty about the prospects of stay during the asylum process, the type of residence permit granted, if only temporary, can prolong uncertainty. The political discourse might also create or reinforce incertitude. Using two waves of the European Labour Force Survey, Fasani et al. (2018) find that those admitted when recognition rates for permanent refugee status are relatively high have better labor market outcomes (while results for faster decision processes are not significant). Permanent status gives refugees a longer time horizon and incentivizes country specific investments (see chapter 2). Evidence on OECD countries shows, that there is also a correlation between acquiring citizenship and better economic outcomes of refugees (Bakker, Dagevos, and Engbersen 2014; Bevelander and Pendakur 2014). This is in line with research on migrants in general (e.g. OECD 2011; Steinhardt 2012; Bevelander and Veenman 2006). Besides diminishing uncertainty about the length of stay, naturalization also opens up all jobs in the labor market (including civil service and regulated professions) and has important signaling effects for employers.

Allocating asylum seekers and refugees taking labor market opportunities into account or allowing them to move and settle freely improves their economic outcomes. Fasani, Frattini and Minale (2018) show that refugee cohorts that were affected by dispersal policies in European countries had worse labor market outcomes. The negative effects diminish over time as refugees are allowed to relocate. These results confirm the findings on refugee dispersal policies from studies for Sweden (Edin, Fredriksson, and Aslund 2003; Aslund and Rooth 2007), Denmark (Damm and Rosholm 2010), and Switzerland (Martén, Hainmueller, and Hangartner 2019; Auer 2018). The policy implication of these results would be to consider resettling refugees based on their observable characteristics like language, skills and nationality as well as opportunities in the area of settlement in order to improve their labor market outcomes or, if possible, allow them to settle freely. A simulation using data from the United States and Switzerland to develop and test an approach to refugee resettlement based on machine-learning and characteristics such as language, suggests that it would improve the employment outcomes of refugees by 40-70 percent compared to the current random assignment (Bansak et al. 2018). If they were to choose freely, the gains are likely to be even higher. These results from high-income countries bear important lessons also for low- and middle-income countries which limit refugees and IDPs to freely choose their area of settlement and which do not take labor market integration into account when deciding where to locate them.

Anti-discrimination laws and communication about rights of those forcibly displaced aim to address discrimination against refugees and IDPs, but there is a lack of rigorous evaluations of such policies and interventions.²⁴. Along with having less access to social networks and communities, refugees may also face social capital deficits in the form of discrimination against them. Policy approaches to reduce discrimination include legal structures mandating equality – in general, in employment, or in wages – as well as communication about the right of refugees. These types of policies and interventions may exist in countries across the income spectrum. ILO in Turkey, for example organized consultations, awareness-rising seminars and campaigns with refugees, employers, workers, public institutions and the general public after refugees were allowed to obtain work permits (ILO 2017). If these types of programs can increase employer awareness of refugee or IDP rights, especially the right to work in certain contexts, then they may increase employment by increasing the willingness of employers to hire forced migrants. If refugees are better aware of their rights, this can also facilitate their labor market integration. Anecdotal evidence points to the fact, that anti-discrimination laws do not only need to be put in place, but also be monitored. Despite antidiscrimination laws in Uganda, for example, about 10% of refugees in the country still report that they face discrimination in labor contexts (Vemuru et al. 2016). An RCT showed that text messages with information on eligibility for benefits significantly improved awareness of benefits for IDPs in Colombia (Blanco and Vargas 2010), but it would need to be tested if information on labor market access would have similar impacts.

4.4 Job search assistance or matching programs and coaching

Job search assistance and matching programs can help forced migrants overcome information asymmetries and lack of social networks. Many programs include assistance in searching for jobs or matching employers and employees. These types of interventions bridge supply- and demand-side programs and complement them both by helping overcome search and matching frictions. They account for refugees' and IDPs' lack of social networks at destination and help make up for a lack of knowledge on how to search and apply for a job in the new location. They also may help overcome information asymmetries regarding the qualifications and skills of those forcibly displaced by providing employers

²⁴ Two RCTs in Uganda will be testing whether reducing information frictions on the legal framework around refugees in Uganda change firms' beliefs and attitudes towards refugees and their willingness to hire them, and if a wage subsidy intervention can decrease discrimination (see Loiacono and Silva Vargas 2019).

with more accurate and reliable information. Intensive coaching combined with more individualized supply-side measures also aim to more directly match those forcibly displaced with job opportunities.

Evidence from high-income countries shows that job search assistance programs are associated with positive effects on employment rates where job opportunities in the formal sector exist. An RCT with refugees in Germany found that job matching assistance had a significant positive effect of 13 percentage points on employment rates a year after the conclusion of the assistance (Battisti, Giesing, and Laurentsyeva 2019). The effects are concentrated among those low-educated and without a secure residence status. Analyzing another RCT in Sweden, Joona and Nekby find that public employment matching services including refugees do positively affect their employment rates (Joona and Nekby 2012). Studying a similar program in Sweden matching refugees who were ready to work with employers with a difference-in-differences framework, Aslund and Johansson also found positive effects on the probability of finding work (Åslund and Johansson 2011). The impact of such matching efforts might be higher for groups like refugees and IDPs which lack social networks. Other studies confirm these general findings, albeit without being able to correct for self-selection on unobservable characteristics like ability or motivation, which may bias results if those who have the highest ability or are most motivated are also more likely to participate in these types of programs. Studying North Korean refugees in South Korea, Yu et al. reemphasize that employment networks are important for finding jobs in the host community, and that public programs helping foster these networks are associated with increases in employment, controlling for other observable characteristics (Yu et al. 2012). At the same time, a longitudinal analysis in Australia also suggests significant positive effects of job matching programs as well as informal networks on refugee employment (Correa-Velez, Barnett, and Gifford 2015). Meanwhile, evidence on refugees from the US has shown that, controlling for other observable characteristics, refugees who received job search assistance may be significantly more likely to be employed and have higher wages (Capps et al. 2008).

However, again most of these evaluations focus on refugees in high-income countries and existing evidence is not very promising for LMICs. Job matching programs tend to be less common in low- and middle-income countries where there is a lack of jobs in the formal sector, the informal sector is larger, and self-employment is more heavily emphasized. Some have also argued that these programs lead to job displacement rather than an increase in jobs due to reduced search costs (Fox and Kaul 2018). The little existing evidence is less promising for forced migrants in LMICs compared to high-income-countries. Female refugees in Uganda who received job search training were only slightly more likely to participate in the formal labor market, controlling for other observable characteristics, and were no more likely to become self-employed (Vemuru et al. 2016). When the Danish Refugee Council (DRC) offered job matching services in East Amman, they found it more difficult to assure sustainable jobs for refugees than for low-income Jordanians, due to the legal environment and the mismatch between refugees' skills and aspirations and the jobs accessible for them in the formal sector.²⁵ Employers, however, were more likely to recruit people who had been referred by DRC (DRC 2017). Even in low-income contexts, however, descriptive evidence suggests that giving refugees access to technologies such as the internet and refugeespecific hiring websites may help them find jobs (Hatayama 2018; UNCTAD 2018). Just informing refugees about the application documents requested by firms could also be helpful, as the stark discrepancies between what firms expect job seekers to bring along and what refugee job seekers actually bring along when applying for jobs shows (Loiacono, and Silva Vargas 2019).

Matching services cannot replace private networks and refugees and IDPs might benefit from support to build up such networks. Even if public employment agencies are successful in helping

²⁵ Career guidance and job matching services are provided for Syrian refugees in several MENA-countries (e.g. ILO 2019), but we are not aware of any rigorous evaluations. A new RCT on job search assistance for refugees in Jordan, currently in the field, will provide further evidence https://www.socialscienceregistry.org/trials/3870.

female refugees from North Korea find jobs in South Korea, Yu et al. (2012), for example, find that finding jobs through members of the host country is even more effective and leads to higher wages. This is likely even more true in low- and middle income countries, where qualitative work among refugees suggests the importance of social networks for finding work (Nichols and Jacobsen 2012c; 2012a; Barbelet 2017). Providing refugees and IDPs with networking opportunities, organizing events like job fairs and competitions with business idea pitches, and matching refugees and IDPs with mentors and broader measures to promote social integration might be promising (UNCTAD 2018), but no rigorous evaluations of such programs were found for forcibly displaced persons.

Case management, intensive coaching and individualized assistance can have positive impacts on labor market outcomes but tend to be more costly. For low- and middle-income countries there is evidence that programs which include coaching and more individualized assistance instead of standard packages seem to have positive impacts. In Rwanda, South Africa, and Tanzania, analysis of a randomized pilot of intensive case management for urban refugees was found to increase rates of employment (CWS 2018). First evidence from graduation-type programs also seem to point in this direction (see section above). These studies do, however, not tease out which part of the impact is due to counseling and coaching. For high-income countries there is some evidence on the positive role of coaching itself. An RCT with refugees and family migrants in Sweden found that the inclusion of intensive coaching and counseling through caseworkers in the immigrant integration programs significantly increased employment probability for refugee men, but not for refugee women (Andersson Joona and Nekby 2012). Studying a natural experiment with a regression discontinuity design also in Sweden, Andersson Joona et al. find that increased job coaching and individual integration plans resulted in positive effects on employment rates and earnings after two or three years (Andersson Joona, Lanninger, and Sundström 2016). In general, the evidence from high as well as low- and middle-income contexts comes from smaller-scale pilots and their cost-effectiveness is not analyzed. The positive results of coaching and counselling are, however, in line with the general findings on such interventions for other target groups. An exception is Clausen et al. (2009) which find a negative or non-significant impact of counseling and upgrading programs on the hazard rate of employment of refugees and family migrants in Denmark.

Interventions aiming to overcome spatial mismatches seem promising and need to be further tested and evaluated. The evaluation of investments to increase refugee self-reliance undertaken in Dollo Ado refugee camps in the remote Somali region of Ethiopia showed the limited impacts such investments can have in remote areas (Betts et al. 2020). Even when allowed to move freely, forced migrants might need support to actually do so. Programs providing support for transportation or housing allowances for urban centers can allow forced migrants to move to where economic opportunities are. Although these types of programs have not yet been rigorously evaluated or systematically implemented, qualitative studies have suggested that refugees do face significant barriers in accessing transportation and paying for rents in urban areas, and this creates an obstacle to employment (Bose 2014; Leghtas 2018; Beine et al. 2019). Programs aiming to overcome spatial mismatches in terms of employment opportunities have proven quite successful in other contexts (McKenzie 2017).

4.5 Subsidized employment

4.5.1 Wage subsidies in the private sector

Wage subsidies can help refugees and IDPs increase their employability by gaining destination specific work experience. One method of increasing the demand of private sector employers for refugee and IDP employees is by offering wage subsidies, which may compensate for employers' lack of

information about refugee skills and qualifications or lower productivity due to language or other barriers (Aiyar et al. 2016). These types of programs may also help refugees avoid "inactivity traps" where they are unable to find a first job in the host community due to high minimum wages (Aiyar et al. 2016). Subsidized employment interventions can help refugees and IDPs first break into the labor market and facilitate future employment. For example, data from Sweden suggests that most refugees seem to use a first job as an entry point for other jobs (Åslund, Forslund, and Liljeberg 2017). Reviewing the international experience with wage subsidies, Almeida, Orr, and Robalino (2014) find that while wage subsidies are not an effective instrument to create jobs, they can help those who have difficulties (re-)entering the labor market, like forced migrants, to improve their employability, also in developing countries. If designed appropriately, the social benefits will outweigh the costs.

The evidence on wage subsidies for refugees and other migrants in developed countries is positive in terms of increasing short-term employment, but evidence on longer-term impacts and on low- and middle-income countries are missing. The studies of wage subsidies for immigrants, including refugees, in EU countries have suggested that these policies may help immigrants find jobs faster (Konle-Seidl 2016, 40; Nekby 2008; Aiyar et al. 2016). Using the timing of events as identification strategy, Clausen et al. (2009), for example, find that wage subsidies for private sector firms in Denmark increased the speed at which refugees and family migrants found employment, while impacts of other active labor market policies were insignificant or negative in the short run. In Finland, an evaluation using propensity score matching showed that wage subsides had a positive impact on the employment probabilities of "non-Western" immigrants (Kvinge and Djuve 2006). In Denmark, wage subsidies also seem to increase employment probabilities for "non-Western" immigrants (Hardoy and Zhang 2010). Meanwhile, a metaanalysis of the previous literature on immigrants in Europe found that wage subsidies were the only active labor market policy more effective than training, and estimates of effects on employment of immigrants were mostly positive (Butschek and Walter 2014). In her review of 50 impact evaluations as well as other reviews of labor market integration of immigrants in OECD countries, Bilgili (2015) confirms these results and notes that wage subsidies seem to be especially effective when implemented quickly after arrival or unemployment. Considering other policies that affect wages of refugees, Lundborg and Skedinger evaluate the impacts of minimum wages on refugee employment using a model of the wageelasticity of refugee employment in Sweden. They find that minimum wage increases negatively affect refugee employment rates (Lundborg and Skedinger 2014). This suggests that refugee employment may also be responsive to the opposite effect, that is, if a minimum wage decreases refugee employment, a wage subsidy should increase refugee employment. There is qualitative evidence from high-income countries that other types of placement with employers (including internships or unsubsidized work programs) also have positive impacts (Ott 2013; UNHCR 2014). As wage subsidies face sustainability challenges, more studies evaluating longer term impacts on employability and evaluations covering LMIC would be needed.

Other monetary benefits for employers need to be adapted to the firms' profiles. Related to providing subsides are other monetary benefits that may be provided to firms hiring refugees or IDPs. A prominent example is 2016 EU-Jordan Compact on Syrian refugees, which included provisions allowing firms where Syrian refugees make up 25% of the workforce (15% in the first two years of the agreement) to face relaxed rules of origin when exporting to the EU. However, Temprano-Arroyo reports that, through April 2018, few firms took advantage of this opportunity, mostly due to lack of firm suitability, as only few firms are competitive exporters to the EU market, and the related jobs not being adapted to the refugees' skills and aspirations (Temprano-Arroyo 2018).

4.5.2 Cash for work, labor-intensive public works and other subsidized public sector employment

Cash for work and labor intensive public works have become popular in the context of forced displacement. Public works programs are frequently used in low- and middle-income countries to quickly generate employment, reduce poverty or mitigate shocks. They have been more commonly used

for refugees since the Syrian refugee crisis (Fratzke and Jacobsen 2016; Corser 2018). They increase participants' earnings during the time of the program and can have multiplier effects in the economy as well as growth effects through the public infrastructure they built. If programs are massive, they might also lead to a (temporary) increase in low-skilled wages which impacts also those not involved directly in the program (Blattman and Ralston 2015). Public works programs often more or less directly aim to have supply-side effects as well. They potentially allow participants to save and build up assets for future self-employment. If it is a recurring scheme, it can also serve as a form of insurance, allowing individuals to make investments with higher risks but potentially higher returns. Depending on the task, participants could also build up skills. Public work programs, however, usually only are an option for those bodily able to work. Like wage subsidies they face the issue of sustainability.

Public works programs can potentially have important positive short-term impacts in the forced displacement context. Public work programs have proven useful in contexts of natural disasters (Nagamatsu 2014). They are promising in the forced displacement context because they can have positive impacts, at least in the short-term, on income, assets and consumption even in remote and fragile regions, where refugees and IDPs are often hosted. They can also be run by donors and NGOs where refugees' access to the labor market is limited or banned. Using propensity score matching and recall questions, an evaluation of Oxfam's cash for work program in Za'atari refugee camp in Jordan finds that participation increased household wealth (assets and housing conditions) (Lombardini and Mager 2019).

The medium- to longer-term impacts seem less promising. Public works programs might be one way for refugees and IDPs to increase social networks, develop host community-specific human capital, and general preparedness for future work engagements. Participation in public work programs could also help them build up assets for future self-employment. More recent programs have made these supply-side effects more explicit and include additional measures like training and incentives to save. On the other hand, it has been argued that such programs only have short term impacts, may distort the labor market and crowd-out regular employment. Notably in high-income countries, participation might also send negative signals to future employers. There is a lack of rigorous evaluations of public works programs specifically for those forcibly displaced due to conflict and their host communities in low- and middleincome countries. The evidence base on public works programs in general has only increased in recent years. In their recent review of experimental or quasi-experimental evaluations of 15 public works programs in developing countries, Gehrke and Hartwig (2018) find that they are usually insufficient to allow participants to make productive investments afterwards, with the exception of reliable, long-term programs. Accompanying trainings do not seem to have positive impacts on employability or business earnings. They conclude that public works programs only justify the additional costs compared to cashtransfer programs if they show additional impacts on the productive capacity of the households. The evaluation of Oxfam's cash for work program in Za'atari refugee camp in Jordan confirms these results: while participation increased household wealth, it did not have any significant impacts on new skills learned (Lombardini and Mager 2019).

Impacts of public works programs on the likelihood of employment of refugees in high-income countries are also rather discouraging. The meta-analysis of different active labor market programs for immigrants in Europe found that public works programs were less effective than training and mostly had negative or insignificant impacts on employment probabilities (Butschek and Walter 2014). Reviewing rigorous impact evaluations, Bilgili (2015) also finds that subsidized public employment programs for migrants (including refugees) are less successful than wage subsidies for private sector jobs. Clausen et al. (2009) find no clear impacts of direct employment of refugees and family migrants in the public sector in Denmark on the hazard rate for regular employment.

4.6 Assuring access to markets: Value chains, making markets work for the poor, and market-based livelihood interventions

An increasing number of interventions for refugees and IDPs aims to improve access to markets. Even if those forcibly displaced might prefer being self-employed or entrepreneurs in certain contexts, those who choose to start businesses may struggle to access markets for their goods and services. For example, key constraints that refugees in Uganda face when accessing markets are a lack of access to credit/financial services and information gaps (Mercy Corps 2018). Lack of networks and information on markets are likely to be even stronger barriers for forced migrants compared to the host population. While livelihood interventions among refugees and IDPs used to focus on the supply side without taking market demand into account, they now increasingly include market and value chain assessments as well as interventions to develop market systems (Nutz 2017; Gettliffe and Rashidova 2019). Interventions aimed at increasing access to markets for those forcibly displaced may include a wide range of activities or a combination of many types of interventions. Just like economic inclusion/graduation type approaches, market system approaches are integrated approaches. As ILO outlines in their handbook on market-based livelihoods interventions for refugees, these may start with conducting market assessments and value chain analysis, and may include providing access to information about markets, improving linkages along the value chain (between input-suppliers, producers and costumers), as well as supply side interventions discussed in the sections above (like language classes, access to finance, skills training and business development services, coaching, transportation infrastructure and mobility) (Nutz 2017).

Interventions aiming to develop or strengthen links along value chains and provide information on markets, often combined with other measures, seem promising, but rigorous evaluations are needed. Although market-based and value chain types of approaches have become quite common for those forcibly displaced more recently, especially in low- and middle-income countries, handbooks and guidelines seem to be more prevalent than rigorous evaluations. So far only qualitative and descriptive evidence suggests that these programs may positively impact refugee and IDP businesses and increase their incomes. For example, a market-based approach under the ILO/UNHCR Approach to Inclusive Market Systems framework provided three services to Somali refugees in Ethiopia: (1) an information campaign to improve market coordination for livestock sales, (2) creating linkages between supply chain actors and refugee camps and host communities, and (3) a business skills training program. A qualitative evaluation of the program found that all three interventions positively impacted refugees' ability to sustain themselves through their businesses and generate larger incomes (de la Chaux and Nutz 2019). Propcom Mai-karfi, a market-based approach which includes supporting IDPs and returned IDPs in Nigeria by providing information, strengthening local market relationships, and access to finance, has reported substantially increased incomes for participants in the program over the course of their participation (Propcom Mai-karfi 2019; 2018). The literature on value chain development in other contexts also lacks rigorous evaluations but points to mostly positive impacts on the quantity and quality of jobs (Ingram and Oosterkamp 2014; Conroy and Kessler 2019). There are also attempts to support larger companies not only in hiring refugees directly but also integrating refugee owned enterprises into their supply chains. This includes companies such as IKEA and Safeway, Inc. hiring Syrian refugees in Jordan, and incorporating refugee-owned enterprises into their supply chains (Huang 2017) and Sanivation in Kenya, who employs refugees in Kakuma refugee camp (IFC and Bridgespan Group 2019). Numbers, however, seem to be small so far.

5. Conclusions, gaps and ways forward

Our review brought together two strands of literature: the evidence on how forced displacement impacts those forcibly displaced in their economic lives and the existing evidence on jobs interventions in the context of forced displacement. In addition, our paper is the first review of the literature that considers

different types of jobs interventions for refugees and IDPs implemented by different types of actors in the forced displacement context, with a specific focus on low- and middle-income countries.

Refugees and IDPs struggle more than other groups to integrate the labor market. A slowly growing body of research uncovers the specific constraints they face when integrating the labor market. They struggle with the loss of assets and are often confronted with a mismatch in terms of skills on the new labor market. The forced displacement experience might have an impact on their physical and mental health, affect their outlook on life, their risk appetite, their time-horizon and their willingness to invest. Their legal access to the labor market might be limited or banned, they might not have the freedom to move to where labor market opportunities and networks are, face restrictions on their ability to own property, land or access financial services. They usually lack social networks at destination and are confronted with a general lack of labor demand as well as discrimination. How important these obstacles are in practice depends on the individual characteristics of those forcibly displaced as well as their country of origin and destination.

Program designers and policy makers need to understand these specific barriers as well as the perspectives and aspirations of those forcibly displaced and adapt interventions accordingly. Even more so than in other contexts, thorough assessments of the demand and supply side of the labor market need to inform program design. In the past, skills programs, for example, have often not been based on an assessment of the legal framework for labor market access and the market demand at the locations where refugees and IDPs were located, which limited their possibilities for positive impacts. Jobs interventions also do not really seem to consider how the forced displacement experience impacts economic behavior and investment calculations.

The existing literature on jobs interventions for refugees and IDPs is scarce in terms of experimental or quasi-experimental evaluations. The current evidence base, notably the more rigorous work using counterfactuals, has been focused on high-income countries. Little research has been done in low- and middle-income contexts, even though the number of RCTs is slowly increasing. Most of the evidence on those forcibly displaced is focused on short-term impacts and on refugees instead of IDPs. At the same time, there is much more evidence on migrants in general, compared to forced migrants. Given these limitations, we were only able to synthesize first emerging lessons, point to factors to take into account when designing interventions and identify ideas, hypotheses and interventions worth testing.

Certain types of interventions might have larger impacts in the context of forced displacement (as they tackle specific challenges of refugees and IDPs) and other types of interventions may have smaller impacts (if they do not take the specific situation of refugees and IDPs into account). One way in which refugees and IDPs differ from other types of migrants or poverty-affected groups is their particular need to make up for the loss of assets associated with their (unplanned) migrations. In response, even more so than in other contexts, financial capital injections are important, and skills training should be linked to cash injections or access to credit to be more effective. Where relevant, this would need to include granting access to land. Because refugees are not able to choose their locations based on host community labor market needs, training programs should directly tackle this greater mismatch in terms of skills by focusing on those that need to change occupation after displacement. The implementation modalities of the trainings need to be designed in a way that allow female participants to attend, as the number of female-headed households and dependency ratios are often higher among those forcibly displaced. In addition, to address language mismatches, language training can be helpful for employment, notably if it is adapted to the education level, linked to job opportunities and does not delay labor market entry. A number of studies have shown positive impacts of short-term therapy interventions on mental health. We do, however, not know which type of support can facilitate labor force participation in particular and how it can be best integrated into broader jobs interventions. Jobs interventions in general need to understand and potentially address changes in mental health and economic behavior due to forced displacement, as they can affect risk appetite, aspirations and willingness to invest. They also need to address the potential

scaring effects of long periods of inactivity and take into account that beneficiaries might not be used to work anymore.

As we have seen above, legal frameworks are especially important in determining refugee and IDP relationships with the labor market, and any kind of program aimed at these populations must take the legal obstacles into account. As evidence from OECD countries showed, the length of waiting periods before first allowed to enter the labor market is associated with employment gaps that take many years to fill, due to scaring effects, deterioration of human capital and lower motivation. Faster certainty about the prospects of stay leads to better labor market outcomes, possibly by giving refugees a longer time horizon and incentivizing country specific investments. In addition, allocating refugees taking labor market opportunities into account or allowing them to move and settle freely has a positive impact on their labor market outcomes. Future research will be able to exploit recent changes in legal frameworks for refugees' access to the labor market in countries such as Jordan, Colombia and Ethiopia to broaden our knowledge to low- and middle-income settings.

Besides targeting the assets and human capital of forced migrants, interventions may also target potential employers of refugees and IDPs. Wage subsidies show the most promising evidence for refugees and other migrants, but evidence is limited to high-income countries. Public works programs can have important positive short-term impacts in the forced displacement context, even in very fragile and poor environments, but the medium- to longer-term impacts seem less promising. Value-chain and other market-based interventions are increasingly implemented in the context of forced displacement to increase demand for the goods and services of those self-employed, but as for public works programs, counterfactual-based evaluations are lacking. We also need more evidence on potential impacts of anti-discrimination laws and information about the rights of refugees for employers and refugees themselves.

Job search assistance or matching program are associated with positive effects on employment in highincome countries, where job opportunities in the formal sector exist. The little existing evidence on lowand middle-income countries seems less promising. Beyond public matching services, refugees and IDPs need support to build up social networks. In addition, intensive coaching and individualized assistance can have positive impacts on labor market outcomes.

As refugees and IDPs usually face multiple barriers to enter the labor market, the evidence for integrated interventions that tackle several constraints at once seems promising. Such interventions range from the combination of training with cash injections or work experience to full-fledged graduation-type of approaches. More evidence is needed to uncover the black box and understand which program elements are most effective.

Future evaluations should not only include more low- and middle-income countries and interventions working with IDPs, but also longer-term impacts. General evaluations of active labor market policies should investigate heterogeneous impacts, differentiating not only between immigrants and natives, but also between different groups of immigrants, including refugees and IDPs. Evaluating the impacts of interventions in the forced displacement context should not be limited to basic needs outcomes such as food security: evaluations should also consider employment and jobs outcomes, which may indicate a more substantive form of integration with the host community and may provide long-term benefits and sustainability. Moreover, as explored above, these interventions should also consider the quality of work, including wages and exposure to hazardous conditions, since programs such as cash transfers which show little to no effect on employment rates may have hidden positive effects in increasing quality of work conditions. Self-reliance indices might help measure impacts over time (Leeson et al. 2020; Refugee Self-Reliance Initiative 2020). More data, notably panel data, is also needed for low- and middle income countries to better understand the challenges those forcibly displaced face on the labor market.

Future research should also aim to understand how jobs interventions for host communities need to be adapted to changes in the labor markets after a forced displacement inflow. How do wages and

employment of the local population change? Who is most impacted by the inflow? How do firms adapt to the inflow? A recent review of the literature shows that the majority of studies looking at the impacts of a forced displacement inflow on host community labor market outcomes do not find significant impacts, but there is evidence that certain subgroups might be negatively or positively impacted (Verme and Schuettler 2019). Jobs interventions can help to address such potential negative impacts for host community members and seize new opportunities.

References

- Abdel-Rahim, Asha, Dany Jaimovich, and Aleksi Ylönen. 2018. "Forced Displacement and Behavioral Change: An Empirical Study of Returnee Households in the Nuba Mountains." *Defence and Peace Economics* 29 (2): 190–220. https://doi.org/10.1080/10242694.2015.1095515.
- Abu Hamad, Bassam, Nicola Jones, Fiona Samuels, Ingrid Gercama, Elizabeth Presler-Marshall, Georgia Plank, and Aida Essaid. 2017. "A Promise of Tomorrow: The Effects of UNHCR and UNICEF Cash Assistance on Syrian Refugees in Jordan." Overseas Development Institute. https://www.unhcr.org/5a1d1b7b4.pdf.
- Acarturk, C., E. Konuk, M. Cetinkaya, I. Senay, M. Sijbrandij, B. Gulen, and P. Cuijpers. 2016. "The Efficacy of Eye Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing for Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Depression among Syrian Refugees: Results of a Randomized Controlled Trial." *Psychological Medicine* 46 (12): 2583–93. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291716001070.
- Acevedo, Paloma, Guillermo Cruces, Paul Gertler, and Sebastian Martinez. 2017. "Living up to Expectations: How Job Training Made Women Better off and Men Worse Off." National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Ager, Alastair, Bree Akesson, Lindsay Stark, Eirini Flouri, Braxton Okot, Faith McCollister, and Neil Boothby. 2011. "The Impact of the School-Based Psychosocial Structured Activities (PSSA) Program on Conflict-Affected Children in Northern Uganda." *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines* 52 (11): 1124–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2011.02407.x.
- Aiyar, Shekhar, Bergljot Barkbu, Nicoletta Batini, Helge Berger, Enrica Detragiache, Allan Dizioli, Christian Ebeke, Huidan Lin, Linda Kaltani, and Sebastian Sosa. 2016. "The Refugee Surge in Europe: Economic Challenges." *National Institute Economic Review* 235 (1): F16–F31.
- Aker, Jenny. 2013. "Cash or Coupons? Testing the Impacts of Cash versus Vouchers in the Democratic Republic of Congo." *Center For Global Development*, Working Paper 320, , March. https://www.cgdev.org/publication/cash-or-coupons-testing-impacts-cash-versusvouchers-democratic-republic-congo-working.
- Alloush, Mohamad, J. Edward Taylor, Anubhab Gupta, Ruben Irvin Rojas Valdes, and Ernesto Gonzalez-Estrada. 2017. "Economic Life in Refugee Camps." *World Development* 95 (July): 334–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2017.02.030.
- Almeida, Rita, Larry Orr, and David Robalino. 2014. "Wage Subsidies in Developing Countries as a Tool to Build Human Capital: Design and Implementation Issues." *IZA Journal of Labor Policy* 3 (1): 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/2193-9004-3-12.
- Al-Shami, Salma, Rochelle Davis, Katharine Donato, Lorenza Rossi, and Elizabeth Ferris. 2019. "Access to Durable Solutions Among IDPs in Iraq: Three Years in Displacement." International Organization for Migration.

https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/IOM_Iraq_ACCESS_TO_DURABL E_SOLUTIONS_AMONG_IDPs_IN_IRAQ_THREE_YEARS_IN_DISPLACEMENT_digit al.pdf.

- Anders, Jake, Simon M. Burgess, and Jonathan Portes. 2018. "The Long-Term Outcomes of Refugees: Tracking the Progress of the East African Asians." 11609. IZA Discussion Papers. Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA).
- Andersson Joona, Pernilla, Alma W. Lanninger, and Marianne Sundström. 2016. "Reforming the Integration of Refugees: The Swedish Experience." IZA Discussion Paper 10307. Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA).

https://econpapers.repec.org/paper/izaizadps/dp10307.htm.

- Arévalo, Inés, Michelle Kaffenberger, and Aude de Montesquiou. 2018. "2018 State of the Sector: Synthesis Report." World Bank, Partnership for Economic Inclusion. https://www.findevgateway.org/library/2018-state-sector-synthesis-report.
- Åslund, Olof, Anders Forslund, and Linus Liljeberg. 2017. "Labor Market Entry of Non-Labour Migrants -- Swedish Evidence." *Nordic Economic Policy Review*, 115–58. https://doi.org/10.6027/TN2017-520.
- Åslund, Olof, and Per Johansson. 2011. "Virtues of SIN: Can Intensified Public Efforts Help Disadvantaged Immigrants?" *Evaluation Review* 35 (4): 399–427. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193841X11419282.
- Aslund, Olof, and Dan-Olof Rooth. 2007. "Do When and Where Matter? Initial Labour Market Conditions and Immigrant Earnings." *The Economic Journal* 117 (518): 422–448.
- Auer, Daniel. 2018. "Language Roulette the Effect of Random Placement on Refugees' Labour Market Integration." *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 44 (3): 341–62. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2017.1304208.
- Aydemir, Abdurrahman. 2011. "Immigrant Selection and Short-Term Labor Market Outcomes by Visa Category." *Journal of Population Economics* 24 (2): 451–475.
- Azorbo, Michelle. 2011. *Microfinance and Refugees: Lesson's Learned from UNHCR's Experience*. UNHCR, Policy Development and Evaluation Service.
- Baird, Sarah Jane, David J. Mckenzie, and Berk Ozler. 2018. "The Effects of Cash Transfers on Adult Labor Market Outcomes." WPS8404. The World Bank. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/334251523556191237/The-effects-of-cashtransfers-on-adult-labor-market-outcomes.
- Bakker, Linda, Jaco Dagevos, and Godfried Engbersen. 2014. "The Importance of Resources and Security in the Socio-Economic Integration of Refugees. A Study on the Impact of Length of Stay in Asylum Accommodation and Residence Status on Socio-Economic Integration for the Four Largest Refugee Groups in the Netherlands." *Journal of International Migration and Integration* 15 (3): 431–448.
- ———. 2017. "Explaining the Refugee Gap: A Longitudinal Study on Labour Market Participation of Refugees in the Netherlands." *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 43 (11): 1775–91. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369183X.2016.1251835.
- Bandiera, Oriana, Robin Burgess, Narayan Das, Selim Gulesci, Imran Rasul, and Munshi Sulaiman. 2017. "Labor Markets and Poverty in Village Economies." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 132 (2): 811–870.
- Banerjee, Abhijit, Esther Duflo, Nathanael Goldberg, Dean Karlan, Robert Osei, William Parienté, Jeremy Shapiro, Bram Thuysbaert, and Christopher Udry. 2015. "A Multifaceted Program Causes Lasting Progress for the Very Poor: Evidence from Six Countries." *Science* 348 (6236): 1260799.
- Banerjee, Abhijit, Dean Karlan, and Jonathan Zinman. 2015. "Six Randomized Evaluations of Microcredit: Introduction and Further Steps." *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics* 7 (1): 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1257/app.20140287.
- Banerjee, Souvik, Pinka Chatterji, and Kajal Lahiri. 2017. "Effects of Psychiatric Disorders on Labor Market Outcomes: A Latent Variable Approach Using Multiple Clinical Indicators." *Health Economics* 26 (2): 184–205. https://doi.org/10.1002/hec.3286.
- Bansak, Kirk, Jeremy Ferwerda, Jens Hainmueller, Andrea Dillon, Dominik Hangartner, Duncan Lawrence, and Jeremy Weinstein. 2018. "Improving Refugee Integration through Data-Driven Algorithmic Assignment." *Science* 359 (6373): 325–29. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aao4408.
- Barbelet, Veronique. 2017. "Livelihood Strategies of Central African Refugees in Cameroon." Working and Discussion Papers. Overseas Development Institute. https://www.odi.org/publications/10750-livelihood-strategies-central-african-refugeescameroon.

- Barth, Erling, Bernt Bratsberg, and Oddbjørn Raaum. 2004. "Identifying Earnings Assimilation of Immigrants under Changing Macroeconomic Conditions." *The Scandinavian Journal of Economics* 106 (1): 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0347-0520.2004.t01-1-00345.x.
- Bastagli, Francesca, Jessica Hagen-Zanker, Luke Harman, Valentina Barca, Georgina Sturge, and Tanja Schmidt. 2019. "The Impact of Cash Transfers: A Review of the Evidence from Low- and Middle-Income Countries." *Journal of Social Policy* 48 (3): 569–94. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0047279418000715.
- Battisti, Michele, Yvonne Giesing, and Nadzeya Laurentsyeva. 2019. "Can Job Search Assistance Improve the Labour Market Integration of Refugees? Evidence from a Field Experiment." *Labour Economics* 61: 101745.
- Battisti, Michele, Giovanni Peri, and Agnese Romiti. 2016. "Dynamic Effects of Co-Ethnic Networks on Immigrants' Economic Success." Working Paper 22389. National Bureau of Economic Research. https://doi.org/10.3386/w22389.
- Battistin, Francesca. 2016. "Lebanon Cash Consortium (LCC) Impact Evaluation of the Multipurpose Cash Assistance Programme."
- Bauer, Thomas K., Sebastian Braun, and Michael Kvasnicka. 2013. "The Economic Integration of Forced Migrants: Evidence for Post-War Germany." *The Economic Journal* 123 (571): 998–1024. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecoj.12023.
- Baum, Christopher F., Hans Thelander Lööf, and Andreas H. Stephan. 2018. "Refugee Immigrants, Occupational Sorting and Wage Gaps." 473. Royal Institute of Technology, CESIS-Centre of Excellence for Science and Innovation Studies. http://fmwww.bc.edu/EC-P/wp963.pdf.
- Beaman, Lori A. 2011. "Social Networks and the Dynamics of Labour Market Outcomes: Evidence from Refugees Resettled in the US." *The Review of Economic Studies* 79 (1): 128–161.
- Becker, Sascha O., and Andreas Ferrara. 2019. "Consequences of Forced Migration: A Survey of Recent Findings." *Labour Economics*, February. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.labeco.2019.02.007.
- Becker, Sascha O, Irena Grosfeld, Pauline Grosjean, Nico Voigtländer, and Ekaterina Zhuravskaya. 2018. "Forced Migration and Human Capital: Evidence from Post-WWII Population Transfers." Working Paper 24704. National Bureau of Economic Research. https://doi.org/10.3386/w24704.
- Bedoya, Guadalupe, Aidan Coville, Johannes Haushofer, Mohammad Isaqzadeh, and Jeremy P. Shapiro. 2019. "No Household Left Behind: Afghanistan Targeting the Ultra Poor Impact Evaluation." National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Beine, Michel, Luisito Bertinelli, Rana Cömertpay, Anastasia Litina, Jean-François Maystadt, and Benteng Zou. 2019. "Refugee Mobility: Evidence from Phone Data in Turkey." In *Guide to Mobile Data Analytics in Refugee Scenarios*, 433–49. Springer. https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&as_sdt=0%2C9&q=Refugee+Mobility%3A+Ev idence+from+Phone+Data+in+Turkey&btnG=.
- Bellamy, Catherine, Simone Hayson, Caitlin Wake, and Veronique Barbelet. 2017. "The Lives and Livelihoods of Syrian Refugees." Overseas Development Institute. https://www.odi.org/publications/10736-lives-and-livelihoods-syrian-refugees.
- Benton, Meghan, and Alex Glennie. 2016. *Digital Humanitarianism: How Tech Entrepreneurs Are Supporting Refugee Integration*. Washington, DC: Migration Policy Institute.
- Bertrand, Marianne, and Esther Duflo. 2016. "Field Experiments on Discrimination." 22014. NBER Working Papers. National Bureau of Economic Research, Inc. https://ideas.repec.org/p/nbr/nberwo/22014.html.
- Betts, Alexander, Andonis Marden, Raphael Bradenbrink, and Jonas Kaufmann. 2020. "Building Refugee Economies: An Evaluation of the IKEA Foundation's Programme in Dollo Ado -

Ethiopia." https://www.rsc.ox.ac.uk/news/building-refugee-economies-an-evaluation-of-the-ikea-foundation2019s-programme-in-dollo-ado.

- Bevelander, Pieter. 2016. "Integrating Refugees into Labor Markets." *IZA World of Labor*. https://econpapers.repec.org/article/izaizawol/journl 3ay 3a2016 3an 3a269.htm.
- Bevelander, Pieter, and Ravi Pendakur. 2014. "The Labour Market Integration of Refugee and Family Reunion Immigrants: A Comparison of Outcomes in Canada and Sweden." *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 40 (5): 689–709.
- Bevelander, Pieter, and Justus Veenman. 2006. "Naturalization and Employment Integration of Turkish and Moroccan Immigrants in the Netherlands." *Journal of International Migration and Integration / Revue de l'integration et de La Migration Internationale* 7 (3): 327–49. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12134-006-1016-y.
- Bilgili, Özge. 2015. "Evaluating Impact: Lessons Learned from Robust Evaluations of Labour Market Integration Policies." *MIPEX Project*.
- Bilgili, Özge, and Craig Loschmann. 2018. "Refugees and Host Communities in the Rwandan Labour Market." *Forced Migration Review* 58: 22–23.
- Blair, Christopher, Guy Grossman, and Jeremy M. Weinstein. 2020. "Forced Displacement and Asylum Policy in the Developing World." *Available at SSRN 3565557*.
- Blanco, Mariana, and Juan F. Vargas. 2010. "Empowering IDP with SMS: A Randomized Controlled Trial in Bogotá." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 1703556. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network. https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=1703556.
- Blattman, Christopher, Nathan Fiala, and Sebastian Martinez. 2013. "Generating Skilled Self-Employment in Developing Countries: Experimental Evidence from Uganda." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 129 (2): 697–752.
- Blattman, Christopher, Eric P. Green, Julian Jamison, M. Christian Lehmann, and Jeannie Annan. 2016. "The Returns to Microenterprise Support among the Ultrapoor: A Field Experiment in Postwar Uganda." *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics* 8 (2): 35–64.
- Blattman, Christopher, Julian C. Jamison, and Margaret Sheridan. 2016. "Reducing Crime and Violence : Experimental Evidence on Adult Noncognitive Investments in Liberia." WPS7648. The World Bank.

http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/498691467993513097/Reducing-crime-and-violence-experimental-evidence-on-adult-noncognitive-investments-in-Liberia.

- Blattman, Christopher, and Laura Ralston. 2015. "Generating Employment in Poor and Fragile States: Evidence from Labor Market and Entrepreneurship Programs." *Available at SSRN 2622220*.
- Bocquého, Geraldine, Marc Deschamps, Jenny Helstroffer, Julien Jacob, and Majlinda Joxhe. 2018. "Risk and Refugee Migration." 2018–16. Working Papers of BETA. Bureau d'Economie Théorique et Appliquée, UDS, Strasbourg. https://ideas.repec.org/p/ulp/sbbeta/2018-16.html.
- Bogic, Marija, Anthony Njoku, and Stefan Priebe. 2015. "Long-Term Mental Health of War-Refugees: A Systematic Literature Review." *BMC International Health and Human Rights* 15 (October): 29. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12914-015-0064-9.
- Bolton, Paul, Judith Bass, Theresa Betancourt, Liesbeth Speelman, Grace Onyango, Kathleen F. Clougherty, Richard Neugebauer, Laura Murray, and Helen Verdeli. 2007.
 "Interventions for Depression Symptoms among Adolescent Survivors of War and Displacement in Northern Uganda: A Randomized Controlled Trial." *JAMA* 298 (5): 519–27. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.298.5.519.
- Bolton, Paul, Catherine Lee, Emily E. Haroz, Laura Murray, Shannon Dorsey, Courtland Robinson, Ana M. Ugueto, and Judith Bass. 2014. "A Transdiagnostic Community-Based Mental Health Treatment for Comorbid Disorders: Development and Outcomes of

a Randomized Controlled Trial among Burmese Refugees in Thailand." *PLoS Medicine* 11 (11): e1001757. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001757.

- Bose, Pablo S. 2014. "Refugees in Vermont: Mobility and Acculturation in a New Immigrant Destination." *Journal of Transport Geography* 36 (April): 151–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/i.itrangeo.2014.03.016.
- Bratsberg, Bernt, Oddbjørn Raaum, and Knut Røed. 2014. "Immigrants, Labour Market Performance and Social Insurance." *The Economic Journal* 124 (580): F644–83. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecoj.12182.
- ——. 2017. "Immigrant Labor Market Integration across Admission Classes." In *Nordic Economic Policy Review*, 17–54. https://doi.org/10.6027/TN2017-520.
- Braun, Sebastian T., and Nadja Dwenger. 2020. "Settlement Location Shapes the Integration of Forced Migrants: Evidence from Post-War Germany." *Explorations in Economic History*, April, 101330. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eeh.2020.101330.
- Brenner, Reuven, and Nicholas M. Kiefer. 1981. "The Economics of the Diaspora: Discrimination and Occupational Structure." *Economic Development and Cultural Change* 29 (3): 517–534.
- Butschek, Sebastian, and Thomas Walter. 2014. "What Active Labour Market Programmes Work for Immigrants in Europe? A Meta-Analysis of the Evaluation Literature." *IZA Journal of Migration* 3 (1): 48. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40176-014-0023-6.
- Caliendo, Marco, Steffen Künn, and Frank Wießner. 2010. "Die Nachhaltigkeit von Geförderten Existenzgründungen Aus Arbeitslosigkeit: Eine Bilanz Nach Fünf Jahren." *Zeitschrift Für ArbeitsmarktForschung* 42 (4): 269–291.
- Callen, Michael, Mohammad Isaqzadeh, James D. Long, and Charles Sprenger. 2014. "Violence and Risk Preference: Experimental Evidence from Afghanistan." *American Economic Review* 104 (1): 123–48.
- Campos, Francisco, Michael Frese, Markus Goldstein, Leonardo Iacovone, Hillary C. Johnson, David McKenzie, and Mona Mensmann. 2017. "Teaching Personal Initiative Beats Traditional Training in Boosting Small Business in West Africa." *Science* 357 (6357): 1287–90. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aan5329.
- Capps, Randy, Bret Barden, Everett Henderson, and Mike Mueller. 2008. "The Evaluation of the Refugee Social Service (RSS) and Targeted Assistance Formula Grant (TAG) Programs: Houston Case Study." U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Office of Refugee Resettlement.

http://www.lewin.com/content/dam/Lewin/Resources/Site_Sections/Publications/3872.pd f.

- Card, David, Jochen Kluve, and Andrea Weber. 2018. "What Works? A Meta Analysis of Recent Active Labor Market Program Evaluations." *Journal of the European Economic Association* 16 (3): 894–931.
- Carta, M.G., F. Wallet Oumar, M.F. Moro, D. Moro, A. Preti, A. Mereu, and D. Bhugra. 2013. "Trauma- and Stressor Related Disorders in the Tuareg Refugees of a Camp in Burkina Faso." *Clinical Practice and Epidemiology in Mental Health : CP & EMH* 9 (November): 189–95. https://doi.org/10.2174/1745017901309010189.
- Cebulla, Andreas, Megan Daniel, Andrew Zurawan, Victoria Brown, Sarah Tipping, and Wojtek Tomaszewski. 2010. "Spotlight on Refugee Integration: Findings from the Survey of New Refugees in the United Kingdom." Research Report 17. UK Home Office. https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/spotlight-on-refugee-integration-findingsfrom-the-survey-of-new-refugees-in-the-united-kingdom.
- Ceriani, Lidia, and Paolo Verme. 2018. "Risk Preferences and the Decision to Flee Conflict." 8376. Policy Research Working Paper. The World Bank. https://elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/abs/10.1596/1813-9450-8376.

- Chaaban, Jad, Hala Ghattas, Nisreen Salti, Wael Moussa, Alexandra Irani, Zeina Jamaluddine, and Rima Al Mokdad. 2020. "Multi-Purpose Cash Assistance in Lebanon: Impact Evaluation on the Well-Being of Syrian Refugees." American University of Beirut Press. https://www.aub.edu.lb/fafs/agri/aedrg/Documents/AUB%20Impact%20Study_Final_print .pdf.
- Chaux, Marlen de Ia, and Nadja Nutz. 2019. "Evaluation of Market Systems Development Interventions for Refugees and Host Communities in Jijiga, Ethiopia." ILO. https://www.ilo.org/empent/Projects/refugeelivelihoods/publications/WCMS_713612/lang--en/index.htm.
- Cheung, Sin Yi, and Jenny Phillimore. 2014. "Refugees, Social Capital, and Labour Market Integration in the UK." *Sociology* 48 (3): 518–36. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038513491467.
- Chin, Aimee, and Kalena E. Cortes. 2015. "The Refugee/Asylum Seeker." In *Handbook of the Economics of International Migration*, 1:585–658. Elsevier.
- Chiswick, Barry. 2009. "The Economics of Language for Immigrants: An Introduction and Overview." The Education of Language Minority Immigrants in the United States, 72–91.
- Chiswick, Barry, and Paul W. Miller. 2007. *The Economics of Language: International Analyses*. Routledge.
 - —. 2014. Handbook of the Economics of International Migration: The Impact. Elsevier.
- Cho, Yoonyoung, and Maddalena Honorati. 2013. "Entrepreneurship Programs in Developing Countries: A Meta Regression Analysis." Discussion Paper 7333. IZA. http://ftp.iza.org/dp7333.pdf.
- Clausen, Jens, Eskil Heinesen, Hans Hummelgaard, Leif Husted, and Michael Rosholm. 2009. "The Effect of Integration Policies on the Time until Regular Employment of Newly Arrived Immigrants: Evidence from Denmark." *Labour Economics* 16 (4): 409–417.
- Clemens, Michael, Cindy Huang, and Jimmy Graham. 2018. "The Economic and Fiscal Effects of Granting Refugees Formal Labor Market Access." Center for Global Development.
- Colic-Peisker, Val, and Farida Tilbury. 2007. "Integration into the Australian Labour Market: The Experience of Three 'Visibly Different' Groups of Recently Arrived Refugees1." International Migration 45 (1): 59–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2435.2007.00396.x.
- Colussi, Tommaso. 2015. "Migrant Networks and Job Search Outcomes: Evidence from Displaced Workers."
- Connor, Phillip. 2010. "Explaining the Refugee Gap: Economic Outcomes of Refugees versus Other Immigrants." *Journal of Refugee Studies* 23 (3): 377–97. https://doi.org/10.1093/jrs/feg025.
- Conroy, K., and A. Kessler. 2019. *The Results Achieved by Programmes That Use the Market Systems Approach: A Narrative Synthesis of Current Evidence*. BEAM Exchange, accessed from www. beamexchange. org.
- Correa-Velez, Ignacio, Adrian G. Barnett, and Sandra Gifford. 2015. "Working for a Better Life: Longitudinal Evidence on the Predictors of Employment Among Recently Arrived Refugee Migrant Men Living in Australia." *International Migration* 53 (2): 321–37. https://doi.org/10.1111/imig.12099.
- Corser, Thomas. 2018. "Mapping of Stakeholders Engaged in Public Works Programmes (PWPs)."
- Cortes, Kalena E. 2004. "Are Refugees Different from Economic Immigrants? Some Empirical Evidence on the Heterogeneity of Immigrant Groups in the United States." *Review of Economics and Statistics* 86 (2): 465–480.
- CWS. 2018. "Urban Refugee Self-Reliance Pilot Program in Rwanda, South Africa and Tanzania." Church World Service Immigration and Refugee Program. http://cwsglobal.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/urban-self-reliance-report-revised-2016-02-02.pdf.

- Dagnelie, Olivier, Anna Maria Mayda, and Jean-François Maystadt. 2019. "The Labor Market Integration of Refugees in the United States: Do Entrepreneurs in the Network Help?" *European Economic Review* 111 (January): 257–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.euroecorev.2018.10.001.
- Damm, Anna Piil. 2014. "Neighborhood Quality and Labor Market Outcomes: Evidence from Quasi-Random Neighborhood Assignment of Immigrants." *Journal of Urban Economics*, Spatial Dimensions of Labor Markets, 79 (January): 139–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jue.2013.08.004.
- Damm, Anna Piil, and Michael Rosholm. 2010. "Employment Effects of Spatial Dispersal of Refugees." *Review of Economics of the Household* 8 (1): 105–146.
- Damm, Anna Piil. 2009. "Ethnic Enclaves and Immigrant Labor Market Outcomes: Quasi-Experimental Evidence." *Journal of Labor Economics* 27 (2): 281–314. https://doi.org/10.1086/599336.
- De Hoop, Jacobus, Mitchell Morey, Hannah Ring, Victoria Rothbard, and David Seidenfeld. 2019. "'Min Ila' Cash Transfer Programme for Displaced Syrian Children in Lebanon (UNICEF and WFP) Impact Evaluation Endline Report."
- De Vroome, Thomas, and Frank Van Tubergen. 2010. "The Employment Experience of Refugees in the Netherlands." *International Migration Review* 44 (2): 376–403.
- Delander, Lennart, Mats Hammarstedt, Jonas M\a ansson, and Erik Nyberg. 2005. "Integration of Immigrants: The Role of Language Proficiency and Experience." *Evaluation Review* 29 (1): 24–41.
- Dhawan, Swati Mehta. 2018. "Financial Inclusion of Germany's Refugees: Current Situation and Road Ahead."
- DRC. 2016. "Protection Monitoring Child Labour Report Syrian Refugees in Lebanon." Danish Refugee Council.

https://www.nolostgeneration.org/sites/default/files/webform/contribute_a_resource_to_n lg/353/child_labour_report_lebanon_drc_2016.pdf.

- ———. 2017. "Job Matching Services Case Study." Danish Refugee Council. https://drc.ngo/media/4281774/jordan-job-matching-services_drc-mena-online.pdf.
- Dunn, Sophia, Mike Brewin, and Aues Seck. 2013. "Final Monitoring Report of the Somalia Cash and Voucher Transfer Programme - Phase 2: April 2012-March 2013." Overseas Development Institute. https://www.odi.org/publications/7749-cash-transfer-somaliamonitoring-me.
- Dustmann, Christian, and Francesca Fabbri. 2003. "Language Proficiency and Labour Market Performance of Immigrants in the UK." *The Economic Journal* 113 (489): 695–717.
- Dustmann, Christian, Francesco Fasani, Tommaso Frattini, Luigi Minale, and Uta Schönberg. 2017. "On the Economics and Politics of Refugee Migration." *Economic Policy* 32 (91): 497–550. https://doi.org/10.1093/epolic/eix008.
- Easton-Calabria, Evan, and Naohiko Omata. 2016. "Micro-Finance in Refugee Contexts: Current Scholarship and Research Gaps." *Refugee Studies Centre*) *Working Paper Series No* 116.
- Edin, Per-Anders, Peter Fredriksson, and Olof \AAslund. 2003. "Ethnic Enclaves and the Economic Success of Immigrants—Evidence from a Natural Experiment." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 118 (1): 329–357.
- El-Zoghbi, Mayada, Nadine Chehade, Peter McConaghy, and Matthew Soursourian. 2017. *The Role of Financial Services in Humanitarian Crises*. World Bank.
- Ettner, Susan L., Richard G. Frank, and Ronald C. Kessler. 2016. "The Impact of Psychiatric Disorders on Labor Market Outcomes:" *ILR Review*, June. https://doi.org/10.1177/001979399705100105.

- Evans, William N., and Daniel Fitzgerald. 2017. "The Economic and Social Outcomes of Refugees in the United States: Evidence from the ACS." National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Evertsson, Marie, and Ann-Zofie Duvander. 2011. "Parental Leave—Possibility or Trap? Does Family Leave Length Effect Swedish Women's Labour Market Opportunities?" *European Sociological Review* 27 (4): 435–50. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcq018.
- Fallah, Belal, Caroline Krafft, and Jackline Wahba. 2019. "The Impact of Refugees on Employment and Wages in Jordan." *Journal of Development Economics* 139: 203–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2019.03.009.
- Fasani, Francesco, Tommaso Frattini, and Luigi Minale. 2018. "(The Struggle for) Refugee Integration into the Labour Market: Evidence from Europe." 11333. IZA Discussion Papers. Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA). https://ideas.repec.org/p/iza/izadps/dp11333.html.
- Fazel, Mina, Jeremy Wheeler, and John Danesh. 2005. "Prevalence of Serious Mental Disorder in 7000 Refugees Resettled in Western Countries: A Systematic Review." *Lancet* (*London, England*) 365 (9467): 1309–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(05)61027-6.
- Fiala, Nathan. 2009. "The Consequences of Forced Displacement in Northern Uganda." Households in Conflict Network.
 - -----. 2015. "Economic Consequences of Forced Displacement." *The Journal of Development Studies* 51 (10): 1275–93. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2015.1046446.
- Flowers, Jeff. 2003. "Microfinance and Internally Displaced Persons in Azerbaijan." FINCA Azerbaijan. https://www.unhcr.org/3fc47e2db.pdf.
- Fox, Louise, and Upaasna Kaul. 2018. "The Evidence Is in : How Should Youth Employment Programs in Low-Income Countries Be Designed ?" WPS8500. The World Bank. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/837861530219586540/The-evidence-is-inhow-should-youth-employment-programs-in-low-income-countries-be-designed.
- Francis, Jessica. 2019. "Coding Boot Camps for Refugees." In *Guide to Mobile Data Analytics in Refugee Scenarios*, 67–85. Springer.
- Fransen, Sonja, Isabel Ruiz, and Carlos Vargas-Silva. 2017. "Return Migration and Economic Outcomes in the Conflict Context." *World Development* 95: 196–210. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0305750X16302820?casa_token=Zv PmCNqgrk0AAAAA:FY0Uu7sZ6PtUMgFcJAMIaNgqWJZaztWg7sdIbgdJ2xIFTUjuSAAR -xpkb0axw_ccKzaxumUWYQ.
- Fransen, Sonja, Carlos Vargas-Silva, and Melissa Siegel. 2018. "The Impact of Refugee Experiences on Education: Evidence from Burundi." *IZA Journal of Development and Migration* 8 (1): 6. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40176-017-0112-4.
- Fratzke, Susan, and Karen Jacobsen. 2016. "Building Livelihood Opportunities for Refugee Populations: Lessons from Past Practice." Migration Policy Institute. https://www.migrationpolicy.org/research/building-livelihood-opportunities-refugeepopulations-lessons-past-practice.
- Frijters, Paul, David W. Johnston, and Michael A. Shields. 2014. "The Effect of Mental Health on Employment: Evidence from Australian Panel Data." *Health Economics* 23 (9): 1058–71. https://doi.org/10.1002/hec.3083.
- Fuller, Sylvia. 2015. "Do Pathways Matter? Linking Early Immigrant Employment Sequences and Later Economic Outcomes: Evidence from Canada." *International Migration Review* 49 (2): 355–405.
- Gehrke, Esther, and Renate Hartwig. 2018. "Productive Effects of Public Works Programs: What Do We Know? What Should We Know?" *World Development* 107: 111–124.
- Gettliffe, Emilie, and Sitora Rashidova. 2019. "On the Move: Women's Economic Empowerment in Contexts of Migration and Forced Displacement." Donor Committee for Enterprise

Development, Women's Economic Empowerment Working Group. https://www.enterprise-development.org/wp-content/uploads/WEEWG-WEE-Migration-FD-Scoping-Study.pdf.

- Gimenez-Nadal, Jose Ignacio, José Alberto Molina, and Edgar Silva-Quintero. 2019. "On the Relationship between Violent Conflict and Wages in Colombia." *The Journal of Development Studies* 55 (4): 473–489.
- Giordano, Nicola, Katherine Dunlop, Tamar Gabay, and Deepak Sardiwal. 2017. "Evaluation Synthesis of UNHCR's Cash Based Interventiosn in Jordan." Action Against Hunger UK's Monitoring, Evaluation and Learning Services. https://www.unhcr.org/5a5e16607.pdf.
- Giuntella, Osea, Z. L. Kone, Isabel Ruiz, and Carlos Vargas-Silva. 2018. "Reason for Immigration and Immigrants' Health." *Public Health* 158: 102–109.
- Gordon, Jennifer. 2019. "Refugees and Decent Work: Lessons Learned from Recent Refugee Jobs Compacts." Working Paper 256. Geneva: International Labour Office, Employment Policy Department.
- Grootenhuis, F, and M Calo. 2016. "Testing New Ground. Multisector Cash Interventions in Mangaize Refugee Camp Niger." *Cash Learning Partnership*, September. https://www.alnap.org/help-library/testing-new-ground-multisector-cash-interventions-inmangaize-refugee-camp-niger.
- Gwozdziewycz, Nicolas, and Lewis Mehl-Madrona. 2013. "Meta-Analysis of the Use of Narrative Exposure Therapy for the Effects of Trauma Among Refugee Populations." *The Permanente Journal* 17 (1): 70–76. https://doi.org/10.7812/TPP/12-058.
- Habib, Rima Ri. 2019. "Survey on Child Labour in Agriculture in the Bekaa Valley of Lebanon: The Case of Syrian Refugees." American University of Beirut Press. https://www.unicef.org/lebanon/media/1621/file/ChildLabourSurvey 2019.pdf.
- Hagen-Zanker, Jessica, Martina Ulrichs, and Rebecca Holmes. 2018. "What Are the Effects of Cash Transfers for Refugees in the Context of Protracted Displacement? Findings from Jordan." International Social Security Review 71 (2): 57–77.
- Hainmueller, Jens, Dominik Hangartner, and Duncan Lawrence. 2016. "When Lives Are Put on Hold: Lengthy Asylum Processes Decrease Employment among Refugees." *Science Advances* 2 (8): e1600432.
- Hardoy, Inés, and Tao Zhang. 2010. "Innvandrere i Arbeid: Hjelper Arbeidsmarkedstiltak?" Søkelys P\a a Arbeidslivet 27 (04): 343–364.
- Hassan, Billow, Stephen Mutiso, and Munshi Sulaiman. 2018. "More Cash, Bigger Impacts? A Field Experiment of Cash Transfers in Somalia□," January, 20.
- Hatayama, Maho. 2018. "ICTs and Livelihood Supports of Refugees and IDPs." *Institute of Development Studies*, November, 24.
- Hidrobo, Melissa, John Hoddinott, Amber Peterman, Amy Margolies, and Vanessa Moreira. 2014. "Cash, Food, or Vouchers? Evidence from a Randomized Experiment in Northern Ecuador." *Journal of Development Economics* 107 (March): 144–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2013.11.009.
- Hollifield, Michael, Teddy D. Warner, Nityamo Lian, Barry Krakow, Janis H. Jenkins, James Kesler, Jayne Stevenson, and Joseph Westermeyer. 2002. "Measuring Trauma and Health Status in Refugees: A Critical Review." *JAMA* 288 (5): 611–21. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.288.5.611.
- Hoop, Jacobus de, and Furio C. Rosati. 2014. "Cash Transfers and Child Labor." *World Bank* Research Observer 29 (2): 202–34.
 - https://ideas.repec.org/a/oup/wbrobs/v29y2014i2p202-234..html.
- Huang, C. 2017. "Global Business and Refugee Crises: A Framework for Sustainable Engagement." *Center for Global Development*. https://www.cgdev.org/publication/globalbusiness-and-refugee-crises.

Hvidtfeldt, Camilla, Marie Louise Schultz-Nielsen, Erdal Tekin, and Mogens Fosgerau. 2019. "An Estimate of the Effect of Waiting Time in the Danish Asylum System on Post-Resettlement Employment among Refugees:" https://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pono.0206737

https://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0206737.

- Ibáñez, Ana María. 2014. "Growth in Forced Displacement: Cross-Country, Sub-National and Household Evidence on Potential Determinants." In *International Handbook on Migration and Economic Development*. Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Ibáñez, Ana María, and Andrés Moya. 2007. "¿Cómo El Desplazamiento Forzado Deteriora El Bienestar De Los Hogares Desplazados?: Análisis Y Determinantes Del Bienestar En Los Municipios De Recepción." *Coyuntura Social*, Documentos CEDE, 37: 29–62. https://ideas.repec.org/p/col/000089/003789.html.
- ———. 2010. "Do Conflicts Create Poverty Traps? Asset Losses and Recovery for Displaced Households in Colombia." In *The Economics of Crime: Lessons for and from Latin America*, 137–172. University of Chicago Press.
- ———. 2016. "Who Stays and Who Leaves during Mass Atrocities?" In *Economic Aspects of Genocides, Other Mass Atrocities, and Their Prevention*, edited by CH Anderton and J Brauer, 137–62. New York: Oxford University Press.
- IFC, and Bridgespan Group. 2019. "Private Sector & Refugees: Pathways to Scale." International Finance Corporation, Bridgespan Group. https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/1c187356-8185-4efe-898c-b78962d30f35/201905-Private-Sector-and-Refugees.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&CVID=mH67q.e.
- ILO. 2017. "Supporting Resilient Labour Markets to Drive Inclusive Economic Growth and Decent Work for All: A Summary of Emerging Lessons Learned from ILO Syrian Crisis Interventions in Jordan, Turkey and Lebanon." International Labour Organization. https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_protect/---protrav/--migrant/documents/genericdocument/wcms_613633.pdf.
- ———. 2019. "Inclusion of Refugees and Other Displaced Persons in the Labour Market with a Humanitarian Devleopment Nexus Focus." International Labour Organization. https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---arabstates/---robeirut/documents/genericdocument/wcms_731482.pdf.
- Ingram, Verina, and Elsje Oosterkamp. 2014. "Literature Review on the Labour Market Impacts of Value Chain Development Interventions." LEI Wageningen UR.
- Ivlevs, Artjoms, and Michail Veliziotis. 2018. "Beyond Conflict: Long-Term Labour Market Integration of Internally Displaced Persons in Post-Socialist Countries." *Journal of Vocational Behavior* 105: 131–146.
- Jacobsen, Karen. 2004. "Microfinance in Protracted Refugee Situations: Lessons from the Alchemy Project." *Feinstein International Famine Center, Tufts University*.
- Jacobsen, Karen, Anastasia Marshak, Akua Ofori-Adjei, and Jane Kembabazi. 2006. "IDP LIVELIHOODS: Using Microenterprise Interventions to Support the Livelihoods of Forcibly Displaced People: The Impact of a Microcredit Program in Idp Camps in Lira, Northern Uganda." *Refugee Survey Quarterly* 25 (2): 23–39.
- Jakiela, Pamela, and Owen Ozier. 2018. "The Impact of Violence on Individual Risk Preferences: Evidence from a Natural Experiment." *The Review of Economics and Statistics* 101 (3): 547–59. https://doi.org/10.1162/rest_a_00763.
- Jakobsen, Kristian Thor, Nicolai Kaarsen, and Kristine Vasiljeva. 2017. "Does Reduced Cash Benefit Worsen Educational Outcomes of Refugee Children?" *Nordic Economic Policy Review*. https://doi.org/10.6027/TN2017-520.
- Joona, Pernilla Andersson, and Lena Nekby. 2012. "Intensive Coaching of New Immigrants: An Evaluation Based on Random Program Assignment*." *The Scandinavian Journal of Economics* 114 (2): 575–600. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9442.2011.01692.x.

J-PAL, and IPA. 2015. "Where Credit Is Due." Policy Bulletin. Abdul Latif Jameel Poverty Action Lab and Innovations for Poverty Action. https://www.povertyaction.org/sites/default/files/publications/Where-Credit-is-Due web.pdf.

Kabir, Raiyan, and Jeni Klugman. 2019. "Unlocking Refugee Women's Potential."

- Kalantari, Mehrdad, William Yule, Atle Dyregrov, Hamidtaher Neshatdoost, and S. J. Ahmadi. 2012. "Efficacy of Writing for Recovery on Traumatic Grief Symptoms of Afghani Refugee Bereaved Adolescents: A Randomized Control Trial." *Omega* 65 (2): 139–50. https://doi.org/10.2190/OM.65.2.d.
- Kananian, Schahryar, Sarah Ayoughi, Arieja Farugie, Devon Hinton, and Ulrich Stangier. 2017. "Transdiagnostic Culturally Adapted CBT with Farsi-Speaking Refugees: A Pilot Study." *European Journal of Psychotraumatology* 8 (sup2). https://doi.org/10.1080/20008198.2017.1390362.
- Kayaoglu, Aysegul, and M. Murat Erdogan. 2019. "Labor Market Activities of Syrian Refugees in Turkey." Economic Research Forum. https://erf.org.eg/publications/labor-market-activities-of-syrian-refugees-in-turkey/.
- Kluve, Jochen, Susana Puerto, David Robalino, Jose M. Romero, Friederike Rother, Jonathan Stöterau, Felix Weidenkaff, and Marc Witte. 2019. "Do Youth Employment Programs Improve Labor Market Outcomes? A Quantitative Review." *World Development* 114 (February): 237–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2018.10.004.
- Knaevelsrud, Christine, Janine Brand, Alfred Lange, Jeroen Ruwaard, and Birgit Wagner. 2015. "Web-Based Psychotherapy for Posttraumatic Stress Disorder in War-Traumatized Arab Patients: Randomized Controlled Trial." *Journal of Medical Internet Research* 17 (3): e71. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.3582.
- Kondylis, Florence. 2008. "Agricultural Outputs and Conflict Displacement: Evidence from a Policy Intervention in Rwanda." *Economic Development and Cultural Change* 57 (1): 31–66.

https://econpapers.repec.org/article/ucpecdecc/v_3a57_3ay_3a2008_3ai_3a1_3ap_3a3 1-66.htm.

- 2010. "Conflict Displacement and Labor Market Outcomes in Post-War Bosnia and Herzegovina." *Journal of Development Economics* 93 (2): 235–48. https://econpapers.repec.org/article/eeedeveco/v_3a93_3ay_3a2010_3ai_3a2_3ap_3a2 35-248.htm.
- Kondylis, Florence, and Valerie Mueller. 2014. "Economic Consequences of Conflict and Environmental Displacement." *International Handbook on Migration and Economic Development*, 388.
- Kone, Zovanga L., Isabel Ruiz, and Carlos Vargas-Silva. 2020. "Self-Employment and Reason for Migration: Are Those Who Migrate for Asylum Different from Other Migrants?" *Small Business Economics*, 1–16.
- Konle-Seidl, Regina. 2016. "Labour Market Integration of Refugees: Strategies and Good Practices," 58.
- Kumar, Samhita, and Alys Willman. 2016. "Healing Invisible Wounds and Rebuilding Livelihoods: Emerging Lessons for Combining Livelihood and Psychosocial Support in Fragile and Conflict-Affected Settings." *Journal of Public Health Policy* 37 (1): 32–50. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41271-016-0009-0.
- Kvinge, Torunn, and Anne Britt Djuve. 2006. Bruk Av Arbeidsmarkedstiltak for Ikke-Vestlige Innvandrere: Hvem Deltar, Og Hvordan Er Sysselsettingseffektene? Fafo Oslo.
- Lange-Nielsen, Ida Ingridsdatter, Silje Kolltveit, Abdel Aziz Mousa Thabet, Atle Dyregrov, St\aale Pallesen, Tom Backer Johnsen, and Jon Christian Laberg. 2012. "Short-Term Effects of a Writing Intervention among Adolescents in Gaza." *Journal of Loss and Trauma* 17 (5): 403–422.

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/15325024.2011.650128.

- Leeson, Kellie, Prem B. Bhandari, Anna Myers, and Dale Buscher. 2020. "Measuring the Self-Reliance of Refugees." *Journal of Refugee Studies* 33 (1): 86–106. https://doi.org/10.1093/jrs/fez076.
- Leghtas, Izza. 2018. "Out of Reach: Legal Work Still Inaccessible to Refugees in Jordan." Refugees International.

https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/Jordan%2BReport%2B2018%2B-%2B9.10.2018%2B-%2B647%2Bpm.pdf.

- Leghtas, Izza, and Ann Hollingsworth. 2017. "I Am Only Looking for My Rights': Legal Employment Still Inaccessible for Refugees in Turkey." Refugees International. https://www.refugeesinternational.org/reports/refugeesemploymentinturkey.
- Lehmann, M. Christian, and Daniel Masterson. 2014. "Emergency Economies: The Impact of Cash Assistance in Lebanon." International Rescue Committee.
- https://www.rescue.org/report/emergency-economies-impact-cash-assistance-lebanon. Lemaître, Georges. 2007. "The Integration of Immigrants into the Labour Market: The Case of
- Sweden." 48. OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers. OECD Publishing. https://ideas.repec.org/p/oec/elsaab/48-en.html.
- Lens, Dries, Ive Marx, and Sunčica Vujić. 2019. "Double Jeopardy: How Refugees Fare in One European Labor Market." *IZA Journal of Development and Migration* 10 (1). https://doi.org/10.2478/izajodm-2019-0008.
- Levine, Ross, and Yona Rubinstein. 2017. "Smart and Illicit: Who Becomes an Entrepreneur and Do They Earn More?" *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 132 (2): 963–1018. https://doi.org/10.1093/qje/qjw044.
- Lochmann, Alexia, Hillel Rapoport, and Biagio Speciale. 2019. "The Effect of Language Training on Immigrants' Economic Integration: Empirical Evidence from France." *European Economic Review* 113: 265–296.
- Loiacono, Francesco, and Mariajose Silva Vargas. 2019. "Improving Access To Labour Markets for Refugees: Evidence from Uganda." https://www.theigc.org/wpcontent/uploads/2019/10/LoiaconoSilvaVargas-Final-Report5.pdf.
- Lombardini, Simone, and Franziska Mager. 2019. "Livelihoods in the Za'atari Camp: Impact Evaluation of Oxfam's Cash for Work Activities in the Za'atari Camp (Jordan)."
- LoPalo, Melissa. 2019. "The Effects of Cash Assistance on Refugee Outcomes." *Journal of Public Economics* 170 (February): 27–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2018.11.004.
- Lukasiewicz, Karolina. 2017. "Exile to Poverty: Policies and Poverty Among Refugees in Poland." *International Migration* 55 (6): 56–72. https://doi.org/10.1111/imig.12356.
- Lund, Crick, Mary De Silva, Sophie Plagerson, Sara Cooper, Dan Chisholm, Jishnu Das, Martin Knapp, and Vikram Patel. 2011. "Poverty and Mental Disorders: Breaking the Cycle in Low-Income and Middle-Income Countries." *The Lancet* 378 (9801): 1502–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60754-X.
- Lundborg, Per, and Per Skedinger. 2014. "Minimum Wages and the Integration of Refugee Immigrants." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 2476418. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network. https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=2476418.
- MacPherson, Claire, and Olivier Sterck. 2019. "Humanitarian vs. Development Aid for Refugees: Evidence from a Regression Discontinuity Design." 2019–15. CSAE Working Paper. Centre for the Study of African Economies.

https://www.csae.ox.ac.uk/materials/papers/csae-wps-2019-15.pdf.

- Marbach, Moritz, Jens Hainmueller, and Dominik Hangartner. 2018. "The Long-Term Impact of Employment Bans on the Economic Integration of Refugees." *Science Advances* 4 (9): 7.
- Martén, Linna, Jens Hainmueller, and Dominik Hangartner. 2019. "Ethnic Networks Can Foster the Economic Integration of Refugees." *Proceedings of the National Academy of*

Sciences of the United States of America 116 (33): 16280–85. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1820345116.

- Martin, Iván, Albert Arcarons, Jutta Aumüller, Pieter Bevelander, Henrik Emilsson, Sona Kalantaryan, Alastair Maciver, et al. 2016. "From Refugees to Workers : Mapping Labour Market Integration Support Measures for Asylum-Seekers and Refugees in EU Member States. Volume II : Literature Review and Country Case Studies." https://doi.org/10.11586/2016003.
- Mason, Ben. 2018. Tech Jobs for Refugees: Assessing the Potential of Coding Schools for Refugee Integration in Germany. Brussels: Migration Policy Institute Europe. www. migrationpolicy. org.
- Matijasevic, Maria Teresa, Liliana Velásquez, Carolina Villada, and Monica Ramírez. 2007. "Moving out of Poverty: Understanding Freedom, Growth and Democracy from the Bottom-Up." *National Synthesis Report, Colombia, Centro de Estudios Regionales Cafeteros y Empresariales, Manizales, Colombia.*
- McEwen, B. S., and R. M. Sapolsky. 1995. "Stress and Cognitive Function." *Current Opinion in Neurobiology* 5 (2): 205–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/0959-4388(95)80028-x.
- McKenzie, David. 2017. "How Effective Are Active Labor Market Policies in Developing Countries? A Critical Review of Recent Evidence." *The World Bank Research Observer* 32 (2): 127–154.
- McKenzie, David, and Christopher Woodruff. 2013. "What Are We Learning from Business Training and Entrepreneurship Evaluations around the Developing World?" *The World Bank Research Observer* 29 (1): 48–82.
- Mejia-Mantilla, Carolina, Besufekad Alemu, Johanna Fajardo, and Nobuo Yoshida. 2019. "Informing the Refugee Policy Response in Uganda. Results from the Uganda Refugee and Host Communities 2018 Household Survey." Washington, DC: World Bank Group.
- Mercy Corps. 2018. "Refugee Markets Brief: The Power of Markets to Support Refugee Economic Opportunities in West Nile, Uganda." Mercy Corps. https://www.mercycorps.org/sites/default/files/WestNileRefugeeMarketsBrief_MercyCorp s_Feb2018_1.pdf.
- Ministerio de Justicia y Seguridad Pública. 2018. "Caracterización de La Movilidad Interna a Causa de La Violencia En El Salvador: Informe Final." Ministerio de Justicia y Seguridad Pública El Salvador.
- Moya, Andrés. 2018. "Violence, Psychological Trauma, and Risk Attitudes: Evidence from Victims of Violence in Colombia." *Journal of Development Economics* 131: 15–27.
- Moya, Andrés, and Michael R. Carter. 2019. "Violence and the Formation of Hopelessness: Evidence from Internally Displaced Persons in Colombia." *World Development* 113 (C): 100–115. https://ideas.repec.org/a/eee/wdevel/v113y2019icp100-115.html.
- Moya, Andrés, Suzanne Duryea, and Carolina Gonzalez-Velosa. 2018. "Psychological Trauma, Skills and Income: Evidence from Young Victims of Violence." In http://jobsanddevelopmentconference.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/amoya s5rB.pdf.
- Munshi, Kaivan. 2003. "Networks in the Modern Economy: Mexican Migrants in the U. S. Labor Market." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 118 (2): 549–99. https://econpapers.repec.org/article/oupqjecon/v_3a118_3ay_3a2003_3ai_3a2_3ap_3a 549-599..htm.
- Nagamatsu, Shingo. 2014. "Are Cash For-Work (CFW) Programs Effective to Promote Disaster Recovery? Evidence from the Case of Fukushima Prefecture." *Journal of Disaster Research* 9 (2): 161–175.
- Nekby, Lena. 2008. Active Labor Market Programs for the Integration of Youths and Immigrants into the Labor Market: The Nordic Experience. CEPAL.
- Neuner, Frank, Patience Lamaro Onyut, Verena Ertl, Michael Odenwald, Elisabeth Schauer, and Thomas Elbert. 2008. "Treatment of Posttraumatic Stress Disorder by Trained Lay

Counselors in an African Refugee Settlement: A Randomized Controlled Trial." *Journal* of Consulting and Clinical Psychology 76 (4): 686.

- Neuner, Frank, Margarete Schauer, Christine Klaschik, Unni Karunakara, and Thomas Elbert. 2004. "A Comparison of Narrative Exposure Therapy, Supportive Counseling, and Psychoeducation for Treating Posttraumatic Stress Disorder in an African Refugee Settlement." *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 72 (4): 579.
- Nichols, Rebecca Furst, and Karen Jacobsen. 2012a. "Refugee Livelihoods in Urban Areas: Case Study Ecuador." Feinstein International Center, Tufts University. http://fic.tufts.edu/publication-item/refugee-livelihoods-in-urban-areas-case-studyecuador/.
 - ——. 2012b. "Refugee Livelihoods in Urban Areas: Case Study Egypt." Feinstein International Center. http://fic.tufts.edu/publication-item/refugee-livelihoods-in-urban-areas-casestudy-egypt/.
 - ——. 2012c. "Refugee Livelihoods in Urban Areas: Case Study Israel." Feinstein International Center, Tufts University. http://fic.tufts.edu/publication-item/refugee-livelihoods-in-urbanareas-case-study-israel/.
- Nourse, Timothy H. 2003. "Microfinance for Refugees Emerging Principles for Effective Implementation." *Microfinance and Refugees*.
- Nutz, Nadja. 2017. "A Guide to Market-Based Livelihood Interventions for Refugees." Project documentation. ILO. http://www.ilo.org/empent/Projects/refugee-livelihoods/WCMS 634395/lang--en/index.htm.
- OECD. 2011. "Naturalisation: A Passport for the Better Integration of Immigrants?" Text. OECD Publishing. https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/social-issues-migration-health/naturalisation-apassport-for-the-better-integration-of-immigrants_9789264099104-en.
- ———. 2014. "International Migration Outlook 2014." Text. https://doi.org/10.1787/migr_outlook-2014-en.
- ———. 2016a. *Making Integration Work: Refugees and Others in Need of Protection*. Paris: OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264251236-en.
- ———. 2016b. Working Together: Skills and Labour Market Integration of Immigrants and Their Children in Sweden - En - OECD. Paris: OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264257382-en.
- Olivetti, Claudia, and Barbara Petrongolo. 2017. "The Economic Consequences of Family Policies: Lessons from a Century of Legislation in High-Income Countries." *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 31 (1): 205–30. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.31.1.205.
- Ott, Eleanor. 2013. "The Labour Market Integration of Resettled Refugees." UNHCR Evaluation Reports. UN High Commissioner for Refugees. https://www.refworld.org/docid/5294b1935a8.html.
- Ott, Eleanor, and Paul Montgomery. 2013. "Interventions to Improve the Economic Self-Sufficiency and Well-Being of Resettled Refugees: A Systematic Review." In , 9:1–36. Campbell Systematic Reviews. https://doi.org/10.1002/cl2.113.
- Papadopoulou, Aspasia, Barbara Treviranus, Torsten Moritz, and Christine Marie Fandrich. 2013. "Comparative Study on the Best Practices for the Integration of Resettled Refugees in the EU Member States - Think Tank." European Parliament. http://www.europarl.europa.eu/thinktank/en/document.html?reference=IPOL-LIBE_ET(2013)474393.
- Pape, Utz Johann, Benjamin Petrini, and Syedah Aroob Iqbal. 2018. "Informing Durable Solutions by Micro-Data : A Skills Survey for Refugees in Ethiopia." 128185. The World Bank. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/996221531249711200/Informingdurable-solutions-by-micro-data-a-skills-survey-for-refugees-in-Ethiopia.
- Pape, Utz Johann, Ambika Sharma, Taies Nezam, Benjamin Petrini, Menaal Fatima Ebrahim, Jacob Udo-Udo, Felix Konstantin Appler, et al. 2019. "Volume B : Country Case

Studies." 136740. The World Bank.

http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/968141557465726421/Volume-B-Country-Case-Studies.

Patel, Krishna, and Francis Vella. 2013. "Immigrant Networks and Their Implications for Occupational Choice and Wages." *The Review of Economics and Statistics* 95 (4): 1249–77.

https://econpapers.repec.org/article/tprrestat/v_3a95_3ay_3a2013_3ai_3a4_3ap_3a124 9-1277.htm.

- Pavanello, Sara. 2018. "Multi-Purpose Cash and Sectoral Outcomes: Greece Case Study." UN High Commissioner for Refugees. http://www.cashlearning.org/downloads/multipurpose-cash-and-sectoral-outcomes---greece-case-study.pdf.
- Peckham, David, Emma Wallace, Colin Wilby, and James Noble. 2004. *The Impact of Home Office Funded Services for Refugees: Findings from an Exploratory Survey of Clients*. Home Office.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/265001340_The_impact_of_Home_Office_fun ded_services_for_refugees_findings_from_an_exploratory_survey_of_clients.

Porter, Matthew, and Nick Haslam. 2005. "Predisplacement and Postdisplacement Factors Associated with Mental Health of Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons: A Meta-Analysis." *JAMA* 294 (5): 602–12. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.294.5.602.

Propcom Mai-karfi. 2018. "Propcom Mai-Karfi: Lessons Learned, 2012–2017." http://www.propcommaikarfi.org/wp-

content/uploads/2018/07/Propcom_Lessons_Learned_WEB_FINAL.pdf. —. 2019. "Propcom Mai-Karfi's Annual Highlights: 2018-19."

http://www.propcommaikarfi.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Propcom-Mai-karfi-2018-Annual-Programme-Highlights.pdf.

Quattrochi, John, Ghislain Bisimwa, Tyler Thompson, Peter Van der Windt, and Maarten Voors. 2019. "The Effects of Vouchers for Essential Household Items on Child Health, Mental Health, Resilience, and Social Cohesion among Internally Displaced Persons in the Democratic Republic of Congo." 3ie. https://www.3ieimpact.org/sites/default/files/2020-03/IE107-TW6.1043-Humanitarian-DRC.pdf.

Refugee Self-Reliance Initiative. 2020. "Self-Reliance Index Version 2.0: Indicators to Measure Progress Towrads Self-Reliance." https://www.refugeeselfreliance.org/self-relianceindex?deliveryName=DM66626.

Rosholm, Michael, and Rune Vejlin. 2010. "Reducing Income Transfers to Refugee Immigrants: Does Start-Help Help You Start?" *Labour Economics* 17 (1): 258–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.labeco.2009.09.004.

- Rossin-Slater, Maya. 2017. "Maternity and Family Leave Policy." Working Paper 23069. National Bureau of Economic Research. https://doi.org/10.3386/w23069.
- Ruiz, Isabel, and Carlos Vargas-Silva. 2013. "The Economics of Forced Migration." *The Journal of Development Studies* 49 (6): 772–84. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2013.777707.
 - ——. 2018. "Differences in Labour Market Outcomes between Natives, Refugees and Other Migrants in the UK." *Journal of Economic Geography* 18 (4): 855–85. https://doi.org/10.1093/jeg/lby027.
- Sarvimäki, Matti. 2017. "Labor Market Integration of Refugees in Finland." *Nordic Economic Policy Review*, 91–114. https://doi.org/10.6027/TN2017-520.
- Sarvimäki, Matti, Roope Uusitalo, and Markus Jäntti. 2009. "Long-Term Effects of Forced Migration." 4003. IZA Discussion Papers. Institute for the Study of Labor (IZA).
- Savoca, Elizabeth, and Robert Rosenheck. 2000. "The Civilian Labor Market Experiences of Vietnam-Era Veterans: The Influence of Psychiatric Disorders." *The Journal of Mental Health Policy and Economics* 3 (4): 199–207. https://doi.org/10.1002/mhp.102.

- Schultz-Nielsen, Marie Louise. 2017. "Labor Market Integration of Refugees in Denmark." In *Nordic Economic Policy Review*, 55–90. https://doi.org/10.6027/TN2017-520.
- Schulz, Priscilla M., Patricia A. Resick, L. Christian Huber, and Michael G. Griffin. 2006. "The Effectiveness of Cognitive Processing Therapy for PTSD with Refugees in a Community Setting." *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice* 13 (4): 322–331.
- Searight, H. Russell, and Julie A. Armock. 2013. "Foreign Language Interpreters in Mental Health: A Literature Review and Research Agenda." *North American Journal of Psychology* 15 (1).
- Shaw, Stacey A., and Mallory Funk. 2019. "A Systematic Review of Social Service Programs Serving Refugees." *Research on Social Work Practice*, January, 1049731518824405. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049731518824405.
- Siegel, Melissa, Craig Loschmann, Katrin Marchand, Nassim Majidi, and Camille Hennion. 2012. *Evaluation of the UNHCR Shelter Assistance Programme*. Maastricht University, Samuel Hall. https://www.unhcr.org/589301777.pdf.
- Simon, Claire. 2018. "Setting the Stage: What We Know (and Don't Know) about the Effects of Cash-Based Interventions on Gender Outcomes in Humanitarian Settings." In *Collected Papers on Gender and Cash Transfer Programming*. Cash Learning Parternship. http://www.cashlearning.org/downloads/resources/Other/genderandctpun-women.pdf.
- Slotwinski, Michaela, Alois Stutzer, and Roman Uhlig. 2019. "Are Asylum Seekers More Likely to Work with More Inclusive Labor Market Access Regulations?" *Swiss Journal of Economics and Statistics* 155 (1): 17.
- Sonderegger, Robi, Sacha Rombouts, Benson Ocen, and Reyelle Sarah McKeever. 2011. "Trauma Rehabilitation for War-Affected Persons in Northern Uganda: A Pilot Evaluation of the EMPOWER Programme." *British Journal of Clinical Psychology* 50 (3): 234–49. https://doi.org/10.1348/014466510X511637.
- Spadarotto, Claudio, Maria Bieberschulte, Katharina Walker, Michael Morlok, and Andrea Oswald. 2014. "Erwerbsbeteiligung von Anerkannten Flüchtlingen Und Vorläufig Aufgenommenen Auf Dem Schweizer Arbeitsmarkt." *KEK-CDC Consultants and B, S, S. on Behalf of the Federal Office of Migration*.
- Srour, Ilina, and Jad Chaaban. 2017. "Market Research Study on the Development of Viable Economic Subsectors in Lebanon." Leaders for Sustainable Livelihoods. https://data2.unhcr.org/en/documents/download/69775.
- Stark, Lindsay, Willyanne DeCormier Plosky, Rebecca Horn, and Mark Canavera. 2015. "He Always Thinks He Is Nothing': The Psychosocial Impact of Discrimination on Adolescent Refugees in Urban Uganda." *Social Science & Medicine* 146 (December): 173–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.10.045.
- Stark, Lindsay, Ilana Seff, Asham Assezenew, Jennate Eoomkham, Kathryn Falb, and Fred M. Ssewamala. 2018. "Effects of a Social Empowerment Intervention on Economic Vulnerability for Adolescent Refugee Girls in Ethiopia." *Journal of Adolescent Health*, Economic Strengthening and Adolescent Health, 62 (1, Supplement): S15–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.06.014.
- Steel, Zachary, Tien Chey, Derrick Silove, Claire Marnane, Richard A. Bryant, and Mark van Ommeren. 2009. "Association of Torture and Other Potentially Traumatic Events with Mental Health Outcomes among Populations Exposed to Mass Conflict and Displacement: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." JAMA 302 (5): 537–49. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2009.1132.
- Steinhardt, Max Friedrich. 2012. "Does Citizenship Matter? The Economic Impact of Naturalizations in Germany." *Labour Economics* 19 (6): 813–823.
- Temprano-Arroyo, Heliodoro. 2018. "Promoting Labour Market Integration of Refugees with Trade Preferences: Beyond the EU-Jordan Compact." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID

3293829. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network. https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=3293829.

- Torosyan, Karine, Norberto Pignatti, and Maksym Obrizan. 2018. "Job Market Outcomes of IDPs: The Case of Georgia." 11301. IZA Discussion Papers. http://ftp.iza.org/dp11301.pdf.
- Trickle Up. 2017. "Graduation in an Urban Refugee Context: A Technical Guide." New York: UNHCR and Trickle Up. http://refugees.trickleup.org/wpcontent/uploads/2017/10/UNHCR-Graduation-in-an-Urban-Refugee-Context-A-

Technical-Guide.pdf.

UNCTAD. 2018. "Policy Guide on Entrepreneurship for Migrants and Refugees." United Nations Conference on Trade and Development.

https://unctad.org/en/pages/PublicationWebflyer.aspx?publicationid=2274.

UNESCO. 2018. "A Lifeline to Learning: Leveraging Technology to Support Education for Refugees." United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/in/documentViewer.xhtml?v=2.1.196&id=p::usmarcdef_0000 261278&file=/in/rest/annotationSVC/DownloadWatermarkedAttachment/attach_import_f 0bd49d7-366c-45b4-b2bf-

7cd143e6bc36%3F_%3D261278eng.pdf&locale=en&multi=true&ark=/ark:/48223/pf0000 261278/PDF/261278eng.pdf#%5B%7B%22num%22%3A124%2C%22gen%22%3A0%7 D%2C%7B%22name%22%3A%22XYZ%22%7D%2C0%2C842%2C0%5D.

UNHCR. 2014. "Towards a New Beginning: Refugee Integration in Ireland." UN High Commissioner for Refugees. https://www.refworld.org/docid/52ca8a6d4.html.

——. 2017a. "Economic Inclusion of the Poorest Refugees: Building Resilience Through the Graduation Approach." UN High Commissioner for Refugees. https://www.findevgateway.org/library/economic-inclusion-poorest-refugees-building-

resilience-through-graduation-approach. ———. 2017b. "UNHCR Cash Assistance: Improving Refugees' Lives and Supporting Local Economics." UN High Commissioner for Refugees.

http://www.cashlearning.org/resources/library/1075-unhcr-cash-assistance-improving-refugees-lives-and-supporting-local-

economies?keywords=refugee®ion=all&country=all&year=2017&organisation=all&se ctor=all&modality=all&language=all&payment_method=all&document_type=all&searche d=1&pSection=resources&pTitle=library¤tpage=2.

- ———. 2018a. "Microfinance Programmes in UNHCR Operations Innovative Microlending in Kenya – Kiva Zip & RefugePoint." UN High Commissioner for Refugees. https://www.unhcr.org/54edf4479.pdf.
- ------. 2018b. "In Focus: Child Labour in Lebanon." UN High Commissioner for Refugees, Inter-Agency Coordination. https://data2.unhcr.org/en/documents/download/67049.

———. 2019. "Global Trends - Forced Displacement in 2018." United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. https://www.unhcr.org/globaltrends2018/.

- UNHCR, and Beit Al Karma Consulting Egypt. 2016. "Mid-Term Evaluation of UNHCR Graduation Programme in Egypt (2015)." UN High Commissioner for Refugees. https://www.unhcr.org/research/evalreports/57a4a6e14/mid-term-evaluation-unhcrgraduation-programme-egypt-2015.html.
- UNHCR, and ILO. 2019. "Doing Business in Dadaab, Kenya." Report. International Labour Organization, United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. http://www.ilo.org/empent/Projects/refugee-livelihoods/publications/WCMS_696142/lang--en/index.htm.
- UNHCR, and Trickle Up. 2016a. "Graduation Model: Pilot Project 2014-2016, UNHCR Costa Rica." https://trickleup.org/wp-

content/uploads/2017/05/2016_UNHCR_Costa_Rica_Final_Evaluation.pdf.

 2016b. "A Review of UNHCR's Graduation Program: Santo Domingo de Los Tsáchilas, Ecuador," October, 58.

- UNICEF, and IDMC. 2019. "Protecting and Supporting Internally Displaced Children in Urban Settings." Internal Displacement Monitoring Centre. https://www.unicef.org/media/56191/file/Protecting%20the%20rights%20of%20internally %20displaced%20children.pdf.
- Valli, Elsa, Amber Peterman, Melissa Hidrobo, and Unicef. 2018. "Economic Transfers and Social Cohesion in a Refugee-Hosting Setting." Innocenti Working Paper. Florence: UNICEF Office of Research-Innocenti.
- Vemuru, Varalakshmi, Yonatan Yehdego Araya, Endashaw Tadesse Gossa, Charles Kalu Kalumiya, Dismas Rugason Nkunda, Faisal Buyinza, Joseph Okumu, and Karoline Hilde Klose. 2016. "An Assessment of Uganda's Progressive Approach to Refugee Management." 107235. The World Bank.

http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/259711469593058429/An-assessment-of-Ugandas-progressive-approach-to-refugee-management.

- Verme, Paolo, and Kirsten Schuettler. 2019. "The Impact of Forced Displacement on Host Communities: A Review of the Empirical Literature in Economics." Policy Research Working Papers. The World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-8727.
- Verwimp, Philip, and Juan Carlos Muñoz-Mora. 2018. "Returning Home after Civil War: Food Security and Nutrition among Burundian Households." *Journal of Development Studies* 54 (6): 1019–40. https://ideas.repec.org/a/taf/jdevst/v54y2018i6p1019-1040.html.
- Voors, Maarten J., Eleonora EM Nillesen, Philip Verwimp, Erwin H. Bulte, Robert Lensink, and Daan P. Van Soest. 2012. "Violent Conflict and Behavior: A Field Experiment in Burundi." *American Economic Review* 102 (2): 941–64.
- Weine, Stevan M., Alma Dzubur Kulenovic, Ivan Pavkovic, and Robert Gibbons. 1998. "Testimony Psychotherapy in Bosnian Refugees: A Pilot Study." *American Journal of Psychiatry* 155 (12): 1720–1726.
- Wharton, Kate, and Ruth Úwaifo Oyelere. 2011. "Conflict and Its Impact on Educational Accumulation and Enrollment in Colombia: What We Can Learn from Recent IDPs."
- White, Ana Guglielmelli. 2011. *In the Shoes of Refugees: Providing Protection and Solutions for Displaced Colombians in Ecuador*. Research Paper 217. UNHCR, Policy Development and Evaluation Service. https://www.unhcr.org/4e4bd6c19.html.
- World Bank. 2012. *World Development Report 2013 : Jobs*. The World Bank. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/263351468330025810/World-development-report-2013-jobs.
 - . 2013. "Lebanon Economic and Social Impact Assessment of the Syrian Conflict." 81098. The World Bank.

http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/925271468089385165/Lebanon-Economicand-social-impact-assessment-of-the-Syrian-conflict.

- ------. 2017. "Forcibly Displaced : Toward a Development Approach Supporting Refugees, the Internally Displaced, and Their Hosts." 117479. The World Bank. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/104161500277314152/Forcibly-displaced-toward-a-development-approach-supporting-refugees-the-internally-displaced-and-their-hosts.
- World Bank, and UNHCR. 2020. "Understanding the Socioeconomic Conditions of Refugees in Kalobeyei, Kenya." https://www.unhcr.org/ke/wp-

content/uploads/sites/2/2020/04/Kalobeyei_Socioeconomic-Report-1.pdf.

Yu, Shi-Eun, Byung-Yeon Kim, Woo-Taek Jeon, and Seung-Ho Jung. 2012. "Determinants of Labor Market Participation and Wages of North Korean Female Refugees in South Korea." Asian Economic Policy Review 7 (1): 113–29. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-3131.2012.01224.x.

- Zetter, Roger. 1996. "Refugee Survival and NGO Project Assistance: Mozambican Refugees in Malawi." *Community Development Journal* 31 (3): 214–29. https://doi.org/10.1093/cdj/31.3.214.
- Zetter, Roger, and Héloïse Ruaudel. 2016. "Refugees' Right to Work and Access to Labor Markets" KNOMAD Working Paper and Study Series (September). https://www.rsc.ox.ac.uk/publications/refugees-right-to-work-and-access-to-labormarkets-an-assessment-part-1.
- Zetter, Roger, Héloïse Ruaudel, and Kirsten Schuettler. 2017. "Refugees' Right to Work and Access to Labor Markets." KNOMAD. https://www.knomad.org/publication/refugees-right-work-and-access-labor-markets.

Annex: List of papers on evaluations of employment interventions in the context of forced displacement.

Table A1: Compiled papers

Title	Authors	Institution or Journal	Date	Host Country	Origin Country	Refugee or IDP?	Intervention type	Outcomes studied	Methodology
				Repeated	transfer progr	ams			
More Cash, Bigger Impacts? A Field Experiment of Cash Transfers in Somalia	Hassan, Mutiso, and Sulaiman	Save the Children	2018	Somalia	Somalia	IDP	Unconditional cash transfers (repeated), Unconditional cash transfers (grants)	Entrepreneurship or self- employment, Basic needs, Education, Earnings, Health, Debt reduction and access to financial institutions or lines of credit	Experimental / Randomized Control Trials
Cash, food, or vouchers? Evidence from a randomized experiment in northern Ecuador	Hidrobo et al	Journal of Development Economics	2014	northern Ecuador	Colombia	Refugee	Unconditional cash transfers (repeated), Vouchers or food stamps, In-kind food transfers	Basic needs, Consumption, Expenditure	Experimental / Randomized Control Trials
The effects of vouchers for essential household items on child health, mental health, resilience and social cohesion among internally displaced persons in the Democratic Republic of Congo	Quattrochi et al	3ie	2020	Democratic Republic of the Congo	Democratic Republic of the Congo	IDP	Vouchers or food stamps	Basic needs, Community or social tensions	Experimental / Randomized Control Trials
Economic Transfers and Social Cohesion in a Refugee- hosting Setting	Valli, Peterman, and Hidrobo	UNICEF	2018	Ecuador	Colombia	Refugee	Vouchers or food stamps, Unconditional cash transfers (repeated)	Non-measurable reported improvements in wellbeing, Community or social tensions,	Experimental / Randomized Control Trials

Cash or Coupons? Testing the Impacts of Cash versus Vouchers in the Democratic Republic of Congo - Working Paper 320	Aker	Center for Institutional Development	2013	Democratic Republic of Congo	Democratic Republic of Congo	IDP	Vouchers or food stamps, Unconditional cash transfers (repeated)	Expenditure, Consumption, Basic needs, Earnings, Sources of income	Experimental / Randomized Control Trials
Reducing income transfers to refugee immigrants: Does start-help help you start?	Rosholm and Vejilin	Labour Economics	2010	Denmark	Various, the most common of which are Iraq, Somalia, and the former Yugoslavia	Refugee	Conditional cash transfers (repeated)	How long until first employment in host country	Instrumental variables and regression discontinuity
Humanitarian vs. Development Aid for Refugees: Evidence from a Regression Discontinuity Design	MacPherson and Sterk	CSAE	2019	Kenya	South Sudan, Ethiopia, Burundi, the DRC, Uganda, Sudan, Somalia	Refugee	In-kind food transfers, Market-based or value chains interventions, Unconditional cash transfers (repeated), Enterprise development/self- employment assistance	Basic needs, Expenditure, Social assistance dependence, Non- measurable reported improvements in wellbeing	Instrumental variables and regression discontinuity
Impact Evaluation of the Multipurpose Cash Assistance Programme	Battistin	Lebanon Cash Consortium	2016	Lebanon	Syria	Refugee	Needs-based cash transfers (repeated)	Basic needs, Expenditure, Debt reduction and access to financial institutions or lines of credit, Sources of income, Non- measurable reported improvements in wellbeing, Community or social tensions	Instrumental variables and regression discontinuity
Emergency economies: The impact of cash assistance in Lebanon	Lehmann and Masterson	International Rescue Committee	2014	Lebanon	Syria	Refugee	Other in-kind transfer, Unconditional cash transfers (repeated)	Basic needs, Expenditure, Debt reduction and access to financial institutions or lines of credit, Consumption,	Instrumental variables and regression discontinuity

								Sources of income, Education, Non- measurable reported improvements in wellbeing	
Multi-purpose Cash Assistance in Lebanon: Impact Evaluation on the Well-Being of Syrian Refugees	Chaaban et al.	American University of Beirut	2020	Lebanon	Syria	Refugee	Unconditional cash transfers (repeated)	Basic needs, Expenditure, Education, Employment rates, Sources of income, Health, Debt reduction and access to financial institutions or lines of credit	Instrumental variables and regression discontinuity
"Min Ila" Cash Transfer Programme for Displaced Syrian Children in Lebanon (UNICEF and WFP)	de Hoop et al	UNHCR	2018	Lebanon	Syria	Refugee	Unconditional cash transfers (repeated)	Education, Basic needs, Non- measurable reported improvements in wellbeing, Health	Instrumental variables and regression discontinuity
Does reduced cash benefit worsen educational outcomes of refugee children?	Jakobsen, Kaarsen, and Vasiljeva	Nordic Council of Ministers	2017	Denmark	Various including Afghanistan, Iraq, and Somalia	Refugee	Unconditional cash transfers (repeated)	Education, Sources of income, Employment rates, Social assistance dependence	Instrumental variables and regression discontinuity
Evaluation of the UNHCR Shelter Assistance Programme	Siegel et al	Masstricht University, Samuel Hall	2012	Afghanistan	Afghanistan	IDP	Other in-kind transfer, Subsidized housing	Poverty rate, Basic needs, Community or social tensions, Entrepreneurship or self- employment	Differences in differences
The effects of cash assistance on refugee outcomes	LoPalo	Journal of Public Economics	2019	United States	Various, the most common of which are Cuba, the	Refugee	Needs-based cash transfers	Earnings, Education, Social assistance	Multivariate regression

					former Soviet Union, Bosnia and Herzegovina, and Somalia			dependence, Employment rates	
Determinants of Labor Market Participation and Wages of North Korean Female Refugees in South Korea	Yu, Kim, Jeon, and Jung	Asian Economic Policy Review	2012	South Korea	North Korea	Refugee	Needs-based cash transfers, Vocational or skills training or apprenticeships	Employment rates, Earnings	Multivariate regression
The Evaluation of the Refugee Social Service (RSS) and Targeted Assistance Formula Grant (TAG) Programs: Houston Case Study	Capps et al		2008	United States	Various, with the most common being Cuba	Refugee	Unconditional cash transfers (repeated), Unconditional cash transfers (grants), Subsidized housing, Language training, Job search assistance	Social assistance dependence, Sources of income, Employment rates, How long until first employment in host country, Earnings	Multivariate regression
Economic Life in Refugee Camps	Alloush et al.	World Development	2017	Rwanda	DRC	Refugee	In-kind food transfers, Unconditional cash transfers (repeated)	Consumption, Sources of income, Basic needs	Multivariate regression
Evaluation Synthesis of UNHCR's Cash Based Interventions in Jordan	Giordano et al	UNHCR	2017	Jordan	Syria	Refugee	Needs-based cash transfers, Unconditional cash transfers (repeated)	Basic needs, Non- measurable reported improvements in wellbeing, Expenditure, Health, Education, Earnings	Multivariate regression
Exile to Poverty: Policies and Poverty Among Refugees in Poland	Lukasiewicz	International Migration	2017	Poland	Chechnya (Russia)	Refugee	Needs-based cash transfers, Language training, Vocational or skills training or apprenticeships	Basic needs, Consumption, Non-measurable reported improvements in wellbeing, Community or social tensions	Qualitative
What Are the Effects of Cash	Hagen-Zanker et al	International Social Security Review	2018	Jordan	Syria	Refugee	Unconditional cash transfers (repeated)	Employment rates, Education,	Qualitative

Transfers for Refugees in the Context of Protracted Displacement? Findings from Jordan.								Health, Non- measurable reported improvements in wellbeing, Sources of income	
Multi-purpose Cash and Sectoral outcomes: Greece Case study	Pavanello	UNCHR	2018	Greece	Various, the most common of which are Syria, Iraq, and Afghanistan	Refugee	Unconditional cash transfers, Language training	Basic needs, Employment rates, Health, Education	Qualitative
Testing New Ground: Multisector Cash Interventions in Mangaize Refugee Camp, Niger	Grootenhuis and Calo	Cash Learning Partnership	2016	Niger (Mangaize refugee camp)	Mali	Refugee	Vouchers or food stamps, Unconditional cash transfers (grants), In-kind food transfers, Other in- kind transfer	Entrepreneurship or self- employment, Sources of income	Qualitative
The impact of Home Office funded services for refugees: findings from an exploratory survey of clients	Peckham et al	British Home Office	2004	UK	Various	Refugee	Needs-based cash transfers, Language training, Subsidized housing, Job search assistance	Employment rates, Basic needs, Earnings, Non- measurable reported improvements in wellbeing, Community or social tensions	Descriptive
UNHCR Cash Assistance: Improving refugees lives and supporting local economies	UNHCR	UNHCR	2016	Jordan	Syria	Refugee	Unconditional cash transfers (repeated)	Non-measurable reported improvements in wellbeing, Expenditure, Sources of income, Education	Descriptive
Final monitoring report of the Somalia cash and voucher transfer programme - Phase 2: April 2012-March 2013	Dunn, Brewin, and Scek	Overseas Development Institute	2013	South Central Somalia	South Central Somalia	IDP	Unconditional cash transfers (repeated), Vouchers or food stamps	Consumption, Expenditure, Basic needs	Descriptive
Labour Market Integration of	Konle-Seidl and Bolits	European Parliament	2016	focus on Scandinavia	focus on Scandinavia	Refugee	Needs-based cash transfers, Conditional	Employment rates, How long	Review

Refugees: Strategies and good practices		Directorate General for Internal Policies					cash transfers, Legal right to work, Language training, Job search assistance, wage subsidies	until first employment in host country, Earnings, Health, Community or social tensions	
Setting the Stage: What we know (and don't know) about the effects of cash-based interventions on gender outcomes in humanitarian settings	Simon	UN Women	2018	Various	Various	Refugee, IDP	Unconditional cash transfer, Vouchers or food stamps	Health, Community or social tensions, Employment rates, Debt reduction and access to financial institutions or lines of credit	Review
The Effects of Cash Transfers on Adult Labor Market Outcomes	Baird, McKenzie, and Ozler	World Bank	2018	Various	Various	Refugee	Unconditional cash transfers (repeated), Unconditional cash transfers (grants), Conditional cash transfers (repeated), Needs-based cash transfers, Enterprise development/self- employment assistance	Employment rates, Underemployment / Seasonality of employment, Entrepreneurship or self- employment, Earnings, Consumption	Review
				One-off transj	fers (grant o	r credit)			
Final Report: Mid-Term Evaluation of UNHCR Graduation Programme in Egypt	UNHCR and Beit Al Karma Consulting Egypt	UNHCR	2016	Egypt	Syria	Refugee	Graduation- type/productive inclusion	Entrepreneurship or self- employment, Earnings, Employment rates	Instrumental variables and regression discontinuity
Economic Inclusion of the Poorest Refugees	UNHCR	UNHCR	2016	general program outline, Egypt, Costa Rica	Various	Refugee	Graduation- type/productive inclusion	Entrepreneurship or self- employment, Earnings, Employment rates	Pre-post
Graduation Model Pilot project 2014- 2016: UNHCR Costa Rica	UNHCR and TrickleUp	UNHCR	2016	Costa Rica	Colombia	Refugee	Graduation- type/productive inclusion	Entrepreneurship or self- employment, Earnings, Employment	Pre-post

A Review of UNHCR's Graduation Program: Santo Domingo de los Tsáchilas, Ecuador	UNHCR and TrickleUp	UNHCR/TrickleUp	2016	Ecuador	Colombia	Refugee	Graduation- type/productive inclusion	rates, Community or social tensions Earnings, Sources of income, Consumption, Basic needs, Community or social tensions, Non-measurable reported improvements in wellbeing, Debt reduction and access to financial institutions or lines of credit	Pre-post, difference in differences
A promise of tomorrow The effects of UNHCR and UNICEF cash assistance on Syrian refugees in Jordan	Abu Hamad et al	ODI	2017	Jordan	Syria	Refugee	Conditional cash transfers (grants), Unconditional cash transfers (repeated), Vouchers or food stamps	Expenditure, Employment rates, Earnings, Health, Education, Basic needs, Community or social tensions, Non-measurable reported improvements in wellbeing	Simple difference
IDP Livelihoods: Using Microenterprise Interventions to Support the Livelihoods of Forcibly Displaced People	Jacobsen et al	Refugee Survey Quarterly	2006	Uganda	Uganda	IDP	Microfinance/microcredit	Debt reduction and access to financial institutions or lines of credit, Expenditure	Simple difference
Microfinance and Internally Displaced Persons in Azerbaijan	Flowers	FINCA	2003	Azerbaijan	Azerbaijan	IDP	Microfinance/microcredit	Entrepreneurship or self- employment, Debt reduction and access to financial institutions or lines of credit	Qualitative
Microfinance for Refugees: Emerging Principles for Effective Implementation	Nourse	UNHCR	2003	refugees in Guinea, returned refugees	Sierra Leone	Refugee	Microfinance/microcredit	Entrepreneurship or self- employment	Qualitativ
---	--------------------------------------	--------------------------------------	-----------	--	-----------------	-----------------	--	---	------------------------
Financial Inclusion of Germany's Refugees: Current Situation and Road Ahead	Dhawan	European Microfinance Network	2018	Germany	Various	Refugee	Microfinance/microcredit	Entrepreneurship or self- employment, Debt reduction and access to financial institutions or lines of credit	Qualitati
The Role of Financial Services in Humanitarian Crises	El-Zoghbi et al	CGAP	2017	Various	Various	Refugee, IDP	Microfinance/microcredit	Debt reduction and access to financial institutions or lines of credit	Descripti
Using Microfinance Interventions to Support the Livlihoods of Forcibly Displaced People: The Impact of a Microcredit Program in IDP Camps in Lira, Northern Uganda	Jacobsen et al	Feinstein International Center	2006	Uganda	Various	Refugee, IDP	Microfinance/microcredit, other training	Entrepreneurship or self- employment	Descripti
Micro-finance in refugee contexts: current scholarship and research gaps	Easton- Calabria and Omata	Refugee Studies Centre	2016	Various	Various	Refugee	Microfinance/microcredit	Debt reduction and access to financial institutions or lines of credit, Entrepreneurship or self- employment	Review
		Vocational	l, busine	ss and other	skills training	g, and rec	ognition of skills		
Working for a Better Life: Longitudinal Evidence on the Predictors of	Correa-Velez, Barnett, Gifford	International Migration	2013	Australia	Various	Refugee	Vocational or skills training or apprenticeships	Employment rates	Multivari regressio

Employment Among Recently Arrived Refugee Migrant Men Living in Australia									
Informing the Refugee Policy Response in Uganda. Results from the Uganda Refugee and Host Communities 2018 Household Survey	Mejia-Mantilla et al	World Bank	2019	Uganda	Various, the most common of which are South Sudan, the DRC, Burundi, Somalia, Rwanda	Refugee	Vocational or skills training or apprenticeships	Earnings	Multivariate regression
Do conflicts create poverty traps? Asset Losses and Recovery for Displaced Households in Colombia	Ibanez and Moya	The Economics of Crime: Lessons for and from Latin America	2010	Colombia	Colombia	IDP	Vocational or skills training or apprenticeships, Enterprise development/self- employment assistance, Unconditional cash transfers (grants)	Sources of income	Multivariate regression
Refugee Livelihoods in Urban Areas: Case Study Ecuador	Nichols and Jacobsen	Tufts Feinstein International Center	2012	Ecuador	Colombia	Refugee	Enterprise development/self- employment assistance, Microfinance/microcredit, Vocational or skills training or apprenticeships , Job search assistance	Basic needs, Employment rates, Sources of income	Qualitative
Refugee Survival and NGO Project Assistance: Mozambican Refugees in Malawi	Zetter	Community Development Journal	1996	Malawi	Mozambique	Refugee	Enterprise development/self- employment assistance, Vocational or skills training or apprenticeships	Basic Needs, Consumption, Sources of income, Entrepreneurship or self- employment	Qualitative
Tech Jobs for Refugees: Assessing the Potential of Coding Schools for Refugee	Mason	Migration Policy Institute	2018	Germany	Various including Syria	Refugee	Vocational or skills training or apprenticeships	Employment rates, Community or social tensions	Qualitative

Integration in Germany									
Coding Boot Camps for Refugees.	Francis	Guide to Mobile Data Analytics in Refugee Scenarios The 'Data for Refugees Challenge' Study	2019	Germany, Jordan, and Iraq	Various	Refugee, IDP	Vocational or skills training or apprenticeships	Employment rates	Qualitative
Refugee Livelihoods in Urban Areas: Case Study Israel	Nichols and Jacobsen	Tufts Feinstein International Center	2012	Israel	Various including Sudan and Eritrea	Refugee	Vocational or skills training or apprenticeships , Healthcare	Employment rates, Sources of income, Entrepreneurship or self- employment, Basic needs	Qualitative
Refugee Livelihoods in Urban Areas: Case Study Egypt	Nichols and Jacobsen	Tufts Feinstein International Center	2012	Egypt	Sudan, South Sudan, Iraq, Somalia, Eritrea, and Ethiopia	Refugee	Vocational or skills training or apprenticeships , Microfinance/microcredit, Language training, Healthcare, Needs-based cash transfers	Sources of income, Community or social tensions, Non-measurable reported improvements in wellbeing, Basic needs, Health, Education, Employment rates, Entrepreneurship or self- employment	Qualitative
ICTs and Livelihood Supports of Refugees and IDPs	Hatayama	UK Institute of Development Studies	2018	Various	Various	Refugee, IDP	Unconditional cash transfers, Microfinance/microcredit, Vocational or skills training or apprenticeships, Language training	Debt reduction and access to financial institutions or lines of credit, Earnings, Employment rates, Formality of employment	Review
Building Livelihood Opportunities for Refugee Populations:	Fratzke and Jacobsen	Migration Policy Institute	2016	Various	Various	Refugee	Vocational or skills training or apprenticeships, Unconditional cash transfers, "vouchers or	Social assistance dependence, Employment rates, Entrepreneurship	Review

Lessons from Past Practice							food stamps, Microfinance/microcredit	or self- employment	
				Lang	guage training				
Integration of Immigrants: The Role of Language Proficiency and Experience	Delander et al	Labor Economics	2005	Sweden	Various	Refugee	Language training, Vocational or skills training or apprenticeships	Employment rates, How long until first employment in host country	Matching
Spotlight on refugee integration: findings from the Survey of New Refugees in the United Kingdom	Cebulla et al	UK Home Office	2010	United Kingdom	Various, with the most common being Eritrea and Somalia	Refugee	Language training	Employment rates, Basic needs,	Multivariate regression, Differences in differences
The Labour Market Integration of Refugee and Family Reunion Immigrants: A Comparison of Outcomes in Canada and Sweden	Bevelander and Pendakur	Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies	2014	Canada, Sweden	Iran, Iraq, Afghanistan, and the former Yugoslavia	Refugee	Language training, resettlement policies, job search assistance	Employment rates, Earnings	Multivariate regression
Labour market entry of nonlabour migrants – Swedish evidence	Aslund, Forslund, and Lijeberg	Nordic Council of Ministers	2017	Sweden	Various including Iraq, Iran, Tukrey, South America, Horn of Africa, Arabic peninsula/North Africa, and South and central Africa	Refugee	Language training, Vocational or skills training or apprenticeships , Wage subsidies	How long until first employment in host country, Earnings, Employment rates	Multivariate regression
The Effect of Integration Policies on the Time until Regular Employment of Newly Arrived Immigrants:	Clausen et al	Labour Economics	2009	Denmark	Various, with the most common being Afghanistan, the former Yugoslavia, Turkey, and Somalia	Refugee	Language training, Wage subsidies, Psychosocial support, Job search assistance	How long until first employment in host country	Multivariate regression

Evidence from Denmark									
Towards a New Beginning: Refugee Integration in Ireland	UNHCR	UNHCR	2014	Ireland	Various	Refugee	Language training, Legal right to work or anti- discrimination	Community or social tensions, Basic needs, Employment rates	Qualitative
The Integration of immigrants into the labour market: the case of sweden	Lemaitre	OECD	2007	Sweden	Various	Refugee	Language training, Needs-based cash transfers (repeated), Resettlement policies, Legal right to work and work permits or anti- discrimination	Employment rates, How long until first employment in host country	Review
Working Together: Skills and Labour Market Integration of Immigrants and their Children in Sweden	OECD	OECD	2016	Sweden	Various	Refugee	Language training, other training, Wage subsidies	Employment rates, Education	Review
The labour market integration of resettled refugees	Ott	UNHCR	2013	Australia, Canada, New Zealand, Sweden, UK, and USA	Various	Refugee	Language training, Vocational or skills training or apprenticeships, Enterprise development/self- employment assistance	Employment rates, Earnings, Poverty rate, Underemployment / Seasonality of employment, Formality of employment, Sources of income, Employment satisfaction, How long until first employment in host country	Review
Active labor market programs for the integration of youths and immigrants into the labor market.	Nekby	UN CEPAL	2008	Scandinavia	Various	Refugee	Language training, Wage subsidies, Job search assistance	Employment rates, Underemployment / Seasonality of employment	Review

The Nordic experience From Refugees to Workers: Mapping Labour Market Integration Support Measures for Asylum- Seekers and Refugees in EU Member States	Martin et al	Migration Policy Centre, Bertelsmann Stiftung	2016	EU	Various	Refugee	Language training, Wage subsidies, Unconditional cash transfers (repeated)	Employment rates, Underemployment / Seasonality of employment	Review
			Не	althcare and	d psychosocia	al support			
A Comparison of Narrative Exposure Therapy, Supportive Counseling, and Psychoeducation for Treating Posttraumatic Stress Disorder in an African Refugee Settlement.	Neuner et al	Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology	2004	Uganda	Sudan	Refugee	Healthcare	Health	Experimental / Randomized Control Trials
The impact of the school-based Psychosocial Structured Activities (PSSA) program on conflict-affected children in Northern Uganda.	Ager et al.	J Child Psychol Psychiatry	2011	Uganda	Uganda	IDP	Psychosocial support	Non-measurable reported improvements in wellbeing	Experimental / Randomized Control Trials
Interventions for depression symptoms among adolescent survivors of war and displacement in northern Uganda: a	Bolton et al.	JAMA	2007	Uganda	Uganda	IDP	Psychosocial support	Health	Experimental / Randomized Control Trials

randomized controlled trial.									
The efficacy of eye movement desensitization and reprocessing for post-traumatic stress disorder and depression among Syrian refugees: results of a randomized controlled trial.	Acarturk et al.	Psychol Med	2016	Turkey	Syria	Refugee	Psychosocial support	Health	Experimen / Randomiz Control Tri
A transdiagnostic community-based mental health treatment for comorbid disorders: development and outcomes of a randomized controlled trial among Burmese refugees in Thailand.	Bolton et al.	PLoS Med	2014	Thailand	Myanmar	Refugee	Psychosocial support	Health	Experimen / Randomiz Control Tri
Short-Term Effects of a Writing Intervention Among Adolescents in Gaza	Lange-Nielsen et al.	Journal of Loss and Trauma	2012	West Bank and Gaza	Various	Refugee	Psychosocial support	Health	Experimen / Randomiz Control Tri
Treatment of posttraumatic stress disorder by trained lay counselors in an African refugee settlement: A randomized controlled trial.	Neuner et al.	Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology	2008	Uganda	Somalia and Rwanda	Refugee	Psychosocial support	Health	Experimer / Randomiz Control Tr

Effects of a Social Empowerment Intervention on Economic Vulnerability for Adolescent Refugee Girls in Ethiopia	Stark et al	Journal of Adolescent Health	2018	Ethiopia	Various, the most common of which are Sudan and South Sudan	Refugee	Psychosocial support, other training	Education, Employment rates, Sources of income	Experimental / Randomized Control Trials
Meta-Analysis of the Use of Narrative Exposure Therapy for the Effects of Trauma Among Refugee Populations	Gwozdziewycz and Mehl- Madrona	The Permanente Journal	2013	Various including Uganda and Germany	Various including Sudan, Somalia, Turkey, the Balkans, Syria, Chechnya, Russia, Georgia, Georgia, Germany, Rwanda	Refugee	Healthcare	Health	Multivariate regression
Trauma rehabilitation for war-affected persons in northern Uganda: A pilot evaluation of the EMPOWER programme	Sonderegger et al.	British Journal of Clinical Psychology	2011	Uganda	Uganda	IDP	Psychosocial support	Health	Multivariate regression
Efficacy of writing for recovery on traumatic grief symptoms of Afghani refugee bereaved adolescents: a randomized control trial.	Kalantari et al.	Omega	2012	Iran	Afghanistan	Refugee	Psychosocial support	Health	Multivariate regression
The Effectiveness of Cognitive Processing Therapy for PTSD with	Schultz et al	Cognitive and Behavioral Practice	2006	United States	Afghanistan and Bosnia- Herzegovina	Refugee	Healthcare	Health	Pre-post

Refugees in a Community Setting Testimony									
Psychotherapy in Bosnian Refugees: A Pilot Study	Weine et al	American Journal of Psychiatry		United States	Bosnia and Herzegovina	Refugee	Healthcare	Health	Pre-post
				Lege	al framework				
Empowering IDP with SMS: A Randomized Controlled Trial in Bogotá	Blanco and Vargas	Households in Co Network	nflict	Colombia	Colombia	IDP	ICT/information	Non-measurable reported improvements in wellbeing	Experimental / Randomized Control Trials
Employment Effects of Dispersal Policies on Refugee Immigrants: Empirical Evidence	Damm and Rosholm	Review of Economics of the Household	2005	Denmark	Various, with the most common being Bosnia- Herzegovina, Iraq, Iran, and Lebanon	Refugee	Resettlement policies	How long until first employment in host country	Matching
(The Struggle for) Refugee Integration into the Labour Market: Evidence from Europe	Fasani et al	CEPR	2018	EU	Various	Refugee	Resettlement policies	Employment rates	Differences in differences
Do When and Where Matter? Initial Labour Market Conditions and Immigrant Earnings	Aslund and Rooth	The Economic Journal	2007	Sweden	Various, with most common being Iran, Iraq, Ethiopia, and Chile	Refugee	Resettlement policies	Employment rates, Earnings	Multivariate regression, Instrumental variables and regression discontinuity
The employment experience of refugees in the Netherlands	De Vroome and Van Tubergen	International Migration Review	2010	Netherlands	Various, with the most common being Afghanistan, Iraq, Iran, the Former Yugoslavia, and Somalia	Refugee	Legal right to work and work permits or anti- discrimination	Employment rates	Multivariate regression

When lives are put on hold: Lengthy asylum processes decrease employment among refugees	Hainmueller et al	Science Advances	2016	Switzerland	Various	Refugee	Legal right to work and work permits or anti- discrimination	Employment rates	Multivariate regression
An estimate of the effect of waiting time in the Danish asylum system on post-resettlement employment among refugees:	Hvidtfeldt et al	PLOS One	2018	Denmark	Various, with the most common being Iraq, Afghanistan, and Somalia	Refugee	Legal right to work and work permits or anti- discrimination	Employment rates, How long until first employment in host country	Multivariate regression
The long-term impact of employment bans on the economic integration of refugees	Marbach, Hainmueller, and Hangartner	Science Advances	2018	Germany	the former Yugoslavia, Serbia, Montenegro, and Kosovo	Refugee	Legal right to work and work permits or anti- discrimination	Employment rates	Multivariate regression
Are asylum seekers more likely to work with more inclusive labor market access regulations?	Slotwinski et al	Swiss Journal of Economics and Statistics		Switzerland	Various including Eritrea, Sri Lanka, Syria, Afghanistan, China, and Turkey	Refugee	Legal right to work and work permits or anti- discrimination	Employment rates	Multivariate regression
Ethnic enclaves and the economic success of immigrants Evidence from a natural experiment	Edin et al	The Quarterly Journal of Economics	2003	Sweden	Various, with the most common being Iran, Chile, Ethiopia, Romania, and Poland	Refugee	Resettlement policies	Earnings	Multivariate regression
Ethnic Networks Can Foster the Economic Integration of Refugees	Marten et al	Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America	2019	Switzerland	Various, the most common of which are Eritrea, China, Afghanistan, and Somalia	Refugee	Resettlement policies	Employment rates	Multivariate regression
Language roulette – the effect of random	Auer	Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies	2017	Switzerland	Various including Africa, Asia,	Refugee	Resettlement policies, Language training	How long until first employment	Multivariate regression

placement on refugees' labour market integration					Balkans, Near East, and rest of the world			in host country, Employment rates	
The importance of resources and security in the socio-economic integration of refugees	Bakker et al	Journal of International Migration and Integration	2014	Netherlands	Afghanistan, Iraq, Iran, and Somalia	Refugee	Resettlement policies, Psychosocial support	Health, Employment rates, Social assistance dependence, Underemployment / Seasonality of employment	Multivariate regression
Improving refugee integration through data- driven algorithmic assignment	Bansak et al	Science	2018	United States	Various including Myanmar, Iraq, Bhutan, Somalia, and Afghanistan	Refugee	Resettlement policies	Employment rates	Simulation
Promoting Labour Market Integration of Refugees with Trade Preferences: Beyond the EU- Jordan Compact	Тетргапо- Аггоуо	Robert Schuman Centre for Advanced Studies Migration Policy Centre	2018	Jordan	Syria	Refugee	Legal right to work and work permits or anti- discrimination	Employment rates	Qualitative
Refugees' Right to Work and Access to Labor Markets – An Assessment	Zetter and Ruaudel	KNOMAD	2016	Bangladesh, Chad, Ethiopia, Ecuador, Germany, India, the Islamic Republic of Iran, Italy, Jordan, Kenya, Lebanon, Pakistan, South Africa, Sudan, Turkey, Uganda, the	Various	Refugee	Legal right to work or anti-discrimination	Employment rates, Employment satisfaction, Underemployment / Seasonality of employment, Sources of income	Qualitative

				United Kingdom, the United States, República Bolivariana de Venezuela, and Zambia					
An Assessment of Uganda's Progressive Approach to Refugee Management	Vemuru et al	WB/UNHCR	2016	Uganda	Rwanda, Burundi, the DRC, Somalia, Ethiopia, Eritrea, and South Sudan	Refugee	Legal right to work or anti-discrimination, Job search assistance	Employment rates, Debt reduction and access to financial institutions or lines of credit	Qualitative
The lives and livelihoods of Syrian refugees	Bellamy et al	Overseas Development Institute	2017	Turkey, Jordan	Syria	Refugee	Legal right to work or anti-discrimination, Needs-based cash transfers, Language training, Vocational or skills training or apprenticeships	Basic needs, Employment rates, Employment satisfaction, Community or social tensions, Earnings, Formality of employment	Qualitative
Out of Reach: Legal Work Still Inaccessible to Refugees in Jordan	Leghtas	Refugees International	2018	Jordan	Syria, Sudan, Iraq, and Somalia	Refugee	Legal right to work, Vocational or skills training or apprenticeships	Employment rates, Entrepreneurship or self- employment	Qualitative
Comparative study on the best practices for the integration of resettled refugees in the EU Member States	Papadopoulou et al	European Parliament's Committee on Civil Liberties, Justice and Home Affairs	2013	EU	Various	Refugee	Resettlement policies	Employment rates, Community or social tensions	Qualitative
The Economic and Fiscal Effects of Granting Refugees Formal Labor Market Access	Clemens, Huang, and Graham	CGDEV	2018	Various	Various	Refugee	Legal right to work and work permits or anti- discrimination	Earnings, employment rates, Community or social tensions	Review
Supporting Resilient Labour Markets to Drive	ILO	ILO	2017	Jordan, Turkey, and Lebanon	Syria	Refugee	Legal right to work or anti-discrimination, Job search assistance,	Employment rates, Entrepreneurship	Review

Inclusive Economic Growth and Decent Work for All: A Summary of Emerging Lessons Learned from ILO Syrian Crisis Interventions in Jordan, Turkey and Lebanon.							Vocational or skills training or apprenticeships , Market- based or value chains interventions	or self- employment	
			Job se	earch assistar	nce, matching a	and coach	hing		
Can job search assistance improve the labour market integration of refugees? Evidence from a field experiment	Battisti et al	Labour Economics	2019	Germany	Various, with the most common being Afghanistan, Nigeria, and Syria	Refugee	Job search assistance	Employment rates, Earnings	Experimental / Randomized Control Trials
Intensive Coaching of New Immigrants: An Evaluation Based on Random Program Assignment	Joona and Nekby	The Scandinavian Journal of Economics	2012	Sweden	Various, with the most common being Iraq, Somalia, Serbia and Montenegro, and Syria	Refugee	Job search assistance	Employment rates, Education	Experimental / Randomized Control Trials
Reforming the Integration of Refugees: The Swedish Experience	Andersson Joona, Lanninger, and Sudstrom	IZA	2016	Sweden	Various, with most common being Somalia, Iraw, Eritrea, and Afghanistan	Refugee	Job search assistance, Wage subsidies, Needs- based cash transfers	Employment rates, Earnings	Instrumental variables and regression discontinuity
Virtues of SIN: Can Intensified Public Efforts Help Disadvantaged Immigrants?	Aslund and Johansson	Evaluation Review	2011	Sweden	Various	Refugee	Job search assistance	Employment rates, How long until first employment in host country	Differences in differences
Urban Refugee Self-Reliance Pilot Program in Rwanda, South	CWS	Church World Service		Rwanda, South Africa, Tanzania	In Rwanda: Burundi, the Democratic Republic of the	Refugee	Job search assistance	Employment rates, Entrepreneurship or self-	Simple difference

Africa and Tanzania					Congo, and Afghanistan. In South Africa: the DRC, Burundi, Somalia, and Zimbabwe In Tanzania: the DRC, Burundia, Syria, Kenya, Lebanon, Uganda, and Somalia			employment, Underemployment / Seasonality of employment	
Job Matching Services Case Study	DRC	DRC	2017	Jordan	Syria, Sudan, Mauritania, Iraq, Somalia, and Yemen	Refugee	Job search assistance	Sources of income, Formality of employment, Earnings	Qualitative
				Wa	ige subsidies				
Minimum Wages and the Integration of Refugee Immigrants	Lundborg and Skedinger	Institute of Industrial Economics	2014	Sweden	Various	Refugee	Minimum wage	Employment rates, Underemployment / Seasonality of employment	Multivariate regression
The Refugee Surge in Europe: Economic Challenges	Aiyar et al	IMF	2016	European Union	Various	Refugee	Wage subsidies, job search assistance, other training	Employment rates, Earnings, Employment satisfaction	Simple difference
			Sı	ıbsidized pu	blic sector emp	ployment			
Livelihoods in the Za'atari Camp: Impact evaluation of Oxfam's Cash for Work activities in the Za'atari camp	Lombardini and Mager	Oxfam	2019	Jordan	Syria	Refugee	Direct employment or cash for work	Expenditure, Sources of income, Community or social tensions	Matching
Are Cash for Work (CFW) Programs Effective to Promote Disaster Recovery? Evidence from	Nagamatsu	Journal of Disaster Research	2014	Japan	Japan	IDP	Direct employment or cash for work	Non-measurable reported improvements in wellbeing	Multivariate regression, Simple difference

Fukushima Prefecture									
Global Business and Refugee Crises	Huang	Center for Global Development	2017	Various	Various	Refugee	Direct employment or cash for work	Employment rates, Earnings, Basic needs, Sources of income	Qualitative
			Access	s to markets	s / value chain i	interventi	ons		
Building Refugee Economies: An evaluation of the IKEA Foundation's programme in Dollo Ado - Ethiopia	Betts et al.	Refugee Studies Centre	2020	Ethiopia	Somalia	Refugee	Microfinance/microcredit, Job search assistance, Market-based or value chains interventions, Vocational or skills training or apprenticeships	Health, Earnings, Basic needs, Social assistance dependence	Multivariate regression
Refugee Markets Brief: The Power of Markets to Support Refugee Economic Opportunities in West Nile, Uganda	Mercy Corps	Mercy Corps	2017	Uganda	Various including South Sudan	Refugee	Market-based or value chains interventions	Earnings, Entrepreneurship or self- employment	Qualitative
A Guide to Market-Based Livelihood Interventions for Refugees	Nutz	UNHCR	2019	Various	Various	Refugee	Market-based or value cl	hains interventions	Qualitative
Private Sector & Refugees: Pathways to Scale	IFC and Br	idgespan Group	2019	Various	Various	Refugee, IDP	Market-based or value chains interventions	Entrepreneurship or self- employment	Qualitative
Evaluation of Market Systems Development Interventions for Refugees and Host Communities in Jijiga, Ethiopia	Chaux and Nutz	ILO	2019	Ethiopia	Somalia	Refugee	Market-based or value chains interventions, Enterprise development/self- employment assistance	Sources of income, Entrepreneurship or self- employment	Qualitative
Propcom Mai- Karfi's Annual	Propcom Mai- karfi	Propcom Mai- Karfi	2019	Nigeria	Nigeria	IDP	Market-based or value chains interventions	Earnings, Entrepreneurship	Descriptive

the Case of

Highlights: 2018- 2019								or self- employment	
Propcom Mai- Karfi: Lessons Learned, 2012- 2017	Propcom Mai- karfi	Propcom Mai- Karfi	2018	Nigeria	Nigeria	IDP	Market-based or value chains interventions	Debt reduction and access to financial institutions or lines of credit, Sources of income, Entrepreneurship or self- employment, Earnings	Review

Most Recent Jobs Working Papers:

- 40. The Future of Work in Agriculture Some Reflections (2020) Luc Christiaensen, Zachariah Rutledge, and J. Edward Taylor
- 39. Theoretical Underpinnings of Jobs Diagnostics (2020) Ulrich Lachler and Dino Merotto
- 38. Measuring Jobs-Linked Externalities in Private Investment Projects a Fragility, Conflict, and Violence Perspective (2020) Federica Ricaldi and Peter Mousley
- 37. Inclusive Value Chains to Accelerate Poverty Reduction in Africa (2020) Johan Swinnen and Rob Kuijpers
- 36. Uganda: A review of the World Bank Jobs Portfolio (2019) Vismay Parikh and Timothy Clay
- 35. Jobs Challenge in Slavonia, Croatia A Subnational Labor Market Assessment (2019) Luc Christiaensen, Celine Ferré, Rubil Ivica, Teo Matkovic, and Tara Sharafudheen
- 34. Support to Jobs for Youth in Niger a Retrospective Evaluation of Jobs Projects 2007-2018 (2019) Boureima Gado et al.
- 33. Migration and Jobs: Issues for the 21th Century (2019) Luc Christiaensen, Alvaro Gonzalez, and David Robalino
- 32. The Cashew Value Chain in Mozambique (2019) Carlos Costa (with contributions by Christopher Delgado)
- 31. The Cassava Value Chain in Mozambique (2019) Carlos Costa (with contributions by Christopher Delgado)
- 30. The Plantation Forestry Sector in Mozambique: Community Involvement and Jobs (2019) Leonor Serzedelo de Almeida and Christopher Delgado
- 29. Firm Dynamics, Job Outcomes, and Productivity (2019) Elizabeth Ruppert Bulmer, Raquel Scarpari, and Adrian Garlati

Click here for full Jobs Paper Series



Address: 1776 G St, NW, Washington, DC 20006 Website: http://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/jobsanddevelopment Twitter: @WBG_Jobs Blog: https://blogs.worldbank.org/jobs/